
Dr Gwynne Jones
Prif Weithredwr – Chief Executive

CYNGOR SIR YNYS MÔN
ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL
Swyddfeydd y Cyngor - Council Offices
LLANGEFNI
Ynys Môn - Anglesey
LL77 7TW

Ffôn / tel (01248) 752500
Ffacs / fax (01248) 750839

RHYBUDD O GYFARFOD NOTICE OF MEETING
CYD-BWYLLGOR ANGHENION ADDYSGOL 
ARBENNIG

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS JOINT-
COMMITTEE

DYDD GWENER, 20 TACHWEDD 2015 am 
10.30 o'r gloch y bore FRIDAY, 20 NOVEMBER, 2015 at 10:30 a.m.

YSTAFELL GLYDER FAWR, SWYDDFEYDD 
PENRALLT, CAERNARFON

GLYDER FAWR ROOM, PENRALLT OFFICES, 
CAERNARFON

Swyddog Pwyllgor Ann Holmes 
01248 752518 Committee Officer

AELODAU/MEMBERS:

Cynghorwyr/Councillors:

CYNGOR GWYNEDD COUNCIL

Annwen Hughes, Elin Walker Jones, Linda Ann Jones, Beth Lawton, Caerwyn Roberts 
(Cadeirydd/Chair) Peter Read, Eirwyn Williams.

CYNGOR SIR YNYS MÔN/ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL

Derlwyn Hughes, Trefor Lloyd Hughes, Llinos M. Huws (Is-Gadeirydd/Vice-Chair), 
Gwilym O. Jones, R. Meirion Jones, J. Arwel Roberts, Ieuan Williams

YR EGLWYS/THE CHURCH

Yr Eglwys yng Nghymru/The Church in Wales
Yr Eglwys Babyddol Rufeinig/The Roman Catholic Church
Mr Rheinallt Thomas (Eglwysi Rhyddion/Free Churches)

Dogfen ir Cyhoedd



R H A G L E N

1   DATGANIAD O DDIDDORDEB  

Derbyn unrhyw ddatganiad o ddiddordeb gan unrhyw Aelod neu Swyddog parthed 
unrhyw eitem o fusnes.

2   COFNODION CYFARFOD 26 MEHEFIN, 2015  (Tudalennau 1 - 6)

Cyflwyno cofnodion cyfarfod blaenorol y Cyd-Bwyllgor AAA a gynhaliwyd ar 26 
Mehefin, 2015.

3   YR UNED DDARPARU AAA  (Tudalennau 7 - 10)

Cyflwyno adroddiad ar weithgareddau’r Uned Ddarparu AAA yn ystod tymor yr Haf, 
2015.

4   CÔD DRAFFT ANGHENION DYSGU YCHWANEGOL  (Tudalennau 11 - 130)

Y Prif Seicolegydd Addysgol i roi cyflwyniad ar y Côd Drafft newydd. (Sylwadaeth 
ynghlwm)

(Fersiwn Saesneg o’r Côd ynghlwm)

5   CYLLIDEB Y CYD-BWYLLGOR AAA 2015/16  (Tudalennau 131 - 132)

Cyflwyno cyllideb y Cyd-Bwyllgor AAA am 2015/16.

6   ADOLYGU CYFRIFON Y CYD-BWYLLGOR  2015/16  (Tudalennau 133 - 136)

Cyflwyno adroddiad ynglyn â’r uchod.

7   STRATEGAETH CYNGOR GWYNEDD AR GYFER ANGHENION DYSGU 
YCHWANEGOL A CHYNHWYSIAD  

Derbyn diweddariad ar y sefyllfa mewn perthynas â gweithredu Strategaeth Cyngor 
Gwynedd ar gyfer Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a Chynhwysiad. 

8   CYFARFOD NESAF Y CYD-BWYLLGOR  

Dydd Gwener, 18 Mawrth, 2016 am 10:30 y.b. yn  Llangefni.



 

1 
 

CYD-BWYLLGOR ANGHENION ADDYSGOL ARBENNIG  
 

Cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 26 Mehefin, 2015 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd Llinos M.Huws (Is-gadeirydd) (Yn y Gadair) 
 
Cyngor Gwynedd  
 
Y Cynghorwyr Caerwyn Roberts (Cadeirydd) (ar ôl eitem 3), Elin 
Walker Jones, Beth Lawton, Peter Read, Eirwyn Williams 
 
Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn 
 
Y Cynghorwyr Gwilym O. Jones, R.Meirion Jones 

WRTH LAW: Mr Gareth Payne (Prif Seicolegydd Addysg) 
Mrs Delyth Molyneux (Pennaeth Dysgu) (CSYM) 
Mr Gwern ap Rhisiart (Uwch Reolwr Cynhwysiad) (Cyngor Gwynedd) 
Mr William E. Jones (Uwch Reolydd Cyllid) (Cyngor Gwynedd) 
Mrs Kathy Bell (Uwch Gyfrifydd Addysg) (Cyngor Gwynedd) 
Ann Holmes (Swyddog Pwyllgor) (CSYM) 

YMDDIHEURIADAU: Y Cynghorwyr Annwen Hughes (Gwynedd), Derlwyn Hughes, Ieuan 
Williams (Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn) 

HEFYD YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd Kenneth Hughes (Aelod Portffolio Addysg) (CSYM) 
Y Cynghorydd Gareth Thomas (Aelod Portffolio Addysg) (Cyngor 
Gwynedd) 

 

1. DATGANIAD O DDIDDORDEB 

Ni dderbyniwyd unrhyw ddatganiad o ddiddordeb. 

2. COFNODION Y CYFARFOD AR 9 IONAWR 2015  

Cyflwynwyd cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol o’r Cyd-bwyllgor Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig a 
gynhaliwyd ar 9 Ionawr 2015 a chadarnhawyd eu bod yn gywir. 

3. STRATEGAETH CYNGOR GWYNEDD AR GYFER ANGHENION DYSGU YCHWANEGOL A 
CHYNHWYSIAD 

Rhoddodd yr Aelod Portffolio Addysg i Gyngor Gwynedd wybod i’r Pwyllgor fod y broses ymgynghori 
ar strategaeth Cyngor Gwynedd ar gyfer ADY a Chynhwysiad nawr wedi’i chwblhau ac y cafwyd  
cytundeb cyffredinol ymysg yr ymatebwyr ynghylch beth fyddai egwyddorion sylfaenol y Strategaeth.  
Byddai’r cam nesaf yn cynnwys cyfnod modelu gwasanaeth a fyddai’n destun trafodaeth ac 
ymgynghori pellach gan gynnwys gyda’r Cyd-bwyllgor AAA, cyn adrodd i Gabinet Cyngor Gwynedd 
yn yr hydref. 
 
Adroddodd Swyddog Cynhwysiad Cyngor Gwynedd y cafwyd ymateb da i’r ymgynghoriad; roedd nifer 
o ymatebion wedi ceisio gwell eglurder a manylion ynghylch natur y ddarpariaeth ac wedi pwysleisio’r 
pwysigrwydd o sicrhau bod modelau darpariaeth yn gallu cwrdd ag anghenion.  Roedd gwaith eisoes 
wedi cychwyn ar fodel Ymddygiad. 
 
Dywedodd Pennaeth Dysgu CSYM fod rhai pryderon o safbwynt Ynys Môn ynghylch effeithiau posibl 
yr adolygiad ADY a Chynhwysiad a wnaed gan Gyngor Gwynedd ar wasanaethau i blant yn Ynys 
Môn. Pwysleisiodd fod angen i’r trafodaethau arfaethedig fod yn glir ynglŷn â'r modelau darparu a bod 

Tudalen 1

Eitem 2 ar y Rhaglen



 

2 
 

angen iddynt hefyd roi sylw i unrhyw effeithiau ar y bartneriaeth gyfredol rhwng Gwynedd ac Ynys 
Môn cyn y caiff cynigion eu cyflwyno i’r Cabinet yng Ngwynedd. 
 
Roedd cynrychiolwyr Cyngor Môn ar y Cyd-bwyllgor yn eilio’r farn hon ac fe wnaethant dynnu sylw at 
y ffaith fod yr amserlen adrodd wedi llithro gan nad oedd y Cyd-bwyllgor wedi cwrdd ers mis Ionawr.  
Pwysleisiwyd ganddynt fod trafodaethau ar y cyd ynghylch siâp y ddarpariaeth gwasanaeth i’r dyfodol 
yn y ddwy sir yn hanfodol. 
 
Cytunodd Aelod Portffolio Addysg Cyngor Gwynedd ei bod yn bwysig fod y ddwy ochr yn cael eu 
diweddaru’n gyson a chadarnhaodd mai dyma yw’r amcan. 
 
Cyfeiriodd Pennaeth Dysgu CSYM at drafodaethau a oedd yn parhau rhwng swyddogion ynghylch 
modelau cychwynnol i ddarparu’r gwasanaeth, ac awgrymodd y dylai unrhyw drafodaethau o’r fath yn 
y dyfodol gynnwys gwahoddiad i’r cynrychiolwyr etholedig o Wynedd ac Ynys Môn ar y Cyd-bwyllgor 
fod yn rhan ohonynt. 
 
Roedd aelodau’r Cyd-bwyllgor yn cytuno y byddai cael eu diweddaru’n gyson yn gymorth iddynt 
ddeall yn well a gwerthfawrogi’r achos am adolygiad, a’r ffactorau a’r materion sydd ynghlwm. 
 
Penderfynwyd –  
 

 Nodi’r sefyllfa ynghylch bwrw ymlaen â Strategaeth Cyngor Gwynedd ar gyfer ADY a 
Chynhwysiad. 

 Bod cynrychiolwyr etholedig o Wynedd ac Ynys Môn ar y Cyd-bwyllgor yn cael eu 
cynnwys mewn trafodaethau yn y dyfodol ar ddatblygu modelau darparu gwasanaeth fel 
rhan o’r strategaeth ar gyfer ADY a chynhwysiad. 
 

GWEITHRED YN CODI: Swyddogion Gwynedd ac Ynys Môn i gysylltu gyda’i gilydd i gyflwyno 
gwahoddiadau i aelodau’r Cyd-bwyllgor i fynychu trafodaethau. 

4. YR UNED DDARPARU AAA 

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad y Prif Seicolegydd Addysg ar waith yr Uned Ddarparu AAA yn ystod tymor y 
gwanwyn 2015 i’r Cyd-bwyllgor ei ystyried. 
 
Adroddodd y Prif Seicolegydd Addysg ar yr agweddau a ganlyn – 
 

 Gweinyddu prosesau asesu ac adolygu. 
 
Cyfeiriodd y Swyddog at y sefyllfa staffio a’r ffaith fod yr Uwch Swyddog Gweinyddol wedi gadael 
ar ôl i’w chyfnod secondiad ddod i ben. Dywedodd y Swyddog hefyd fod y broses Arfarnu Swyddi 
wedi dod i’w therfyn yn Ynys Môn ac y rhoddwyd gwybod am ganlyniad y broses i staff yn 
gynharach yr wythnos honno.  Cyfeiriodd y Swyddog hefyd at ddiwedd y broses Arfarnu Swyddi 
ym Môn yng nghyswllt  ei oblygiadau i staff gweinyddol a chefnogol yr Uned.   
 

 Y Gwasanaeth Athrawon Arbenigol 
 
Adroddodd y Prif Seicolegydd Addysg fod gan yr Uned Ddarparu dîm cryf o athrawon arbenigol ar 
hyn o bryd sy’n gweithio ym mhob maes arbenigedd, gan gynnwys athrawon profiadol; athrawon 
sydd wedi cael eu penodi i gymryd cyfrifoldeb am ddyletswyddau staff sydd bron ag ymddeol, a 
chymorthyddion arbenigol sy’n gallu gwneud agweddau penodol o’r gwaith gan felly ryddhau 
athrawon i wneud dyletswyddau eraill.  Mae’r Cyd-Bwyllgor yn gorfod cystadlu â chyllideb sy’n 
lleihau am fod Ynys Môn wedi dyrannu llai o arian i’r Cyd-Bwyllgor am y flwyddyn ariannol 
2015/16 ynghyd â chanlyniadau tebygol hynny.  Mae angen i’r Cyd-Bwyllgor fod yn ymwybodol o 
effeithiau posib ar ddarpariaeth gwasanaethau oherwydd ffactorau sydd y tu hwnt i’w reolaeth. 
 

 Y Gwasanaeth Seicoleg Addysgol 
 
Dywedodd y Prif Seicolegydd Addysg fod y gwasanaeth yn gweithio gyda llai o staff nag arfer 
oherwydd bod dau seicolegydd rhan amser wedi gadael y gwasanaeth a bod dau seicolegydd 

Tudalen 2



 

3 
 

dan hyfforddiant yn cael eu cefnogi ar y cwrs proffesiynol yng Nghaerdydd.  Mae un o’r uwch 
seicolegwyr hefyd ar secondiad i Gyngor Gwynedd i gynorthwyo gyda datblygu systemau’r 
Cyngor ar gyfer trefnu a darparu addysg anghenion arbennig.  Mae’r gwasanaeth yn parhau i 
weithredu system lle caiff seicolegydd ei ddyrannu i bob ysgol ac mae seicolegydd cynorthwyol 
wedi bod yn cymryd rhan mewn hyfforddiant ac yn gweithio gydag ysgolion gyda phlant unigol. 
 

 Data Perfformiad 
 
Cyfeiriodd y Prif Seicolegydd Addysg at y tablau yn adran 4 yr adroddiad oedd yn dangos nifer y 
datganiadau terfynol a gynhyrchwyd o fewn yr amserlen statudol o 26 wythnos yn ystod blwyddyn 
ysgol 2013/14.  Mae’r ffigurau’n dangos bod y tîm gweinyddol wedi cynhyrchu nifer sylweddol fwy 
o ddatganiadau yn 2013/14 nag a wnaeth yn 2012/13 gyda chynnydd o 75% i Wynedd a 
chynnydd o 64% i Ynys Môn. 
 
Rhoddodd y Cyd-Bwyllgor ystyriaeth i’r adroddiad a chododd y materion a ganlyn – 
 

 Nododd y Cyd-bwyllgor y byddai’n fuddiol iddo, er mwyn deall y sefyllfa staff, dderbyn 
gwybodaeth ar ffurf tabl yn dangos y gofynion staffio yn erbyn sefyllfa wirioneddol y staff.  
Dywedodd Pennaeth Dysgu Ynys Môn ei bod yn anodd recriwtio staff dwyieithog sydd wedi 
cymhwyso’n briodol, felly er mwyn goresgyn hynny a phontio unrhyw fylchau yn y ddarpariaeth 
mae’r Cyd-Bwyllgor wedi penodi hyfforddai ar ôl cytuno a chynllunio i ddefnyddio arian wrth 
gefn y Cyd-Bwyllgor.  Dywedodd y Prif Seicolegydd Addysgol, er bod y sefyllfa staffio yn 
foddhaol ar hyn o bryd, mae cynnal y sefyllfa honno’n golygu mynd tu hwnt i gyllideb y Cyd-
bwyllgor yn enwedig gan fod Ynys Môn wedi lleihau ei gyfraniad i’r Cyd-bwyllgor gan felly 
olygu y bydd angen gwneud toriadau. 

 Nododd y Cyd-Bwyllgor eu bod wedi colli gwasanaeth un Uwch Seicolegydd i Wynedd 
oherwydd secondiad. 

 Roedd y Cyd-Bwyllgor yn bryderus ynghylch y gostyngiad yng nghyllideb y Cyd-bwyllgor a’r 
risg allai ddeillio o hynny o ran y posibilrwydd o beidio â gallu cwrdd ag anghenion carfan 
fregus o blant.  Dywedodd Pennaeth Dysgu Ynys Môn fod y Cyd-bwyllgor wedi cael gwybod 
yn ei gyfarfod ym mis Medi 2014 fod gwasanaethau trwy Gyngor Sir Ynys Môn wedi cael cais i 
adnabod arbedion o 10% er mwyn paratoi at yr ymgynghoriad ar gyllideb 2015/16 a bod 
gostyngiad yng nghyllideb y Cyd-bwyllgor yn un o’r opsiynau oedd yn cael eu hystyried.  
Cadarnhawyd y byddai’r opsiwn hwn yn cael ei weithredu yn y cyfarfod diwethaf ym mis 
Ionawr 2015 a daeth i rym ar 1 Ebrill 2015.  Er gwaethaf hyn, gwnaed pob ymdrech i sicrhau 
na fyddai’n ymyrryd â’r ddarpariaeth a wneir i blant gydag anghenion dysgu ychwanegol. 

 Bu i’r Cyd-Bwyllgor nodi gweithredu arfarnu swyddi gan Gyngor Môn  fel risg bosibl yn 
nhermau cadw staff a effeithiwyd yn negyddol gan y broses.  Dywedodd Pennaeth Dysgu 
Ynys Môn fod y Cyngor ym Môn yn yr un modd ag awdurdodau lleol eraill yng Nghymru wedi 
symud i weithredu’r Cytundeb Statws Sengl. 

 Nododd y Cyd-Bwyllgor fod y perfformiad yn erbyn y dangosyddion perfformiad statudol wedi 
dirywio’n sylweddol yng Ngwynedd ac Ynys Môn o ran canran yr achosion a gaiff eu cwblhau 
o fewn 26 wythnos.  Awgrymodd Pennaeth Dysgu Ynys Môn fod hyn yn arwydd o’r diffyg 
meddygon plant sy’n arwain at oedi wrth gael mewnbwn gan Iechyd i achosion y Cyd-
Bwyllgor. Golyga hyn na chaiff asesiadau eu cwblhau yn unol ag amserlenni.  Dywedodd fod 
methu â chwblhau gwaith ar amser yn fater o bryder. 

 Nododd y Cyd-Bwyllgor y byddai’n fuddiol iddo gael gwybod faint o blant mae’r canran yn ei 
gynrychioli fel ei bod yn haws iddo benderfynu a yw’r dirywiad yn y lefelau perfformiad o 
ganlyniad i feini prawf mwy llym ynteu o ganlyniad i gynnydd yn nifer y plant sydd angen 
asesiad.  Dywedodd Swyddog Cynhwysiad Cyngor Gwynedd fod BIPBC nawr wedi cynnig 
gwasanaeth gan feddyg plant i’r paneli cymedroli fel y gallai’r gwasanaeth iechyd roi mewnbwn 
mwy prydlon a dylai hynny roi sylw i’r pryderon mwyaf difrifol.  Fodd bynnag, mae’r adolygiad o 
ADY a Chynhwysiad a wnaed gan Gyngor Gwynedd fel rhan o ddatblygu strategaeth newydd 
wedi ceisio ailasesu effeithiolrwydd y system gyfan, gan gynnwys nifer y datganiadau a gaiff 
eu cynhyrchu, yn hytrach nag edrych ar faterion penodol oddi mewn iddi megis y rhesymau 
pam na chaiff datganiadau eu cwblhau oddi mewn i amserlenni. 
 
Penderfynwyd derbyn yr adroddiad a nodi ei gynnwys. 
 

Tudalen 3



 

4 
 

GWEITHREDU’N CODI: Y Prif Seicolegydd Addysgol i ddarparu gwybodaeth ynglŷn â 
nifer y plant / achosion y mae’r canran perfformiad dan DP 15a a DP 15b yn eu 
cynrychioli. 

5. DATGANIAD LLYWODRAETHIANT BLYNYDDOL 

Cyflwynwyd Datganiad Llywodraethiant Blynyddol y Cyd-bwyllgor AAA ar gyfer 2014/15 i’r Pwyllgor ei 
ystyried a’i gymeradwyo yn unol â Rheoliadau Cyfrifon ac Archwilio (Cymru) 2014 sy’n gofyn i bob 
Cyd-bwyllgor gynhyrchu Datganiad o Reolaeth Fewnol. 
 
Penderfynwyd derbyn a chymeradwyo'r Datganiad Llywodraethiant Blynyddol ar gyfer 
2014/15. 

6. CYFRIFON ARIANNOL Y CYD-BWYLLGOR AR GYFER 2014/5 

Cyflwynwyd i’w cymeradwyo gan y Pwyllgor – adroddiad gan Uwch Reolwr Cyllid Cyngor Gwynedd yn 
ymgorffori Cyfrifon Gwariant ac Incwm Refeniw'r Cyd-Bwyllgor AAA ar gyfer 2014/15 (Atodiad A) 
ynghyd â’r dychweliad Blynyddol Swyddogol ar y Cyfrifon cyn yr archwiliad, ond wedi’i ardystio gan y 
Swyddog Ariannol Cyfrifol (Atodiad B). 
 
Adroddodd yr Uwch Swyddog Cyllid fod Rheoliadau Cyfrifon ac Archwilio (Cymru) 2014 yn gofyn i 
bob Cyd-Bwyllgor baratoi cyfrifon diwedd blwyddyn.  Os yw’r trosiant yn llai na £2.5m pennir bod y 
cyd-bwyllgor yw gyd-bwyllgor bach ac mae’n rhaid paratoi dychweliad blynyddol yn unol ag arferion 
priodol fel sy’n ofynnol gan ddeddfwriaeth.  Bydd y dogfennau’n cael eu harchwilio gan Swyddfa 
Archwilio Cymru a phe bai angen gwneud unrhyw newidiadau, byddai fersiwn ddiwygiedig yn cael ei 
chyflwyno i gyfarfod y Cyd-bwyllgor a drefnwyd ar gyfer mis Medi cyn iddi gael ei hardystio gan yr 
Archwiliwr cyn 30 Medi. 
 
Rhoddodd y Cyd-Bwyllgor ystyriaeth i’r wybodaeth a cheisiodd eglurhad ar rai materion penodol o 
fewn y Cyfrif Gwariant ac Incwm Refeniw ar gyfer 2014/15 fel a ganlyn –  
 

 Y gwahaniaeth rhwng y gyllideb a ddyrannwyd ar gyfer hyfforddiant (£9,520) a’r gwariant 
gwirioneddol (£25,159).  Dywedodd Pennaeth Dysgu Ynys Môn y gwnaed penderfyniad tua dwy 
flynedd yn ôl i ddefnyddio swm a gytunwyd o gronfeydd wrth gefn y Cyd-bwyllgor i ariannu 
hyfforddiant ar gyfer seicolegwyr addysg ac athrawon arbenigol newydd i sicrhau fod gan y Cyd-
bwyllgor weithlu sydd wedi cymhwyso’n addas. 

 Y cyfiawnhad dros gadw lefel uchel o arian wrth gefn – £150,530 ar 31 Mawrth 2015.  Dywedodd 
yr Uwch Gyfrifydd Addysg fod yna gynllun mewn lle ar gyfer 2014/15 i wario rhan o’r cronfeydd 
wrth gefn i ariannu cwrs hyfforddiant ar gyfer seicolegwyr addysg sydd dan hyfforddiant. 

 Y cynnydd mewn treuliau teithio a chostau nwyddau swyddfa.  Holodd y Cyd-Bwyllgor a fyddai 
wedi bod modd rhagweld y cynnydd hwn ac addasu’r gyllideb yn unol â hynny.  Dywedodd yr 
Uwch Gyfrifydd Addysg fod y newidiadau wedi digwydd ar ôl i’r gyllideb wreiddiol gael ei gosod.  
Pe bai’r Cyd-Bwyllgor yn dymuno ariannu gweithgareddau penodol ar gost sy’n uwch na’r gyllideb 
a ddyrannwyd, byddai’n rhaid canfod y gwahaniaeth o rywle arall yn y gyllideb. Gan mai prif 
ffynhonnell wariant y Cyd-Bwyllgor yw ei staff, mae’n debygol y byddai’n rhaid ariannu’r adnoddau 
o’r pennawd cyllideb hwn gyda goblygiadau i’r lefel staffio.  Cynghorwyd y Cyd-Bwyllgor, os oedd 
yn dymuno diwygio’r gyllideb i gwrdd â gwariant ychwanegol dan benawdau penodol e.e. costau 
teithio, yna byddai’n rhaid iddo ail-ddyrannu adnoddau o benawdau eraill er mwyn gwneud hynny, 
neu resymoli teithio.  Roedd gan y Cyd-Bwyllgor gynllun wedi’i gytuno ar gyfer 2014/15 i dynnu 
arian i lawr o’r cronfeydd wrth gefn er mwyn ariannu cwrs hyfforddi ar gyfer seicolegwyr dan 
hyfforddiant; fel arall roedd yn rhaid i’r Cyd-Bwyllgor sicrhau bod y gwariant yn aros oddi mewn i’r 
gyllideb a ddyrannwyd. 
 
Penderfynwyd derbyn a chymeradwyo'r wybodaeth ariannol a gyflwynwyd oedd yn 
cynnwys yr hyn a ganlyn - 

 

 Y Cyfrif Gwariant ac Incwm Refeniw ar gyfer 2014/15 a, 

 Y Dychweliad Blynyddol Swyddogol ar gyfer 2014/15 (cyn archwilio) 

Tudalen 4



 

5 
 

7. CYLLIDEB 2015/16 

Dywedodd yr Uwch Gyfrifydd Addysg nad oedd hi mewn sefyllfa ar hyn o bryd i gyflwyno cyllideb 
bendant i’r Cyd-bwyllgor ar gyfer 2015/16 oherwydd ansicrwydd ynghylch nifer o ffactorau yn cynnwys 
Uwch Seicolegydd ar secondiad i Gyngor Gwynedd; y gostyngiad o 10% yng nghyfraniad Ynys Môn; 
adleoli’r Cyd-Bwyllgor a chostau mynychu; defnyddio’r balansau a’r ymrwymiad parhaol i ariannu’r 
ddau seicolegydd addysg dan hyfforddiant.  Dywedodd y Swyddog y gobeithiai y byddai’r materion 
hyn wedi cael eu datrys erbyn cyfarfod nesaf y Cyd-Bwyllgor ym mis Medi.  Byddai’r broses o osod y 
gyllideb hefyd yn rhoi ystyriaeth i allbwn y gyllideb ar gyfer 2014/15, gan gynnwys y gorwariant ar nifer 
o benawdau cyllideb. 
 
Penderfynwyd nodi’r sefyllfa. 

8. CYFARFODYDD AM Y FLWYDDYN I DDOD 

Nodwyd y byddai cyfarfodydd y Cyd-Bwyllgor ar gyfer 2015/16 yn cael eu cynnal ar y dyddiadau a’r 
amseroedd a ganlyn – 
 

 Dydd Gwener, 18 Medi, 2015 am 2:00 p.m. 

 Dydd Gwener, 20
 
Tachwedd, 2015 am 10:30 a.m. 

 Dydd Gwener, 18 Mawrth, 2016 am 10:30 a.m. 
 
 
 

 
Y Cynghorydd Llinos Medi Huws 

(Is-Gadeirydd) 

Tudalen 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

PWYLLGOR:   Cyd-Bwyllgor Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig 

 

DYDDIAD:    20
ed

 Tachwedd 2015 

 

TEITL YR ADRODDIAD:  Adroddiad yr Uned Ddarparu AAA 

 

GWEITHREDU:   Ystyried yr adroddiad 

 

 

 

 

CEFNDIR:   Disgrifir gwaith Uned Ddarparu’r Cyd-Bwyllgor AAA yn ystod Tymor y  

  Haf, 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 7

Eitem 3 ar y Rhaglen



 

Adroddiad yr Uned Ddarparu AAA 

 
1.0 Gweinyddu Prosesau Asesu ac Adolygu 

 

Mae’r swydd Rheolwr Gwasanaeth bellach wedi ei llenwi ar sail secondiad blwyddyn a 

dechreuodd y swyddog newydd yn ei swydd ym mis Awst eleni. 

 

Ym mis Hydref, cyflwynodd ddwy o’r cymorthyddion gweinyddol eu hymddiswyddiad, 

sy’n 1.4 o’r cyfwerth o 3 cymhorthydd llawn amser.   Bydd y cymhorthydd 0.4 yn 

ymddeol ddiwedd y flwyddyn, tra mae’r cymhorthydd llawn amser wedi ei phenodi i 

swydd newydd barhaol a bydd yn gadael y CBAAA ddechrau mis Rhagfyr.        

 

Ar hyn o bryd nid oes bwriad i lenwi’r swydd 0.4 ond gobeithir hysbysebu’n fuan i 

lenwi’r swydd llawn amser am gyfnod dros dro. 

 

Yn y cyfamser bydd angen i weddill y tîm ysgwyddo baich gwaith y ddwy fydd wedi ein 

gadael. 

 

 

2.0 Gwasanaeth Athrawon Arbenigol 
 

Mae newidiadau i’r timau athrawon arbenigol wedi cymryd lle ers y cyfarfod diwethaf. 

 

Yn y gwasanaeth clyw, rydym yn parhau efo tîm cryf, gyda thair athrawes gymwysedig, 

cyfwerth â 2.6 llawn amser, ynghyd ag athrawes lawn amser heb gymwysterau sydd yn 

hyfforddi ar hyn o bryd.  Bydd un o’r athrawon yn ymddeol Nadolig, ac rydym wedi colli 

gwasanaeth cymhorthydd oedd yn hyddysg iawn mewn arwyddo, ond er hynny, byddwn 

ni hefo tîm o gyfanswm o 2.7 athrawes o Nadolig ymlaen. 

 

Yn y gwasanaeth golwg, rydym yn gweithredu gydag un athrawes gymwysedig dros y 

ddau awdurdod (sydd yn cael un diwrnod yr wythnos o gymorth - 0.2 -  gan athrawes 

brofiadol iawn fel trefniant dros dro) ac mae athrawes arall sydd yn hyfforddi ar hyn o 

bryd.  Mae felly cyfwerth o 2.1 athrawes yn y gwasanaeth golwg.  Mae gennym hefyd 

dwy gymhorthwraig gymwysiedig, cyfwerth â 1.6 llawn amser, sydd â lefel Braille uchel. 

 

Mae toriadau wedi bod yn y gwasanaeth iaith a chyfathrebu, ac awtistiaeth yn enwedig.  

Rydym efo dwy athrawes yn y maes hwn, sef cyfwerth â 1.8 llawn amser, ac wedi colli 

dwy arall, sef cyfwerth ag 1.0  llawn amser..  Rydym hefyd wedi colli gwasanaeth 

cymhorthydd profiadol, oedd ar secondiad gan Wynedd. Mae’r tim yn ei ffeindio’n anodd 

iawn i gwrdd ag anghenion pawb ar draws y ddau awdurdod ar hyn o bryd.   

 

Yn y gwasanaeth anawsterau corfforol a meddygol, mae gennym ddwy athrawes o hyd, 

un llawn amser ac un arall, sydd yn brofiadol iawn, sydd yn gweithio i’r gwasanaeth am 

0.3 llawn amser (gan roi 0.2 i’r gwasanaeth golwg).   

 

 

Tudalen 8



 

3.0 Gwasanaeth Seicoleg Addysgol  

 

Yn y gwasanaeth seicoleg addysgol rydym yn parhau i weithio gyda llai o staff nag sydd 

gennym fel arfer, gydag un uwch seicolegydd ar secondiad i Wynedd ar hyn o bryd.  Mae 

dau seicolegydd rhan amser wedi gadael y gwasanaeth sydd yn ein galluogi i gynnal dwy 

seicolegwraig tan hyfforddiant ar y cwrs proffesiynol yng Nghaerdydd. 

 

Rydym yn parhau i weithredu system lle mae pob ysgol gyda’i seicolegydd dynodedig, a 

threfnu nifer o sesiynau i bob ysgol, ac yn ceisio gwneud newidiadau i’r system hon i 

sicrhau tegwch i bob ysgol.  Ar hyn o bryd, mae gan blentyn sydd mewn ysgol fach iawn 

fwy o gyfle ar gyfartaledd i dderbyn sylw gan seicolegydd. 

 

Mae cyfwerth a 5.9 seicolegydd ar hyn o bryd (deg unigolyn).  Ond mae gennym hefyd 

wasanaeth seicolegydd tan hyfforddiant brofiadol, sydd ar y cwrs hyfforddiant yng 

Nghaerdydd ar hyn o bryd, ac yn gallu cymryd rhai o’r ysgolion o dan oruchwyliaeth. 

 

Bydd y darpar-seicolegydd hon wedi ei chymhwyso haf 2016, ac mewn amgylchiadau 

ariannol mwy ffafriol byddai’r tîm yn falch iawn o ystyried a fyddai modd ei chyflogi. 

 

 

4.0 Gwybodaeth ychwanegol 
 
Mae’r tablau isod yn dangos y nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol a gyhoeddwyd o fewn yr amserlen statudol o 26 wythnos  
yn ystod y flwyddyn academaiddd 2014/15 (Dangosyddion Perfformiad Cenedlaethol). 
 

Dangosyddion Perfformiad 26 wythnos Gwynedd Flwyddyn Academaidd 2014/15 
 

ffigurau 
2013 

Cyfanswm nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol newydd 
 

49 85 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol oddi mewn i 26 wythnos gydag eithriadau 
 

14 33 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol oddi mewn i 26 wythnos heb eithriadau  
h.y. oddi mewn i’r terfyn amser a dim eithriadau wedi eu cofnodi 

20 18 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol dros 26 wythnosau gydag eithriadau 
h.y. dros y terfyn amser oherwydd, neu’n rhannol oherwydd, ffactorau allanol 

15 33 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol dros 26 wythnos heb eithriadau 
h.y. tu hwnt i’r terfyn amser a dim eithriadau wedi eu cofnodi  (neb yn hwyr yn cyflwyno eu cyngor o asiantaethau 
allanol a dim ffactorau oedd y tu hwnt i reolaeth yr adran addysg a/neu’r Cydbwyllgor AAA)   

0 1 

Dangosydd Perfformiad 15a: 
O’r cyfanswm o achosion ar gyfer y flwyddyn, beth oedd y ganran oddi mewn i’r 26 wythnos, os oedd yna eithriad 
ai peidio?  

48.3% 60% 

Dangosydd Perfformiad 15b: 
O’r achosion lle nad oedd yna eithriadau, beth oedd y ganran o’r rhai a gwblhawyd oddi mewn i’r 26 wythnos?  
 

100% 95% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 9



 

Dangosyddion Perfformiad 26 wythnos Ynys Môn Flwyddyn Academaidd 2014/15 
 

ffigurau 
2013 

Cyfanswm nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol newydd 37 36 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol oddi mewn i 26 wythnos gydag eithriadau 15 13 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol oddi mewn i 26 wythnos heb eithriadau  
h.y. oddi mewn i’r terfyn amser a dim eithriadau wedi eu cofnodi 

6 8 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol dros 26 wythnosau gydag eithriadau 
h.y. dros y terfyn amser oherwydd, neu’n rhannol oherwydd, ffactorau allanol 

15 14 

Nifer o ddatganiadau terfynol dros 26 wythnos heb eithriadau 
h.y. tu hwnt i’r terfyn amser a dim eithriadau wedi eu cofnodi  (neb yn hwyr yn cyflwyno eu cyngor o asiantaethau 
allanol a dim ffactorau oedd y tu hwnt i reolaeth yr adran addysg a/neu’r Cydbwyllgor AAA)   

1 1 

Dangosydd Perfformiad 15a: 
O’r cyfanswm o achosion ar gyfer y flwyddyn, beth oedd y ganran oddi mewn i’r 26 wythnos, os oedd yna eithriad 
ai peidio?  

50% 58% 

Dangosydd Perfformiad 15b: 
O’r achosion lle nad oedd yna eithriadau, beth oedd y ganran o’r rhai a gwblhawyd oddi mewn i’r 26 wythnos?  

85.7% 89% 

  

 
Mae’r nifer o ddatganiadau newydd yng Ngwynedd yn sylweddol llai na’r flwyddyn 

ddiwethaf, ond nid yw hyn wedi newid yn Ynys Môn.   

 

Rydym yn cynhyrchu datganiad ar sail sawl adroddiad yn cynnwys adroddiadau 

meddygol.  Mae’r rhai sydd yn ‘hwyr gydag eithriad’ yn hwyr oherwydd nad ydym wedi 

derbyn rhai o’r adroddiadau hyn mewn pryd. 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 10



Draft guidance 
Draft guidance document no: 189/2015 
Date of issue: September 2015

Draft Additional Learning 
Needs Code

DRA
FT

Tudalen 11

Eitem 4 ar y Rhaglen



Audience  Those organisations or individuals who are considering responding 
to the Welsh Government’s consultation on the draft Additional 
Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill.

Overview  This is an early draft version of the Additional Learning Needs Code. 
The provisions which appear in it have been published solely for 
illustrative purposes.

Action None – this document provides information to support the current
required public consultation on the draft Additional Learning Needs and 

Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill. It is not in itself subject to that 
consultation.   

Further Enquiries about the draft Additional Learning Needs and Education
information Tribunal (Wales) Bill consultation should be directed to:
 Additional Learning Needs Branch 
 Support for Learners Division
 Infrastructure, Curriculum, Qualifications and  

Learner Support Directorate
 Welsh Government 
 Cathays Park
 Cardiff
 CF10 3NQ
 Tel: 029 2082 6015
 e-mail: SENReforms@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Additional  This document can be accessed from the Welsh Government’s  
copies  website at www.gov.wales/consultations

Related  Draft Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill 
documents 

Draft Additional Learning Needs Code

    © Crown copyright 2015       WG26534
Tudalen 12



 
 

Contents 
 

Status of this draft Code ...................................................................................6 

Chapter 1: Introduction .....................................................................................7 

The Code 7 

Chapter 2: Principles of the Code ....................................................................9 

Summary 9 

Principles 9 

Chapter 3: Role of the ALNCo and DMO/DCO .............................................. 13 

Summary 13 

Professional development in relation to ALN – general 13 

The Additional Learning Needs Coordinator 13 

The Designated Medical or Clinical Officer 17 

Chapter 4: Involving and supporting children, their parents and young 
people ............................................................................................................... 19 

Summary 19 

Duties relating to children and young people 19 

Duties relating to parents 21 

Chapter 5: Advice and information ................................................................ 23 

Summary 23 

Providing information and advice 23 

External service providers 25 

Chapter 6: Identification of additional learning needs ................................. 26 

Summary 26 

Additional learning needs – the basic definition 26 

Initial considerations 28 

Initial considerations – differentiated teaching 28 

Initial considerations – disabilities 29 

Initial considerations – Welsh or English as an additional language 29 

Initial considerations – more able and talented 30 

Initial considerations – medical needs 30 

Identification of the potential existence of ALN – who can help? 31 

Chapter 7: Identification of ALN – guidance for specific bodies and 
educational settings ........................................................................................ 33 

Summary 33 

Tudalen 13



 
 

Children under compulsory school age – health bodies’ role and power to 

notify 33 

Children under compulsory school age – non-maintained settings 34 

Children and young people at maintained schools 35 

Children of compulsory school age – non-maintained settings 38 

Young people at further education institutions 38 

Chapter 8: Decisions that a child or young person does not have ALN .... 40 

Summary 40 

Maintained school decisions 40 

Maintained school decisions – referrals to local authorities 40 

Local authorities – moderating groups for ALN decisions 42 

FEI decisions 42 

Chapter 9: Local authority involvement ........................................................ 44 

Summary 44 

Introduction 44 

ALN decisions – school and FEI referrals to local authorities 44 

ALN decisions – local authorities’ general duties under section 12 45 

The local authority decision on ALN – next steps 47 

Local authority reconsideration of maintained school IDPs 48 

Local authority taking over responsibility for an IDP 49 

Local authority duty to keep ALP under review 50 

Local authority right of access to premises 50 

Chapter 10: Mandatory content for IDPs ....................................................... 52 

Summary 52 

The content of an IDP – general 52 

Mandatory IDP content 52 

Chapter 11: Guidance on IDP content ........................................................... 56 

The purpose of an IDP 56 

Basic biographical information 57 

Views, wishes and feelings of the child or young person 57 

Record of information used to develop an IDP 58 

A description of the child or young person’s ALN 59 

Description and delivery of the child or young person’s ALP 59 

Intended outcomes 60 

Tudalen 14



 
 

Timeline of key events 62 

Chapter 12: Preparing an IDP ......................................................................... 64 

Summary 64 

Preparing an IDP – considerations in all cases 64 

Participating in the meeting to prepare the IDP 65 

Finalising an IDP 67 

Disclosure of an IDP 68 

Chapter 13: Preparing an IDP – multi-agency working ................................ 69 

Summary 69 

Multi-agency working 69 

Statutory requests by local authorities for help or for information from other 

public bodies 71 

ALP to be secured by Health Boards and NHS Trusts 72 

Information sharing between agencies 72 

Coordinating IDP preparation, review and revision with other plans 72 

Chapter 14: Preparing an IDP – transport ..................................................... 74 

Summary 74 

Transport 74 

Chapter 15: Considerations for local authorities when preparing IDPs ..... 76 

Summary 76 

Duty to favour the education of children at mainstream maintained schools 76 

Naming a maintained school for the purpose of securing admission 78 

Placements at independent schools 79 

Placements at independent special post-16 institutions 80 

Residential placements 81 

Additional learning provision otherwise than in schools 82 

Additional learning provision outside Wales and England 82 

Chapter 16: Review and revision of IDPs ...................................................... 83 

Summary 83 

Review of an IDP 83 

IDP review meetings 85 

Chapter 17: Ceasing to maintain an IDP ....................................................... 89 

Summary 89 

The circumstances in which an IDP might cease to be maintained 89 

Tudalen 15



 
 

Notification of a decision 89 

Reconsideration of a maintained school’s decision to cease to maintain an 

IDP 90 

IDPs after a young person’s 25th birthday 91 

Chapter 18: Transferring an IDP .................................................................... 92 

Summary 92 

Chapter 19: Transition and preparing for adulthood ................................... 93 

Summary 93 

Transition types 93 

General principles 94 

Transitions between specific settings 94 

Young people leaving school/further education 94 

Chapter 20: Avoiding and resolving disagreements .................................... 95 

Summary 95 

Avoiding disagreements 95 

Putting in place arrangements to avoid disagreements 95 

Resolving disagreements 96 

Interrelationship with the Tribunal 98 

Independence of persons helping to resolve disagreements 98 

Standards 99 

Independent advocacy services 99 

Case friends 100 

Chapter 21: Appeals to Tribunal .................................................................. 102 

Introduction 102 

Matters about which appeals can be made 102 

Decisions the Education Tribunal can make 102 

The appeal process 103 

Compliance with orders 103 

Appealing against the decision of the Tribunal 103 

Chapter 22: Children and young people in specific circumstances ......... 104 

Summary 104 

Looked after children 104 

Other children and young people with care and support plans 104 

Education otherwise than at schools (EOTAS) 105 

Tudalen 16



 
 

Children and young people with ALN receiving elective home education 107 

Children of service personnel 108 

Children and young people with ALN in the youth justice system 109 

Help and sharing of information 110 

Education within the youth justice system 110 

Preparing an IDP for a detained person 110 

Duty to keep an IDP for detained persons and arrange appropriate learning 

provision 112 

IDP’s for children and young people on release from relevant youth 

accommodation 113 

Cross-border issues 114 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 17



6 
 

Status of this draft Code 
 
This is an early draft of the Additional Learning Needs Code which is published 
solely for illustrative purposes to support the consultation on the draft Additional 
Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill, which closes on 18 December 
2015. 
 
This early draft Code is not in itself subject to the public consultation on the draft 
Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill. 
 
In this document, the draft Code will be referred to as the “Code”. 
 
The draft Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill will be 
referred to as “the Act”. 
 
It is intended that the next iteration of the Code will be published to coincide with the 
introduction of the proposed legislation, into the National Assembly for Wales, 
subject to a decision by the next Welsh Government, in the next Assembly. 
 
There will be a full public consultation of a further draft of the Code (pursuant to 
section 5 of the Act) in due course. 

 
 
Further work on the Code 

 
In the interim, Welsh Government officials will continue to work with partners to 
develop the content of the Code.  The current provisions will be supplemented and 
supported in areas both by greater detail and by supporting material, such as case 
studies of best practice.  
 
To facilitate this further development, the intention is to establish a Content 
Development Group to co-design and develop the Code ahead of publication for 
public consultation in due course. 
 
Particular areas of the Code that will inevitably evolve are those relating to sections 
of the Act containing a regulation making power, as highlighted throughout this draft. 
 
An indicative outline of implementation has been published alongside this Code.  
Again, this is to aid the consultation on the draft Bill itself.  
 

 
Welsh Language 

 
This early draft of the Code has been published in English only given it is a working 
draft that is subject to ongoing development and stakeholder engagement.  Any 
further versions of the Code will be published bilingually, including versions for any 
further public consultation.  

 

Tudalen 18



7 
 

Chapter 1: Introduction 
 

The Code 
 
1. Section 4 of the Act provides for a Code on Additional Learning Needs (ALN) to 

be issued.  
 
(i) The Code includes guidance to which the following ‘relevant persons’ must 

have regard when exercising functions under the Act: 
  

 a local authority in Wales or England; 

 the governing body of a maintained school in Wales or England; 

 the governing body of a further education institution1 (FEI) in Wales or 
England; 

 a Local Health Board; 

 an NHS Trust; 

 the National Health Service Commissioning Board; 

 a clinical commissioning group; 

 a NHS Foundation Trust; and 

 a person in charge of relevant youth accommodation in Wales or England. 
 

(ii) The Code imposes requirements on a local authority in respect of its duties 
under the Act to provide: 

 

 information and advice; and 

 independent advocacy services. 
 

(iii) The Code imposes requirements on the governing body of a maintained 
school in Wales, or an institution in the further education (FE) sector in Wales, 
or a local authority in respect of: 

 

 the preparation, content, form, review and revision of individual; 
development plans (IDPs); and 

 ceasing to maintain IDPs. 
 
2. The Act requires that the Education Tribunal for Wales (‘the Tribunal’) must have 

regard to any provision of the Code that appears to it to be relevant to a question 
arising on an appeal. 

 
3. Where mandatory requirements are imposed by the Code, the Act or regulations, 

or by any other statute or statutory instrument, the body to which that provision 
refers must comply with that provision. Where the Code refers to prohibited 
practices, it states that the body to which the provision refers must not use this 
practice. 

 

                                            
1
 An institution within the further education sector (FEI) means an institution falling within section 91(3) 

of the Further and Higher Education Act (1992) 

Tudalen 19



8 
 

4. In all other cases, the Code provides statutory guidance. Relevant persons are 
required to follow the statutory guidance unless they can demonstrate, if 
challenged, that they are justified in not doing so.  

 
5. Failure of a relevant public body to comply with any of the requirements included 

in this Code could result in a decision being overturned by the Tribunal, a 
successful complaint to the Welsh Ministers, or to a successful judicial review 
claim.  

 
6. Failure to adhere to guidance within this Code could lead to the same result if 

relevant persons are unable to justify departing from the guidance. 
 
7. The Code will replace the existing Special Educational Needs Code of Practice 

for Wales (2004).2 
 

8. The Code does not aim to provide exhaustive guidance on all aspects of the 
proposed new legislative system. Relevant persons will need to ensure that in 
carrying out their functions that they act in accordance with the relevant 
legislation, including primary and secondary legislation.   

 
9. The draft Code is primarily designed for use by relevant persons but all those 

with an interest in ALN matters may also find it useful.  
 

10. Under section 68 of the Act, Local Health Board means a Local Health Board 
established under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act 2006.  
Throughout the Code, a Local Health Board is referred to as a Health Board. 

 
11. Section 68 of the Act defines both child and young person.  A child is anyone not 

over compulsory school age and a young person means a person over 
compulsory school age, but under 25 years old.  References in the Code to 
children and young people reflect the definitions in the Act.    

 

  

                                            
2
 The SEN provisions under the Education Act 1996 and the Code made thereunder remain in force in 

the meantime. 

Tudalen 20



9 
 

Chapter 2: Principles of the Code 
 
Summary 
 
12. This Chapter sets out the general principles which should underpin the planning 

and provision of support for children and young people with ALN. These 
principles are reflected in guidance and mandatory requirements contained in the 
Code. 
 

Principles 
 
13. In accordance with their duties under the Rights of Children and Young Persons 

(Wales) Measure 2011, the Code has been developed by the Welsh Ministers 
with due regard to the obligations and rights set out in the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and its Optional Protocols.  

 
14. The other, general principles upon which the Code has been based, are set out 

below. Some of the principles below are statutory requirements under the Act:  
 

 identification and intervention in relation to ALN should take place at the 
earliest possible opportunity; 

 all those involved in providing support to children and young people with ALN 
should work together in the best interests of the child or young person; 

 transitions should be planned in advance and consideration given to 
supporting transition into adulthood; 

 the views, wishes and feelings of the child, child’s parent or young person, 
should be at the heart of all decision making processes; 

 the child, child’s parent or young person should be enabled to participate as 
fully as possible in the decision making processes; 

 meeting the needs of learners with ALN should be part of a whole school 
approach to school improvement; 

 learners must be supported to participate in mainstream education and in the 
National Curriculum as fully as possible wherever this is feasible; and 

 compliance with the Welsh Language Standards. 
 
Identification and intervention in relation to ALN should take place at the earliest 
possible opportunity   

15. All those providing services for children and young people with ALN need to 
focus on addressing the needs of children and young people through timely 
identification and providing the right support to enable the child or young person 
to reach their potential.  

 
16. The importance of timely identification and providing the appropriate provision as 

soon as possible for a child or young person with ALN cannot be over-
emphasised. The earlier action is taken, the more responsive the child or young 
person is likely to be, and the likelihood of the intervention being made without 
undue disruption to the organisation of the education institution is increased. 
Identifying ALN at an early stage and making the appropriate interventions can 

Tudalen 21



10 
 

also prevent more costly and less effective interventions later. The child or young 
person’s ALN and the provision made for them should be continually reviewed to 
ensure that interventions remain appropriate.  

 
All those involved in providing support to children and young people with ALN should 
work together in the best interests of the child or young person  

17. Meeting the ALN of individual children and young people will often require 
flexibility and joint-working on the part of professionals and statutory bodies. 
Those involved need to communicate and agree policies and protocols to work 
together in the best interests of the child or young person. Working supportively, 
and in partnership with parents and the children and young people themselves, 
will ensure everyone involved understands the responses of the professionals 
concerned, and lead to better quality provision. 

 
18. All statutory agencies should recognise the need for effective collaboration 

between services involved with the child, child’s parents or young person.  
Consultative responsibilities and effective communication systems at 
management and practitioner levels should be clearly identified as critical to 
effective multi-agency working. Developments in organisational structures and 
working practices should reflect this principle.   

 
19. Successful multi-agency working should: 
 

• improve communication between the family, school and professionals; 
• streamline services to avoid duplication;  
• clearly identify which agency will be responsible for providing and funding 

each element of provision; 
• encourage creativity and flexibility; 
• take account of good practice; 
• focus on solutions;  
• use resources more effectively; and 
• ensure consultation with all relevant services. 

 
Transitions should be planned in advance and consideration given to supporting 
transition into adulthood 

20. To support smooth transitions and provide continuality of support, provision 
should be planned for in advance.  This is especially true when children and 
young people are due to move between different phases of education and/or 
providers. Relevant public bodies should make connections and plan theses 
changes in advance. Public bodies should work together to secure support and 
improve local provision relevant to the individual needs of the child or young 
person, to enable an effective transition.  

 
21. Young people should be supported to make a successful transition into adulthood 

once they leave formal education; this process should commence in good time 
ahead of the learner leaving formal education. 

 
The views, wishes and feelings of the child, child’s parent or young person, should 
be at the heart of all decision making processes  

Tudalen 22



11 
 

22. Anyone exercising functions under the Act or this Code will need to involve 
children and young people at every stage of the process, with their views, wishes 
and feelings listened to. This will help the child or young person to personalise 
their learning through the identification of targets that build on their strengths. 
This might be termed a person-centred approach.  Being person-centred in the 
planning and provision of support means that the learner is truly listened to and 
kept at the heart of decision-making. It is the learner’s needs that are the starting 
point when considering the support to be provided, rather than starting with what 
support is available and then how the learner can be fitted into it.   
 

23. Person-centred practice encompasses the use of person-centred thinking tools 
that help to gather information in a way that makes sure the views of the learner 
and their family are included in decisions.  It also covers person-centred reviews 
– meetings focused on an individual learner’s needs, where information from 
professionals, families and the learners themselves is made available to all and 
where everyone can contribute on an equal footing. 

 
24. Parents are a key partner and professionals will need to actively seek to work 

with them and value the contribution they make.  Parents should feel able to 
challenge the process if it is not meeting their child’s needs. Demonstrating to 
parents and families that their knowledge and experience is valued and is acted 
upon will be vital in securing their confidence in the process.  This will be needed 
for them to engage in positive discussions about the best ways to support their 
child’s needs. These discussions may be challenging, however, a positive 
dialogue between parents and professionals, which encourages working through 
varying opinions to agree solutions and achieve agreed outcomes, is in the best 
interests of the child. 

 
The child, child’s parent or young person should be enabled to participate as fully as 
possible in the decision making processes 

25. To enable children, their parents and young people to participate fully in 
discussions and decisions, they will need to be provided with information, advice 
and appropriate support.  All necessary steps should be taken to ensure that they 
are empowered to make their opinions known and, if needed, be helped to 
understand the process. 

 
Meeting the needs of learners with ALN should be part of a whole school approach 
to school improvement 

26. The way in which a maintained mainstream school meets the needs of all 
children has a direct bearing on the nature of the additional learning provision  
(ALP) required by children with ALN, and on the point at which ALP is required. 
The key to meeting the needs of all children and young people lies in the 
teacher’s knowledge of each child and young person’s skills and abilities.  The 
teacher’s capacity to then match this knowledge with identifying ways of 
providing appropriate access to the curriculum for every child and young person 
is also critical. Consequently, improvements in the teaching and learning of 
children and young people with ALN cannot be isolated from improvements in the 
teaching and learning for children and young people across a school as a whole. 
Improvement in one should be mutually supportive of improvement in the other.  

Tudalen 23



12 
 

 
Learners must be supported to participate in mainstream education and in the 
National Curriculum as fully as possible wherever this is feasible 

27. The Welsh Government believes that an inclusive education, where individual 
learners receive a tailored education and additional support to reach their full 
potential, is of benefit to all. Those children and young people who have ALN 
should, wherever possible, be fully included within the normal school life, have 
access to a broad and balanced curriculum and be supported and challenged to 
achieve their potential. However, inclusion requires the active involvement of 
everyone concerned to ensure equality of education opportunity and access. For 
all subject areas and for all learners, including those with ALN, there should be a 
common set of expectations across the school that are known to everyone, and a 
further commitment to support those learners who have difficulty meeting those 
expectations. 

 
28. Inclusive education, mainstream education is usually the most appropriate 

setting, unless the child or young person’s needs are such that mainstream 
education would not be appropriate for them. There should be a general 
presumption of mainstream education being the most suitable setting for all 
learners.  

 
Compliance with the Welsh Language Standards 
 
[The position relating to the Welsh Language Standards and obligations on local 
authorities is developing and subsequent versions of the Code will be updated to 
reflect this].  
 
29. Welsh language is supported by the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 

The Measure restated the official status of Welsh in Wales, established the 
principle that the Welsh language should be treated no less favourably than the 
English language and made provision for promoting and facilitating the use of 
Welsh and about standards relating to the Welsh language.  
 

30. Relevant bodies will have to ensure their services are delivered in accordance 
with relevant Welsh Standards. The Standards will be set out in a compliance 
notice given by the Welsh Language Commissioner.  

 
31. Local authorities are required to outline the Welsh language aspects of provision 

for learners with ALN in their statutory Welsh in Education Strategic Plans, which 
are submitted to Welsh Ministers for approval. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 24



13 
 

Chapter 3: Role of the ALNCo and DMO/DCO  
 
 

Summary 
 
32. The Act introduces two new statutory roles: 
 

 An Additional Learning Needs Coordinator; and  

 A Designated Medical Officer/Designated Clinical Officer 
 
33. This Chapter introduces both roles and outlines the roles and responsibilities of 

each.  
 
[Subject to further stakeholder engagement, this Chapter may be developed to 
include reference to other relevant roles and services.] 
 

Professional development in relation to ALN – general 
 
[Later versions of the Code will be updated to reflect wider Welsh Government policy 
in relation to workforce development.] 
 

34. Teaching practitioners have responsibility for their own professional learning and 
development. All should undertake professional learning in relation to ALN, 
regardless of previous experience, qualifications or the education setting in which 
they are based.  
 

35. Education settings are responsible for ensuring systems and processes are in 
place to identify the professional learning needs of its workforce and should 
provide appropriate support to meet those needs. Schools in particular should be 
utilising their School Development Plans to perform this function. 
 

36. Teaching practitioners who need to improve their knowledge and/or skills in 
relation to different types of ALN are able to access information guidance, tools 
and/or training materials, which have been developed by the Welsh Government, 
via the Learning Wales website3 and the HwB digital learning platform4.  

 
37. There are also a range of organisations who offer support and professional 

learning to different education settings on specific teaching approaches for 
learners with ALN, as well as on specific types of ALN.  

 

The Additional Learning Needs Coordinator 
 
The duty of governing bodies to designate an ALNCo 

 

                                            
3
 http://learning.gov.wales  

4
 http://hwb.wales.gov.uk/  

Tudalen 25

http://learning.gov.wales/
http://hwb.wales.gov.uk/


14 
 

38. Section 46 of the Act deals with Additional Learning Needs Co-ordinators (or 
‘ALNCo’).  
 

39. This section requires that governing bodies of maintained schools in Wales and 
FEIs in Wales must designate a member of their staff – to be known as an 
ALNCo – who will have responsibility for coordinating provision for learners with 
ALN.  
 

40. The designation of an ALNCo does not remove the need for the broader 
workforce training referred to above. Furthermore, all teaching practitioners have 
a responsibility for ensuring that their learners’ needs are identified and provided 
for.    

 
The ALNCo within the education setting 

 
[Section 46 of the Act provides that regulations may be made to confer functions on 
ALNCos in relation to provision for pupils or students with ALN. The following 
paragraphs represent the Welsh Governments’ view on the sorts of day-to-day 
activities ALNCos should undertake. However, it is subject to further development 
alongside the regulations in due course] 

 
41. The ALNCo will be the individual with overall responsibility for ensuring the needs 

of all learners with ALN within the education setting are met.  The role should be 
viewed in the same light as other strategic roles undertaken within the education 
setting and the ALNCo should, therefore, form part of the senior leadership team. 
 

42. It is vital that the ALNCo has sufficient time and resource to undertake their 
responsibilities effectively, including time away from teaching. The head of the 
education setting should ensure that the ALNCo is supported in this way. The 
role should not be combined with other, non-teaching responsibilities.  
 

43.  Learning support staff can be an important resource to the ALNCo when 
coordinating provision of support across the education setting.  Learning support 
staff can provide specialist skills to support learners with ALN, and will offer both 
practical and administrative support to the ALNCo. The ALNCo should, therefore, 
have a role in the coordination of learning support staff and be given the 
opportunity to feed in to how they are deployed within the setting.  That is not to 
say that the use of learning support staff is appropriate in all cases, they are just 
one of a number of resources available to ALNCos.  
 

44. The ALNCo will also provide professional guidance, advice and support to 
teaching practitioners and, where needed, information and support to parents, 
carers and other agencies/institutions. 

 
The role and responsibilities of the ALNCo 

 
[As outlined above, section 46 of the Act provides that regulations may be made to 
confer functions on ALNCos in relation to provision for pupils or students with ALN. 
The following paragraph represents the Welsh Government’s intention and is subject 
to further development alongside regulations in due course]. 

Tudalen 26



15 
 

 
45. The key responsibilities of the ALNCo should include the following: 
 

 promoting inclusion within the education settings; 
 

 becoming a source of expertise on ALN by developing specialist skills and 
knowledge; 
 

 overseeing the day-to-day operation of the education setting’s policy on ALN; 
 

 coordinating provision across the education setting for learners with ALN, 
including a role in managing the allocation of learning support staff; 
 

 contributing to the development and implementation of appropriate ALN 
procedures and systems within the education setting, including strategic 
financial planning, effective deployment of resources and data collection and 
analysis, with a view to improved outcomes for learners with ALN; 
 

 providing professional support to all staff to enable the early identification, 
assessment and planning for learners with ALN, ensuring IDPs are developed 
and reviewed appropriately in line with the Person Centred Practice ethos; 
 

 liaising with the child, child’s parent or young person with ALN, to ensure they 
understand the learner’s needs and how they will be met, where necessary 
advising on information and support available; 
 

 ensuring that the arrangements put in place by the local authority in relation to 
avoiding disagreements are fully utilised as appropriate; 
 

 acting as the key point of contact with the relevant local authority’s inclusion 
and support services, external agencies, independent/voluntary organisations, 
health and social care professionals, educational psychologists, etc.; 
 

 liaising with early years providers, maintained schools and FEI’s where 
relevant, to facilitate a smooth transition between settings for learners with 
ALN; 
 

 liaising with careers specialists to ensure that learners with ALN receive 
appropriate careers advice; 

 

 assisting in the professional learning of staff within the education setting to 
better meet the needs of learners with ALN; 
 

 keeping up-to-date on the latest guidance and support available for ALN; 
 

 working strategically with the senior leadership team and governors to ensure 
the education setting is meeting its responsibilities under the Act, this Code 
and the Equality Act 2010; and 
 

Tudalen 27



16 
 

 enhancing their own professional learning by liaising with the local network of 
ALNCos (which local authorities should consider establishing and facilitating) 
and, where appropriate, special schools to develop and share experience and 
best practice. 
 

Prescribed qualifications and experience of ALNCos 
 

[Section 46 of the Act provides that regulations may be made to require bodies to 
ensure that ALNCos have prescribed qualifications or prescribed experience (or 
both). The following paragraphs, therefore, represent the Welsh Government’s 
intentions in this respect, but they are subject to development alongside the 
regulations in due course.] 

 
46. The ALNCo will need to be a suitably qualified, senior teacher.  
 
47. The ALNCo should have wide-ranging practical experience of supporting learners 

with ALN in the classroom environment.  However, where an ALNCo is newly 
appointed, it is the Welsh Government’s intention that they will be required to 
obtain a qualification for ALN within a set timeframe from the date of their 
appointment (if they have not obtained it already). We anticipate the qualification 
to include topics such as awareness raising and promotion, leadership and 
coordination in respect of ALN.  We also envisage the qualification supporting 
ALNCos to develop expertise and become specialists on ALN.  Those already 
acting as SENCos will also be required to obtain the qualification, though this 
requirement will be phased in over time. 
 

48. All teaching practitioners are required to register with the Education Workforce 
Council5 who will maintain the registration and the professional standards for the 
teaching profession in Wales. This includes all maintained school teachers and 
learning support staff and FE lecturers and learning support staff.  The 
registration includes a record of the individual’s roles and professional learning.  
All ALNCos and teaching practitioners should ensure their registration includes 
an up-to-date record of their role and professional learning in respect of ALN. 

 
 

  

                                            
5
 Established as a registration body under the Education (Wales) Act 2014.  

Tudalen 28



17 
 

The Designated Medical or Clinical Officer 
 
The duty of Health Boards to designate a DMO/DCO 
 
49. Section 47 of the Act deals with Designated Medical Officers (‘DMOs’) and 

Designated Clinical Officers (‘DCOs’). 
 

50. This section requires that Health Boards (HBs) in Wales6 must designate an 
officer to have responsibility for co-ordinating the HB’s functions in relation to 
children and young people with ALN7.  
 

51. The individual designated must be:  
 

 a registered medical practitioner (to be know as a Designated Medical 
Officer) or 

 a registered nurse or other health professional (to be known as a Designated 
Clinical Officer)8.  

 
52. Further, the HB must designate a person it considers to be suitably qualified and 

experienced in the provision of health care for children and young people with 
ALN9. 

 
The role and responsibilities of the DMO/DCO 
 
53. Regardless of the whether the person appointed is a Designated Medical Officer 

or a Designated Clinical Officer, their role and responsibilities are the same. 
 
54. The DMO/DCO should be the first point of contact between the HB and the local 

authority and should liaise between the bodies to support meeting the needs of 
the child or young person. 

 
55. They should have a strategic and operational role in co-ordinating activity across 

health bodies and with the local authority. This should include: 
 

 considering how best health professionals can be pro-actively involved in the 
development of IDPs (where the input, help and advice of health professionals 
is required); 

 assisting local authorities in gaining medical advice, where it is considered 
necessary for the development of the child or young person’s IDP; 

 taking responsibility for the HB’s responses to requests for help from local 
authorities made under section 49 of the Act (see Chapter 13) (for example, 
by putting the systems in place to ensure that responses are in compliance 
with the legal duties in that section and regulations made under it);   

                                            
6
 Section 68 of the Act confirms that a ‘Local Health Board’ is a Local Health Board established under 

section 11 of the NHS (Wales) Act 2006. This Code uses the term “Health Board”. 
7
 Section 47(1) of the Act. 

8
 Section 47(2), (4) and (5) of the Act. 

9
 Section 47(3) of the Act. 

Tudalen 29



18 
 

 working with local authorities in relation to the powers and duties in section 14 
of the Act, including, in particular: 

o agreeing what provision the HB should secure as part of an IDP in 
fulfilment of their general obligation to provide a comprehensive health 
service in Wales; 

o ensuring a consistent approach to such decisions; and 
o ensuring that the HB’s legal duty to deliver agreed provision is met;  

 supporting the HB to fulfil their legal duties under section 48 of the Act in 
relation to children under compulsory school age (see Chapter 7); 

 supporting HB staff generally in dealing with additional learning needs 
matters.  

 

 

  

Tudalen 30



19 
 

Chapter 4: Involving and supporting children, their parents 
and young people 
 

Summary 
 
56. This Chapter outlines the duties in respect of, and actions that should be taken, 

to engage and empower children, children’s parents and young people.   
 
[Subject to further stakeholder engagement, it is intended that this Chapter will be 
developed to include examples of best practice on ways in which children, their 
parents and young people might be involved and supported.] 
 
57. Section 6 of the Act introduces a duty that those exercising functions under the 

Act must: 
 

 have regard to the views, wishes and feelings of the child, the child’s parent, 
or young person; 
 

 have regard to the importance of the child, the child’s parent, or young person 
participating as fully as possible in decisions; and 
 

 have regard to the importance of the child, the child’s parent, or young 
person, being provided with the information and support necessary to enable 
participation in those decisions.10 
 

Duties relating to children and young people 
 
58. In order to satisfy the duties above, the child or young person should be at the 

centre of the process and all decision making that affects them at every stage. 
Children and young people should be supported to ensure their active 
participation is a fundamental element of the process, both during and outside of 
meetings.  Their views should be sought ahead of key decisions being taken - 
Information should be communicated in a way the child or young person 
understands - and their views should be used to inform those decisions.  

 
59. Children and young people have a unique knowledge of their own needs and 

circumstances. They will, however, require differing levels of support to be able to 
make their views, wishes and feelings known. 

 
60. The time leading up to a decision that a child or young person has, or may have, 

ALN may create alarm or anxiety for the child or young person. The child or 
young person will need to be supported throughout the process.   

 
61. Supporting children and young people to participate meaningfully will help them 

to: 
 

                                            
10

 Section 6 of the Act. 

Tudalen 31



20 
 

 feel confident that their views, wishes and feelings are listened to and 
valued, even if they find it difficult to get these across; 

 have an awareness of their rights and the support and services available to 
them; and 

 develop a sense of responsibility over their learning. 
 
62. Local authorities should assist staff to provide this support to children and young 

through, for example: 
 

 mentoring; 

 staff supervision; 

 sharing good practice; and 

 relevant continuous professional development. 
 
63. Children and young people should be empowered by this process and not feel 

the process is being done to them. They should be encouraged to make choices. 
In order that children and young people can participate as fully as possible in 
decisions, they should be emboldened to take an active part in meetings which 
they attend, and for their voices to be heard at meetings which they do not. 

 
64. All children and young people should be invited to meetings in which they are 

being discussed, especially those relating to preparing or reviewing an IDP.  
 
65. The information and support provided to the child or young person should: 
 

 be communicated in a way the child or young person can understand, for 
example via the use of Makaton; 

 enable and encourage the child or young person to participate in decisions; 

 reflect the child or young person’s evolving maturity;   

 enable the child or young person to become progressively more involved in 
the process and be more confident and self-aware in making decisions; and 

 actively encourage the child or young person to track their own progress and 
record their achievements. 

 
66. Where a child or young person has ALN, it should be explained to them in a 

manner which reflects their ability to understand. When an IDP is being 
developed or reviewed, the child or young person should be involved at an 
appropriate level. Children and young people should be helped to understand 
what is being agreed, including ALP and the outcomes that they are to aim for. 
The child or young person should be supported to understand the purpose of any 
interventions and programme of action. 

 
67. The child or young person should be told which member of staff they can discuss 

any difficulties or concerns with. This might be a role for the designated ALNCo 
(see Chapter 3). 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 32



21 
 

Duties relating to parents 
 
68. The duty to involve and support under section 6 of the Act, which is outlined 

above, also applies to parents.   
 
69. Parents hold key information and have a critical role to play in their child’s 

education. They have unique strengths, knowledge and experience to contribute 
to the shared view of the child’s needs and the best way of supporting them. 
There should be no presumption about what parents can or cannot do to support 
the child’s learning.  All parents have a right to participate in decisions about their 
child’s education and a positive attitude towards including parents should be 
adopted. 

 
70. Leading up to a decision that a child has, or may have, ALN may create alarm or 

anxiety for the parents and family. Parents will need to be supported throughout 
the process.  

 
71. Where a child has ALN this should be explained to the parents in a way that they 

will understand. Parents should be supported to understand what is being agreed 
for their child, their child’s ALN, the agreed ALP and the outcomes for their child 
to aim for. Parents should be supported to understand the purpose of any 
interventions and programme of action.  

 
72. It should be acknowledged that some parents may require support that goes 

further than signposting to information and advice; for example, they may 
experience difficulties with accessibility and understanding.  

 
73. Some parents might need support in seeing their children as partners in 

decisions relating to their education. They may be concerned, for example, that 
their child is ill-equipped to consider all the relevant factors.  Parents should be 
supported and encouraged to ensure the full participation of their child where this 
is appropriate. 

 
74. To support and empower the parents to be able to provide their views, wishes 

and feelings and to take an active part in the process they should be provided 
with information and advice in a way they can understand. Parents’ input should 
be encouraged from the outset and throughout the child’s education.  

 
75. Parents will require differing levels of support and every effort should be made to 

facilitate this. They should feel confident that they will be listened to and their 
input valued. Parents should be supported to be present at appropriate meetings, 
especially those relating to preparing or reviewing an IDP for their child, and 
empowered to participate as fully as possible.  

 
76. Parents have a fundamental role in helping their child to achieve their potential. 

The child is far more likely to achieve their outcomes and potential when parents 
are actively involved and their views, wishes and feelings are taking into account.  
As a result, parents will be in a better position to support their child. Parents 
should, therefore, also be provided with support and advice on how they can 
support their child to reach their potential. 

Tudalen 33



22 
 

 
77. When a child attends a residential school, or is looked after by the local authority 

and is living away from home, every effort should be made to ensure that parents 
are encouraged to continue to play an active role in their child’s education where 
this is appropriate. Parent’s participation when a child is away from home is 
especially important because of the need to forward plan for when the child or 
young person returns to the family. 

 
78. The child’s parent should be told which member of staff they can discuss any 

difficulties or concerns with. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Tudalen 34



23 
 

Chapter 5: Advice and information 
 
Summary 
 
79. Section 7 of the Act provides that local authorities must make arrangements to 

provide people with information and advice about ALN and the ALN system. 
 
80. This Chapter provides guidance on the arrangements that should be put in place, 

along with the role of external service providers. 
 
[Subject to further stakeholder engagement, it is intended that this Chapter will be 
developed to include examples of best practice in respect of information and advice 
arrangements.] 

 
Providing information and advice 
 
81. A local authority must take steps it considers appropriate to make its information 

and advice arrangements known to:  
 

 children and young people in its area; 

 parents of children in its area; 

 head teachers and proprietors of schools in its area; and 

 any other persons it considers appropriate, for example relevant 
professionals or specialists, the local Designated Medical or Clinical Officer, 
or the third sector.11 

 
82. Information and advice should be provided through dedicated and easily 

identifiable arrangements. Local authorities are responsible for ensuring that the 
information and advice given is delivered at a suitable level. 

 
83. Local authorities do not necessarily have to provide the information and advice 

themselves, they could work with other organisations, including the third sector, 
to provide information which best meets the needs of children, their parents and 
young people.  

 
84. Local authorities should involve children, their parents and young people in the 

design or commissioning of arrangements for providing information and advice in 
order to ensure that the arrangements meet local needs. Local authorities should 
do this in a way which ensures that children, young people and parents feel they 
have participated fully in the process and have a sense of co-ownership. It need 
not be burdensome for local authorities and may simply take the form of focus 
groups or workshops. 

 
85. Although local authorities do not necessarily have to provide the information and 

advice themselves, they do have a responsibility for ensuring that they are easy 
to find, accessible, and signpost where further information and advice can be 
found. This might include providing information and advice in electronic format, 

                                            
11

 Section 7(2) of the Act. 

Tudalen 35



24 
 

for instance on websites or through printed materials, and providing information 
and advice to groups within the community. 

 
86. The arrangements to provide information and advice should be flexible and cases 

should be handled sensitively and sympathetically. The concerns of children, 
their parents and young people should be considered carefully.  

 
87. The information and advice should: 
 

 help children, their parents and young people to understand what ALN is; 

 cover information on ALN legislation, including that contained in this Code; 

 help children, parents and young people understand the different agencies 
involved; 

 be free, accurate and, where appropriate, confidential, and in formats which 
are accessible and responsive to the needs of users – this includes being 
suitable for those children, their parents and young people for whom English 
or Welsh is not their first language, and in a format those with a disability or 
learning difficulty can access;  

 provide accurate, neutral information and advice on the rights of children, 
their parents and young people; 

 signpost children, their parents and young people to alternative and 
additional sources of information, advice and support that may be available 
locally or nationally; 

 signpost children, their parents and young people to specific voluntary, 
statutory or private organisations who can provide specialist advice and 
support; 

 help to promote independence and self-advocacy for children, their parents 
and young people; and 

 make children, their parents and young people aware of, and help them to 
understand, the different complaints procedures, the local authority’s 
services for avoiding and resolving disagreements, and the route to appeal 
on matters related to ALN, if necessary. 

 
88. As well as ensuring that parents have access to information and advice, local 

authorities must also ensure that children and young people have access to 
information and advice on matters relating to ALN. Many children will want to 
access information and advice via their parents. However, some children, 
especially older children, may want to access information and advice separately 
from their parents. Local authorities must facilitate this. 

 
89. Whilst young people must be able to access information and advice in their own 

right, local authorities should recognise the specific needs of young people at the 
same time as ensuring co-ordination and consistency in what is offered to 
children, their parents and young people.  

 
90. Young people may be finding their voice for the first time and may, therefore, 

need support in exercising choice and control over the support they receive (see 
Chapter 4). 

 

Tudalen 36



25 
 

External service providers 
 
91. The local authority may decide to discharge their duties by asking, for example, 

the third or private sector to undertake these duties. Where it does so the local 
authority is responsible for: 

 

 determining and monitoring the overall standard of the service; 

 setting out their funding and budgeting plans for the service and ensuring 
value for money; 

 ensuring appropriate management structures are in place for the service; 

 establishing robust quality assurance arrangements and conducting 
evaluation  of services;  

 ensuring that the service has a development plan, which sets out clear 
targets and is regularly reviewed – such plans should specify short, medium 
and long term strategies and arrangements for evaluation and quality 
assurance;  

 ensuring effective and workable contingency plans are put in place; and 

 establishing a service level agreement for delivering the service which 
ensures sufficient levels of resource and training, and clearly sets out the 
quality standards expected of, and the responsibilities delegated to, the 
provider. 

 

  

Tudalen 37



26 
 

Chapter 6: Identification of additional learning needs 
 

Summary  
 

92. This Chapter outlines what ALN are and how to identify them.  
 

93. It sets out general considerations for all maintained schools, FEIs and local 
authorities when taking decisions about ALN.  
 

[We expect to develop this Chapter in due course to take account of stakeholder 
input and to supplement it with supporting resources, such as good practice case 
studies.  Additional guidance might include, for example, further detail in respect of 
meeting the threshold of ALN.] 

 
Additional learning needs – the basic definition 
 
94. Whenever it comes to the attention of a maintained school or FEI that a child or 

young person may have ALN, that education setting must make a determination 
of the issue unless specific circumstances apply12. Local authorities will also be 
required to make determinations about whether an individual has ALN in some 
circumstances13. 
 

95. Section 2 of the Act defines the term ‘Additional Learning Needs’ (‘ALN’).  
 

96. Section 2(1) confirms that a person will have ALN if he or she has a learning 
difficulty or disability which calls for ‘Additional Learning Provision’. In establishing 
whether a child or young person has ALN, you should work through the definition 
step by step. 
 

Learning Difficulty or Disability 
 
97. Firstly, does the individual have a learning difficulty or disability? Section 2(2) of 

the Act confirms that a child of compulsory school age or person over that age 
has a learning difficulty or disability for the purposes of the Act if he or she: 

 

 has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others of 
the same age (section 2(2)(a)); or 

 has a disability which prevents or hinders them from making use of facilities 
for education or training of a kind generally provided for others of the same 
age in mainstream maintained schools or a FEI (section 2(2)(b)). 

 
98. The key questions to ask are therefore: 

 

 Does the person have a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the 
majority of others of the same age?  

                                            
12

 Sections 9(1) and 10(1) of the Act.  
13

 See Chapter 9. 

Tudalen 38



27 
 

 Does the person have a disability which prevents or hinders them from 
making use of facilities for education or training of a kind generally provided 
for others of the same age in mainstream maintained schools and FEIs? 

 
If the answer to either question is ‘yes’, the individual is to be considered as 
having a learning difficulty or disability for the purposes of the Act. 

 
Additional Learning Provision 

 
99. The next step is to determine whether that learning difficulty or disability calls 

for ‘Additional Learning Provision’.  
 
100. Section 3 of the Act defines the term ‘Additional Learning Provision’ (‘ALP’). 
 
101. For a person aged three or over, ALP means educational or training provision 

that is additional to, or different from, that made generally for others of the 
same age in: 

 

 mainstream maintained schools in Wales; 

 mainstream FEIs in Wales; or 

 places in Wales at which nursery education is provided (section 3(1)). 
 
102. Teaching which recognises and responds to the needs of individual learners is 

a key component of all high quality education, and is something which is 
generally made available in schools and FEIs in Wales. Such differentiated 
teaching will not, in and of itself, constitute ALP. ALP will encompass additional 
or different educational or training provision, which goes beyond that generally 
made available – see further below. 

 
103. If a person has a learning difficulty or disability which calls for ALP, the 

individual should be considered as having ALN for the purposes of the 
Act. 

 
Children under 3 
 
104. There is a slightly different test for children under compulsory school age. In 

those cases, questions must be asked about whether the individual has, or is 
likely to have:  

 a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others of the 
same age, or  

 have a disability which prevents or hinders them from making use of 
facilities for education or training of a kind generally provided for others of 
the same age in mainstream maintained schools or FEIs,  

when they are of compulsory school age (refer to section 2(3) of the Act). 
 

105. ALP for a child aged under three means educational provision of any kind 
(section 3(2) of the Act). The definition for this cohort of learners is slightly 
different to reflect the fact that children under three are not at an age where 
education is compulsory – so if their needs call for educational provision at 
such a young age, that should be explicitly recognised.  ‘Nursery education’ is 

Tudalen 39



28 
 

education suitable for a child who has attained the age of three but is under 
compulsory school age (section 3(3) of the Act). 

 

Initial considerations 
 
106. Practitioners should always refer back to the definition of ALN at section 2 of 

the Act, have regard to the guidance on the application of this definition set out 
at the beginning of this Chapter, and apply it to the individual circumstances of 
the case when making a decision about whether an individual has ALN. 

 
107. However, there are some initial considerations which all practitioners should 

bear in mind when making these decisions – these are as follows: 
 

Initial considerations – differentiated teaching 
 
108. Most children and young people will require additional support in some part of 

their education at some point.  This could be in the form of extra help with 
mathematics if a learner has found a topic particularly difficult, catch-up reading 
sessions, or a catch-up Welsh lesson following a short absence due to illness.  
Teaching which recognises and responds to the needs of individual learners is 
a key component of all high quality education, and is something which is 
generally made available in schools and FEIs in Wales. The processes set out 
in the Act in relation to ALN should not be used to compensate for a lack of 
good quality teaching and tailored education.  

 
109. Slow progress and low attainment do not necessarily mean that a child has 

ALN and should not automatically lead to a learner being recorded as such. 
However, this may be an indicator of an ALN.  

 
110. Equally, it should not be assumed that attainment in line with chronological age 

means that there is no ALN. Some learning difficulties and disabilities occur 
across the range of cognitive ability and left unaddressed may lead to 
frustration. This can manifest itself as disaffection, emotional or behaviour 
difficulties. 

 
111. Moreover, persistent disruptive, difficult or withdrawn behaviour does not 

necessarily mean that a child or young person has ALN. Where there are 
concerns, consideration should be given to whether or not there are any causal 
factors, such as underlying learning or communication difficulties. If it is thought 
that housing, family or other domestic circumstances may be contributing to the 
presenting behaviour, a multi-agency approach should be adopted.  

 
112. Professionals should also be alert to other events that can lead to learning or 

other, wider difficulties, for example bullying or bereavement. Such events will 
not always lead to a child or young person having ALN, but they can have an 
impact on well-being, which might affect the attainment of educational 
outcomes. Schools and FEIs should ensure they make appropriate provision for 
a child or young person’s short-term needs in order to prevent problems 
escalating. Where there are longer-lasting difficulties which result in a 
‘significantly greater difficulty in learning’, and which might call for ALP, schools, 

Tudalen 40



29 
 

FEIs and local authorities must consider whether the child or young person has 
ALN14. 

 

Initial considerations – disabilities  
 
113. Not all disabled children and young people will have ALN. However, if their 

disability prevents or hinders them from making use of educational facilities or 
strategies, which are of the kind generally provided for others of the same age 
in mainstream maintained schools or FEIs, and the individual requires ALP as a 
result, then they are to be regarded as having ALN15.  Moreover, there will be 
some forms of disability, the nature of which mean it is likely that the learner will 
have ALN. 

 
114. Schools, FEIs and local authorities should bear in mind their additional 

responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010. The Act also makes provision for 
disability discrimination claims made under that Act to be taken to the 
Education Tribunal.  

 

Initial considerations – Welsh or English as an additional language 
 
115. A person will not have a learning difficulty or disability – and, therefore, will not 

have ALN – solely because the language (or form of language) in which they 
are taught is different from the language (or form of language) which is, or has 
been, spoken at home16. 

 
116. Those with Welsh or English as an additional language might need extra 

support to achieve their potential, but will not necessarily have ALN. That said, 
when a child or young person has English or Welsh as an additional language 
and makes slow progress (despite differentiated teaching to support them), 
consideration should be given to whether there is a wider issue.  

 
117. Identifying and assessing ALN for those whose first language is not Welsh or 

English requires particular care.  All aspects of a child or young person’s 
learning and development need to be considered to assess whether their 
difficulty is the result of the challenge of learning Welsh or English as an 
additional language or if it arises from ALN. The school, FEI or local authority 
should look carefully at all aspects of a child or young person’s performance in 
different subjects to establish whether any difficulties they have are due to 
limitations in their command of the language that is used or if it arises from 
ALN.  

 
118. A full assessment should be made of the exposure the child or young person 

has had in the past to each of the languages they speak, the use they make of 
them currently and their proficiency in them. Information about language skills 
obtained in this way will form the basis of all further work with them, both in 

                                            
14

 Section 9(1), 10(1) and 12(1) of the Act. 
15

 Section 2(1) and (2) of the Act. 
16

 Section 2(4) of the Act. 

Tudalen 41



30 
 

assisting understanding of their needs and in planning any additional language 
support required. 

 

Initial considerations – more able and talented 
 
119. The term ‘more able and talented’ encompasses learners who are more able 

across the curriculum, as well as those who show talent in one or more specific 
area. Those children and young people who are considered more able and 
talented should not be considered as having ALN solely on the basis of their 
enhanced ability or talent. These children and young people require enhanced 
opportunities and challenge in order to reach their full potential, which should 
be provided as part of differentiated learning.  

 
120. A child or young person could, however, be more able and talented and have 

ALN. For example, a child or young person may be very proficient in one part of 
their education but have ‘significantly greater difficulty in learning’ than the 
majority of others of the same age in other parts of their education. The impact 
of enhanced ability or talent on a learners’ psychological or emotional well-
being should also be borne in mind and may be relevant in determining ALN.   

 

Initial considerations – medical needs 
 
121. Schools and local authorities should make arrangements to support learners 

with medical conditions; this is outlined in the guidance Access to Education 
and Support for Children and Young People with Medical Needs17. However, 
not all children and young people with a medical need will have ALN, and the 
two are not synonymous.  

 
122. In some cases, medical conditions may have a significant impact on the child 

or young person’s experiences and the way they function in school or further 
education. The impact may be a direct one, in that the medical condition may 
affect their cognitive abilities, physical abilities, behaviour or their emotional 
state. The impact could also or alternatively be indirect, for example by 
disrupting their access to education through unwanted effects of treatment or 
through the psychological effects that serious or chronic illness or disability can 
have on a child or young person and their family.  

 
123. Consultation and open discussion between the child, child’s parent or young 

person and the school or FEI (as well as with any relevant health professionals) 
are essential to ensure the child or young person makes maximum progress. 
Schools and FEIs should also have their own pastoral arrangements to discuss 
health related and other problems. 

 
124. Section 16 of the Act gives a power to schools, FEIs and local authorities to 

prepare, review or revise an IDP at the same time as it, or another body, is 
preparing, reviewing or revising another document in relation to the individual. 
This ensures that, for example, where a child or young person has an individual 
health care plan and an IDP, provision can be planned and delivered in a 

                                            
17

 http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/medicalneeds/?lang=en  

Tudalen 42

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/medicalneeds/?lang=en


31 
 

coordinated way: the IDP and the individual health care plan could be reviewed 
at the same time, ensuring integration of plans and/or provision where this is 
appropriate.  

 

Identification of the potential existence of ALN – who can help? 
 

125. Early identification of ALN is important. Lots of different agencies, professionals 
and individuals have a role to play in identifying children and young people who 
may have ALN, including, for example: 

 

 parents/carers;  

 foster carers; 

 health visitors;  

 paediatricians;  

 GPs;  

 Flying Start staff;  

 Families First staff;  

 Portage;  

 childcare providers;  

 pre-school settings staff;  

 teaching staff;  

 learning and support assistants;  

 ALNCos;  

 members of governing bodies; 

 school nurses;  

 occupational therapists;  

 speech and language therapists;  

 physiotherapists;  

 social workers;  

 consultants;  

 educational psychologists;  

 counselling services; 

 youth offending teams;  

 mentors and careers advisors; and 

 tutors.  
 
This list is not exhaustive.  

 
126. In relation to children, parents will play a key role in observing and if 

appropriate monitoring their child’s development. They should raise any 
concerns with the child’s education setting at first instance, though they have 
the option of contacting the local authority if necessary, and should do this in 
the case of children not yet attending an education setting. 

 
127. However, the duties of maintained schools, FEIs and local authorities to 

determine whether an individual has ALN apply whenever it is brought to their 
attention, or otherwise appears to them, that the individual may have ALN18. 

                                            
18

 Section 9(1), 10(1) and 12(1) of the Act. 

Tudalen 43



32 
 

Maintained schools, FEIs and local authorities are not required to – and should 
not – wait to take steps until an individual or parent or actively seeks 
assistance. 

 

  

Tudalen 44



33 
 

Chapter 7: Identification of ALN – guidance for specific 
bodies and educational settings 
 

Summary 
 

128. This Chapter provides specific guidance in respect of the identification of ALN 
to assist those working with particular groups of children and young people: 
those under compulsory school age; maintained school pupils; and FEI 
students. In all cases, early identification and intervention can significantly 
reduce the need for (potentially more costly) interventions at a later stage. 

  
[We expect to develop this Chapter in due course to take account of stakeholder 
input and to supplement it with supporting resources, such as good practice case 
studies.  Additional guidance might include, for example, further detail in respect of 
meeting the threshold of ALN and the levels of intervention.] 
 
[Furthermore, the Welsh Government is developing an Early Years Development 
and Assessment Framework (EYDAF). This is intended for the use of all early years 
practitioners, including those working in health services, Flying Start settings, the 
Foundation Phase and childcare. It is intended that the Code will set out detail of 
how the EYDAF can be applied to assist the identification of children with ALN.] 
 

Children under compulsory school age – health bodies’ role and 
power to notify  

 
129. Health bodies support early identification of young children who may have ALN 

through a range of services. Children with more complex developmental and 
sensory needs may be identified at birth whilst standard health assessments, 
such as the hearing screening test, which is used to check the hearing of all 
new-born babies, enable very early identification of a range of medical and 
physical difficulties. Paediatricians, in conjunction with other health 
professionals, are often the first people to notify local authorities that young 
children for whom they are responsible have, or may have, ALN.  

 
130. Section 48 of the Act sets out the powers of and legal duties placed on health 

bodies in relation to this early identification of ALN.  
 
131. It applies to the following health bodies (which may be in England): 
 

 Health Boards; 

 NHS Trusts; 

 Clinical Commissions Groups; and 

 NHS Foundation Trusts19. 
 
132. Where a health body, in the course of exercising its functions in relation to a 

child who is under compulsory school age, and for whom a local authority in 

                                            
19

 Section 48(2) of the Act. 

Tudalen 45



34 
 

Wales is responsible, forms the opinion that the child has (or probably has) 
ALN, the health body may bring the matter to the attention of the appropriate 
local authority. The health body may only do this if it is satisfied that it is in the 
best interests of the child20. 

 
133. Whether notifying the local authority is in the best interests of the child is for the 

health body to determine. It is likely to be in a child’s best interests where: 
 

 informing the local authority will help the authority plan for provision that the 
child will require when he/she attends an early years setting or primary 
school; 

 as a consequence, the local authority is able to put provision in place 
before the child reaches compulsory school age – this early intervention 
may reduce the likely impact of ALN on the child or prevent the impact of 
ALN on the child from becoming more severe; 

 the local authority would be able to implement early intervention which 
would support parents to support their child (such support might be 
emotional or help to establish trust and positive relationships between the 
local authority and the parent). 

 
134. Before doing this, the health body must inform the child’s parent of its opinion 

and of its power to notify the relevant local authority21. It must also give the 
parent an opportunity to discuss the issue, before approaching the local 
authority22.  

 
135. If the health body is of the opinion that a particular voluntary organisation is 

likely to be able to provide the parent with advice or other assistance in 
connection with the child’s ALN, it must inform the parent of that voluntary 
organisation23. 

 
136.  Whenever a health body contacts a local authority in this way, it will have been 

brought to the attention of the local authority that the child has, or may have, 
ALN. Local authorities must go on to determine this issue in accordance with 
their duties under section 12(1) of the Act (see Chapter 13). 

 
137. At a later stage in the process, health bodies may also provide diagnostic 

services and health reports to assist with the preparation of IDPs – see Chapter 
13 for more details. 

 

Children under compulsory school age – non-maintained settings 
 

138. Many children under compulsory school age attend non-maintained settings 
such as private or voluntary run playgroups, nurseries or meithrin.  Where 
parents of children at such a setting have concerns, it is open to them to 
contact the local authority to determine whether the child has ALN. Local 

                                            
20

 Section 48(1) and (4) of the Act. 
21

 Section 48(3) of the Act. 
22

 Section 48(4) of the Act. 
23

 Section 48(5) of the Act. 

Tudalen 46



35 
 

authorities must then go on to determine this issue in accordance with their 
duties under section 12(1) of the Act (see Chapter 9). 

 

Children and young people at maintained schools 
 

139. This section gives guidance on how a maintained school (which will include 
maintained nursery schools) should deal with identification of ALN for school 
pupils.  

 
140. Every maintained school has duties under the Act to identify and address the 

ALN of the pupils registered with them. All maintained schools should, 
therefore, have a clear approach to identifying and responding to ALN.  

 
141. As noted in Chapter 6, the school must determine whether a pupil has ALN 

whenever it is brought to their attention, or appears to them, that ALN may 
exist24. There are potentially three exceptions to this in the case of schools: 

 

 The school has previously decided the issue, is satisfied that the needs 
have not changed materially since that decision and there is no new 
information which might affect that decision25. 

 The school refers the matter to the local authority for determination. A 
school may only do this where either deciding the matter is beyond their 
capability or the pupil is likely to have ALN which calls for ALP that it would 
not be reasonable for that school to secure26 (see Chapter 9).  

 The pupil is a young person (that is, over compulsory school age) who does 
not consent to the decision being made27. 

 
142. The benefits of early identification are widely recognised.  Identifying need at 

the earliest point and then making effective provision greatly enhances the 
opportunity for the child or young person to achieve their potential. The earlier 
action is taken, the more responsive the individual is likely to be and the 
intervention required is likely to be less intense and most cost effective. 

 
Determination as to whether a Pupil has ALN - Triggers 
 
143. For some children and young people, ALN can be identified at an early age; for 

others, difficulties become evident only as they develop. Some learners’ ALN 
might not have been identified previously. Further, ALN can change over time 
and will need to be continually reviewed. All those working with children and 
young people should be alert to emerging difficulties and respond quickly and 
emphatically.  

 
144. All maintained schools should assess each child’s current level of attainment on 

entry in order to ensure they build upon the pattern of learning and experience 
already established. Maintained schools should make full use of information 

                                            
24

 Section 9(1) of the Act. 
25

 Section 11(1) and (3) of the Act. 
26

 Section 11(1), (4) and (5) of the Act. 
27

 Section 11(1) and (2) of the Act. 

Tudalen 47



36 
 

passed to them from early years settings or any previous school (such as a 
primary school), including any IDPs which are transferred to them.  This 
process should ensure that the potential existence of ALN is identified early, 
which will trigger the duty of the school to determine the issue. 

 
145. Concerns may arise, for example, where a pupil, despite receiving appropriate 

education experiences: 
 

 makes little or no progress towards meeting their potential, even when 
teaching approaches are particularly targeted to improve the child or young 
person’s identified area of weakness;  

 continues working at levels significantly below those expected for children 
or young people of a similar age, or those expected of the individual 
themselves, such as showing signs of difficulty in developing literacy or 
mathematics skills, which result in poor attainment in curriculum areas; 

 presents persistent emotional or behavioral difficulties, which are not 
ameliorated by the behavior management techniques usually employed in 
the school; 

 has sensory or physical problems, and continues to make little or no 
progress against that which is expected of the individual, despite the 
provision of specialist equipment; or 

 has communication and/or interaction difficulties, and continues to make 
little or no progress despite the provision of a differentiated curriculum. 

 
146. Assessment against the National Curriculum level descriptions for each subject 

will enable a school to consider the individual pupil’s attainment and progress 
against the expected levels for the majority of their peers. Similarly, a school 
will regularly assess and report progress to parents on literacy and numeracy 
skills, including – but not exclusively – through national reading and numeracy 
tests. Those children and young people whose overall attainments or 
attainment in specific subjects fall significantly outside the expected range may 
have ALN. Wider consideration should also be given to whether the learner is 
meeting their own potential. 

 
147. Whenever teaching staff have concerns, they should notify the school’s ALNCo, 

who will be able to provide further support and assistance. 
 
148. Concerns might also be expressed by the pupil or their parents.  Parents’ 

observations of their child are often crucial to early identification, and schools 
should be open and responsive to such expressions of concern and take 
account of any information provided.  

 
The ALN Determination  
 
149. In determining whether a pupil has ALN, consideration needs to be given to a 

range of factors and a full assessment made. Practitioners should refer back to 
the definition of ALN at section 2 of the Act, have regard to the guidance on the 
application of this definition set out at the beginning of Chapter 6, and apply it 
to the individual circumstances of the case. 

 

Tudalen 48



37 
 

150. To help identify children or young people who may have ALN, schools can 
measure children or young people’s progress by referring to: 

 

 their performance, including whether they are meeting their own potential, 
monitored by the teacher as part of ongoing observation and assessment; 

 their progress in literacy and numeracy and other curriculum areas;  

 their performance against the level descriptions within the National 
Curriculum at the end of a key stage; and 

 standardised screening or assessment tools and frameworks.  
 
151. Class and subject teachers, supported by the senior leadership team, should 

make regular assessments of progress for all learners. These assessments 
should seek to identify learners making less than expected progress, which can 
be characterised as progress which: 

 

 is significantly slower than that of their peers starting from the same 
baseline; 

 fails to match or better the child’s previous rate of progress; or 

 fails to close, or widens, the attainment gap between the child and their 
peers. 

 
152. It can include progress in areas other than attainment, for instance where a 

learner needs to develop wider social or emotional behaviours in order to make 
a successful transition to adult life.  

 
153. A judgement has to be made in each case as to what it is reasonable to expect 

a particular child or young person to achieve. Where progress is not adequate, 
it will be necessary to take some additional or different action to enable the 
learner to learn more effectively.  

 
154. A school’s system for observing and assessing the progress of individual 

children and young people should provide information about areas where a 
child or young person is not progressing satisfactorily, despite the teaching 
style having been differentiated. These observations should be complemented 
by knowledge built up over time of a pupil’s strengths and weaknesses. Using 
this evidence, class teachers may decide that the strategies they are currently 
using are not resulting in the child or young person learning as effectively as 
possible. Under these circumstances, they should proceed to determine 
whether ALN exist. The school’s ALNCo should be able to assist if required. 
The starting point will always be to review and consider the development of the 
strategies currently in place. The review may lead to the conclusion that the 
child or young person requires help over and above that which is normally 
available within the particular class or subject.  

 
155. The first response to inadequate progress should be high quality teaching 

targeted at their areas of weakness. Schools should not delay in putting in 
place differentiated teaching or other targeted interventions designed to secure 
better progress where appropriate, for all pupils. This is a fundamental element 
of high quality – but routine – teaching. That said, where progress continues to 
be less than expected, the class or subject teacher may come to consider that 

Tudalen 49



38 
 

a pupil has ALN. In that case, and working with the ALNCo, the school must 
make a determination of the matter (unless one of the exceptions applies – see 
above). 

 
156. Where it is determined that the pupil has ALN, section 9(3) of the Act confirms 

that the school must prepare and maintain an IDP. See Chapters 10-15 for 
further information about IDPs. 

 
Children of compulsory school age – non-maintained settings 
 
[It is intended that further guidance will be inserted into this section, subject to 
ongoing engagement with stakeholders]. 
 
157. Some children attend non-maintained (independent) schools. Where children, 

their parents or young people at such a setting have concerns, it is open to 
them to contact the local authority for a determination about whether ALN exist. 
The local authority will then have duties to consider the issue (and, if ALN are 
found, to put an IDP in place) pursuant to section 12 of the Act (see Chapter 9). 

 

Young people at further education institutions 
 
[It is intended that further guidance will be inserted into this section, and more 
generally in respect of Further Education, subject to ongoing engagement with 
stakeholders.]. 

 
158. This section gives guidance on how a Further Education Institution (FEI) should 

deal with identification of ALN for enrolled students.  
 
159. Every FEI has duties under the Act to identify and address the ALN of the 

students enrolled with them. All FEIs should have a clear approach to 
identifying and responding to ALN.  

 
160. The FEI must determine whether an enrolled student has ALN whenever it is 

brought to their attention, or appears to them, that ALN may exist28. There are 
potentially three exceptions to this in the case of FEIs: 

 

 The FEI has previously decided the issue, is satisfied that the needs have 
not changed materially since that decision and there is no new information 
which might affect that decision29. 

 The FEI refers the matter to the local authority for determination. An FEI 
may only do this where either deciding the matter is beyond their capability 
or the student is likely to have ALN which calls for ALP that it would not be 
reasonable for that FEI to secure30 (see Chapter 9).  

 The student does not consent to the decision being made31. 
 

                                            
28

 Section 10(1) of the Act. 
29

 Section 11(1) and (3) of the Act. 
30

 Section 11(1), (4) and (5) of the Act. 
31

 Section 11(1) and (2) of the Act. 

Tudalen 50



39 
 

161. The benefits of early identification are widely recognised.  Identifying need at 
the earliest point and then making effective provision greatly enhances the 
opportunity for the young person to achieve their potential. The earlier action is 
taken, the more responsive the young person is likely to be and the intervention 
required is likely to be less intense and more cost effective. 

 
Determination as to whether a student has ALN - Triggers 
 
162. The majority of recent school leavers enrolling with FEIs will have had their 

ALN identified whilst at school.  FEIs should be involved in transition planning 
between the school and FEI, and between the FEI and other post-16 providers, 
so that they can understand the learner’s needs and prepare to meet those 
needs (see Chapter 17).   

 
163. FEIs will need to be particularly alert to the fact that the needs of young people 

change over time.  Some might no longer have ALN and, therefore, no longer 
require ALP; some might require a different form of ALP; and others might 
require ALP for the first time.  

 
164. All applicants and enrolled learners should be given the opportunity, either 

before or at entry, and at subsequent points, to declare whether they have a 
learning need, disability or medical condition that will affect their learning. If a 
learner does make a declaration, the FEI should discuss with the learner how 
they will provide support. Any screenings and assessments should be 
differentiated and proportionate to the likely level of ALN. 

 
165. Some learning needs may not become apparent until a learner has begun their 

programme of study.  Teaching staff should work with student support services 
to identify whether a learner’s difficulties are a result of ALN.  It should not be 
assumed that a learner has ALN just because they have lower attainment 
levels than the majority of their peers.  Equally it should not be assumed that 
learners working on higher level courses do not have ALN. 

 
166. The first response to inadequate progress, or progress which does not 

represent the individual student’s potential, should be high quality teaching 
targeted at their area or areas of weakness. FEIs should not delay in putting in 
place differentiated teaching or other targeted interventions designed to secure 
better progress, where appropriate, for all students. This is a fundamental 
element of high quality – but routine – teaching. That said, if the FEI considers 
that a learner may have ALN, it must make a determination of the matter 
(unless one of the exceptions applies – see above).  

 
167. FEIs should be alert to a range of factors which might affect the young person’s 

learning, such as housing, family and other domestic situations.  These might 
not result in ALN but may be a casual factor. 

 
168. Where it is determined that the student has ALN, section 19(3) of the Act 

confirms that the FEI must prepare and maintain an IDP. See Chapter 10-15 
for further information about IDPs. 

  

Tudalen 51



40 
 

Chapter 8: Decisions that a child or young person does not 
have ALN 
 

Summary 
 
This Chapter outlines the steps which must be taken when a decision is made that a 
child or young person does not have ALN. It also details what steps might be taken 
by the child, their parent, or young person to challenge such a decision. 
 

Maintained school decisions 
 
169. As explained in Chapters 6 and 7, a maintained school must decide whether a 

child or young person has ALN in accordance with section 9(1) of the Act. In 
some cases, the school will determine that the individual does not have ALN. In 
those circumstances, section 9(2) of the Act confirms that the school must 
notify the child and the child’s parent, or the young person, of the decision and 
the reasons for it.  

 
170. The notification should be made as soon as possible.   
 
171. As well as outlining the decision and the reasons for it, the notification should 

contain: 
 

 the name and contact details of the ALNCo in the school; 

 copies of  the relevant information and advice made available by the local 
authority or details of how to access it32; 

 details of the independent advocacy services available and of the relevant 
avoidance of disagreement service;  

 an outline of the right to contact their local authority to discuss the issue 
further. 

 
172. The notification should also contain an outline of what action the school will 

undertake to ensure the child or young person’s needs are met. This might 
include any strategies or facilities that form part of the differentiated classroom 
teaching which can be utilised. 

 
173. It might be helpful to offer an opportunity to the child and their parent, or the 

young person, to meet to discuss this further. 
 

Maintained school decisions – referrals to local authorities  
 
174. Where a child or their parent, or a young person, does not agree with a 

maintained school’s decision that they do not have ALN, they may initially wish 
to engage the independent advocacy services made available by the local 
authority, with the aim of resolving the issue at school level (see also Chapter 
20 for avoiding and resolving disagreements).  

 

                                            
32

 As per the duty on local authorities set out at section 7 of the Act. 

Tudalen 52



41 
 

175. Alternatively, the individual may wish to seek a decision on the issue from their 
local authority, pursuant to section 17 of the Act. In that circumstance, the local 
authority must make its own decision as to whether the child or young person 
has ALN33.  

 
176. Before the local authority makes this decision, it must inform the school and 

invite representations from it34.  
 
177. Local authorities should take into account all available information and obtain 

any further information necessary in order to take an informed decision. It may 
be that the local authority wishes to adopt the decision of the school as its own; 
it may be that the local authority takes a different view.  

 
178. If the local authority determines that the individual does not have ALN, section 

12(2) of the Act provides that the local authority must notify the child and the 
child’s parent, or the young person, of the decision and the reasons for it. The 
notification of the decision should also be sent to the relevant education 
institution. 

 
179. The notification should be made as soon as possible.   
 
180. As well as outlining the decision and the reason/s for it, the notification should 

contain: 
 

 the name and contact details of the relevant contact at the local authority; 

 copies of  the relevant information and advice made available by the local 
authority or details of how to access it35; 

 details of the independent advocacy services available and of the relevant 
avoidance of disagreement service; and 

 an outline of the right to appeal to the Education Tribunal against the 
decision. 

 
181. The notification should also contain an outline of what action the school and/or 

local authority will undertake to ensure the child or young person’s needs are 
met. This might include any strategies or facilities that form part of the 
differentiated classroom teaching which can be utilised. 

 
182. It might be helpful to offer an opportunity to the child, child’s parent or young 

person to meet to discuss this further.  
 
183. A local authority decision that an individual does not have ALN is appealable to 

the Education Tribunal – see Chapter 21. 

 
 
 
 

                                            
33

 Section 17(2) of the Act. 
34

 Section 17(3) of the Act. 
35

 As per the duty on local authorities set out at section 7 of the Act. 

Tudalen 53



42 
 

Local authorities – moderating groups for ALN decisions  
 

184. Local authorities may wish to set up moderating groups to support consistent 
and transparent decision making in relation to identification of ALN. Through 
sampling and retrospective comparison, moderating groups can help local 
authority practice become more robust and clearly understood by children, 
parents, young people and education institutions. Feedback and evidence 
gathered from professionals should feed into such moderation. 

 
185. The information established as a result of the moderating groups should 

contribute to understanding the needs of the children and young people in the 
area and should be used to consider how to continue to meet these needs. The 
lessons learned and decisions taken as a result of moderating groups should 
be shared with the education institutions in the local authority’s area. 

 
186. The lessons that are learned should also be used nationally to facilitate 

consistency across all regions. 
 

FEI decisions 
 
187. As explained in Chapters 6 and 7, an FEI must decide whether a young person 

has ALN in accordance with section 10 of the Act. In some cases, the FEI will 
determine that the individual does not have ALN. In those circumstances, the 
FEI must notify the young person of the decision and the reasons for it36.  

 
188. The notification should be made as soon as possible.   
 
189. As well as outlining the decision and the reason/s for it, the notification should 

contain: 
 

 the name and contact details of the ALNCo in the FEI; 

 copies of  the relevant information and advice made available by the local 
authority or details of how to access it37; 

 details of the independent advocacy services available and of the relevant 
avoidance of disagreement service; and 

 an outline of the right to appeal to the Education Tribunal against the 
decision. 

 
190. The notification should also contain an outline of what action the FEI will 

undertake to ensure the young person’s needs are met. This might include any 
strategies or facilities that form part of the differentiated classroom teaching 
which can be utilised. 

 
191. It might be helpful to offer an opportunity to the young person to meet to 

discuss this further. 
 

                                            
36

 Section 10(2) of the Act. 
37

 As per the duty on local authorities set out at section 7 of the Act. 

Tudalen 54



43 
 

192. An FEI decision that an individual does not have ALN is appealable to the 
Education Tribunal – see Chapter 21 for further information. 

 

  

Tudalen 55



44 
 

Chapter 9: Local authority involvement 
 

Summary 
 
193. This Chapter outlines the responsibilities of maintained schools, FEIs and local 

authorities in making decisions about ALN and IDPs. In particular, the Chapter 
sets out when local authorities might be required to make and review decisions 
in relation to ALN and IDPs, and the steps they should subsequently take.  

 
Introduction 
 
194. IDPs may be prepared and maintained by local authorities, maintained schools 

or FEIs depending on the circumstances.  
 
195. In most instances, where it is identified that a child or young person may have 

ALN, the maintained school or FEI which the child or young person attends will 
be responsible for deciding if the child or young person has ALN, and if so, 
putting an IDP in place.  

 
196. Local authorities will normally only make these decisions or prepare and 

maintain an IDP in instances where the child or young person’s needs are more 
severe or complex. 

 

ALN decisions – school and FEI referrals to local authorities  
 
197. Where a maintained school or FEI becomes aware that a child or young person 

may have ALN, it must determine whether or not that is the case38. 
 
198. There are limited circumstances in which this duty is disapplied (see Chapter 6 

for full detail). In particular, a school or FEI can refer a decision about whether 
or not a child or young person has ALN to the relevant local authority if it 
considers that: 

 

 deciding the matter is beyond the institutions’ capability; or 

 the child or young person is likely to have ALN that call for additional 
learning provision which it would not be reasonable for the institution itself 
to secure39.  

 
199. This situation might arise, for example, where the child or young person: 
 

 has a low incidence condition which requires specialism that the school or 
FEI cannot provide; 

 requires regular advice and support from external agencies; 

 requires equipment which can only be used by one child or young person /  
can not be reused / is beyond the reasonable resources of the school or 
FEI; or 

                                            
38

 Section 9(1) and 10(1) of the Act. 
39

 Section 11(1), (4) and (5) of the Act. 

Tudalen 56



45 
 

 requires very intensive daily support which can not be reasonably funded or 
secured by the school or FEI’s budget. 

 
200. Where a case is referred to a local authority in this way, the local authority’s 

duties under section 12 of the Act (set out in detail later in this Chapter) will 
apply.  

 
201. Where a school or FEI refers an ALN decision to the local authority, it should 

provide to the local authority any information it holds about the child or young 
person which would support the local authority’s determination of whether or 
not the child or young person has ALN. This includes any action already taken 
to meet the needs of the child or young person, such as any resources or 
special arrangements put in place. It would also include any existing reports or 
written advice from external agencies received. [Section 52 of the Act includes 
a power to make regulations about the disclosure and use of information, which 
will set out further detail on this topic in due course]. 

 

ALN decisions – local authorities’ general duties under section 12  
 
202. Local authorities may be required to decide whether or not a child or young 

person has ALN in other circumstances, without the need for a referral from an 
educational institution.  

 
203. In particular, section 12 of the Act states that, where it is brought to the 

attention of, or appears to, a local authority that a child or young person for 
whom it is responsible may have ALN, and an IDP is not being maintained for 
that person, the local authority must decide whether the individual has ALN 
(unless the exemptions below apply). This duty is broken down below. 

 
‘Brought to the attention of / appears to’ 

 
204. An individual’s case could be brought to the attention of a local authority in a 

number of ways. The below list of potential scenarios is not exhaustive: 
 

 A child or their parent, or a young person, has made a direct request to the 
local authority to reconsider a maintained school’s decision about ALN 
(section 17(1) and (2) of the Act). This provides children, their parents, and 
young people with an effective means of challenging the decision of a 
maintained school. See Chapter 9 for more information on the steps a local 
authority must take when considering such a request. 

 

 A non-maintained setting has alerted the local authority that they believe 
the child or young person has, or may have, ALN.  

 

 A relevant health body has formed the opinion that a child under 
compulsory school age has, or may have, ALN and brought it to the 
attention of the local authority (see Chapter 7 and section 48 of the Act). 

 

 A third party, for example a friend or family member, has alerted the local 
authority that they consider the child or young person may have ALN. 

Tudalen 57



46 
 

 
Individuals for whom the Local Authority is Responsible 
 
205. Section 55 of the Act determines when a local authority will be responsible for a 

child or young person. In the vast majority of cases, it will be very clear – a local 
authority will be responsible for a child or young person if they: 

 

 are ordinarily resident in the local authority’s area; or 

 have no ordinary residence, but are resident in the authority’s area for the 
time being40. 

 
206. This means that a school or FEI’s local authority area might be different to the 

local authority which is responsible for the child or young person. The Act 
includes provisions to ensure that local authorities work together in 
circumstances such as this (see, for example, sections 49 and 50). 

 
[The Act also includes a power to make regulations on when a local authority will be 
‘responsible’ for an individual for the purposes of the Act. It is intended that this 
power will be used to deal with more complex cases, for example, where a child 
attends a boarding school away from the ‘home’ local authority area.] 
 
Circumstances in which No Local Authority Decision is Required 
 
207. Section 13 of the Act confirms that the general duty on local authorities referred 

to above (that is, the duty under section 12(1) of the Act) will not apply where 
any of the following three circumstances exists: 

 

 Where the local authority is satisfied that the matter is already being 
decided by the education setting itself41. This exception ensures that there 
is no duplication of resource, and that a single decision follows. 

 

 Where the individual is a young person who does not consent to a decision 
being made42. 

 

 Where the local authority has previously decided the issue, is satisfied that 
the needs have not changed materially since that decision and there is no 
new information which might affect that decision43.  

 
208. However, where a child or their parent, or a young person, requests that a local 

authority reconsiders the decision of a maintained school regarding the 
existence of ALN under section 17 of the Act, the local authority must take a 
decision in every case – it cannot rely on the exceptions above. That local 
authority decision is then appealable to the Education Tribunal under section 
40(2)(a) of the Act. 

 

                                            
40

 Section 55 of the Act. 
41

 Section 13(2) of the Act. 
42

 Section 13(3) of the Act. 
43

 Section 13(4) of the Act. 

Tudalen 58



47 
 

The local authority decision on ALN – next steps 
 
209. Where the local authority decides that the child or young person does not have 

ALN it must notify the child and their parent, or the young person, of the 
decision and the reasons for that decision44. A local authority decision that a 
child or young person does not have ALN is appealable to the Education 
Tribunal – see Chapter 21. 

 
210. Where the local authority decides that a child or young person has ALN, the 

next steps will depend on the circumstances of the case, as set out below. 
 
Children and Young People Attending or to Attend a Maintained School 
 
211. Where a child or young person attends, or is to attend, a maintained school, 

and the local authority determines that they have ALN, the local authority must 
either: 

 

 prepare and maintain an IDP; 

 prepare an IDP and direct the school to maintain it; or 

 direct the school to both prepare and maintain an IDP45. 
 

212. A local authority might direct a maintained school to prepare, or prepare and 
maintain an IDP where they consider that it would be reasonable for the school 
to secure the ALP called for by the child or young person’s ALN. 

 
213. However, if the IDP includes board and lodging provision, the local authority 

must prepare and maintain it – it cannot direct a school to do so46. 
 
214. Further, if a decision of this type is taken following a reconsideration of a 

maintained school’s original decision (that is, the local authority has been asked 
to look at the matter by a child, their parent or a young person), the local 
authority decision will replace the maintained school’s decision47. 

 
Children Attending or to Attend a non-Maintained Setting 
 
215. Where a child attends, or is to attend, a non-maintained school, and the local 

authority determines that the individual has ALN, the local authority must 
prepare and maintain an IDP48.  

 
Young People Enrolled at an FEI 
 
216. Where a young person is enrolled as a student at an FEI, and a local authority 

determines that the individual has ALN, the local authority must prepare and 

                                            
44

 Sections 17(4) and 12(2) of the Act. 
45

 Section 12(3)(a) and (b), and 12(4) of the Act. 
46

 Section 12(5), (6) and (7) of the Act. 
47

 Section 17(5) of the Act. 
48

 Section 12(3)(a) and (4)(a) of the Act. 

Tudalen 59



48 
 

maintain an IDP49. That FEI will then have a legal duty to help the local 
authority under section 25 of the Act.  

 
Other Young People 
 
[Section 12(4) of the Act provides that the local authority must prepare and maintain 
an IDP for young people who are not enrolled as a student at an FEI where it 
considers this necessary in order to meet the individual’s reasonable needs for 
education or training. These decisions must be made in accordance with regulations 
made by the Welsh Ministers. The current intention is that the regulations will 
capture individuals with severe and/or complex needs that can only be met at an 
Independent Special Post-16 Institution. Further guidance on this will then be 
incorporated into the Code in due course.] 
 

Local authority reconsideration of maintained school IDPs 
 

217. Section 18 of the Act sets out the circumstances in which a local authority must 
reconsider an IDP put in place by the governing body of a maintained school in 
Wales. A child, child’s parent or young person may request that a local 
authority reconsiders an IDP, with a view to it being revised. This provides 
children, their parents and young people with an effective means of challenging 
the content of the IDP put in place for them by the school.     

 
218. Where such a request is made, the local authority must inform the school and 

invite representations from it before the local authority decides whether the IDP 
should be revised50.   

 
219. If the local authority determines that the IDP should not be revised, section 

18(4) of the Act confirms that the local authority must notify the child and the 
child’s parent, or the young person, of the decision and the reasons for it. 

 
220. If the local authority decides that the plan should be revised, it must prepare a 

revised plan and either:  
 

 direct the school to maintain the IDP; or  

 take over responsibility for maintaining the plan (see further below)51. 
 

221. The local authority should direct a maintained school to maintain the IDP where 
it considers that the content of the IDP can reasonably be expected to be 
delivered by the school. Where the provision of the IDP would be beyond the 
capability of the school, the local authority should take over responsibility for 
maintaining the plan.  

 
 
 
 

                                            
49

 Section 12(3)(b) and (4)(a) of the Act. 
50

 Section 18(3) of the Act. 
51

 Section 18(5) of the Act. 

Tudalen 60



49 
 

Local authority taking over responsibility for an IDP  
 

222. Section 19 of the Act allows both maintained schools and FEIs, as well as 
children, their parents and young people, to request that a local authority 
decide whether it should take over responsibility for an IDP that is currently 
being maintained by the educational institution.   

 
223. A school or FEI might request the local authority to take over responsibility for 

maintaining an IDP where, for example, the school or FEI believes that it would 
no longer be reasonable for them to secure the ALP called for by child or young 
person’s ALN.  

 
224. Alternatively, a child, child’s parent or young person might request the local 

authority to take over responsibility for an IDP where they do not believe the 
school or FEI has fully met their needs, or they believe they require further or 
alternative ALP.  

 
225. Where the school or FEI has requested that the local authority consider taking 

over responsibility for maintaining an IDP, the local authority must inform the 
child and their parent, or the young person, and invite representations52. Where 
the request is from a child, child’s parent or young person, the local authority 
must inform the school or FEI and invite representations53. These processes 
ensure that all parties with an interest in the issue are able to feed into the local 
authority’s decision. 

 
226. The local authority must then decide whether to take over responsibility for 

maintaining the plan.   
 
227. A local authority can also decide that it should take over responsibility for 

maintaining a plan when it determines that a plan should be revised (see above 
regarding revision of plans and section 18(5)(b) of the Act). 

 
228. A child and their parent, or young person, must be informed of any local 

authority decision on the issue, and given reasons for it54. 
 
229. Where a local authority decides not to take over responsibility, the child and/or 

their parent or the young person may appeal this decision to the Education 
Tribunal55. 

 
230. Where the local authority decides to take over responsibility, from the date of 

receiving notification, the school or FEI is no longer required to maintain the 
plan.  [Further detail on the technicalities of such notifications will be inserted 
into the Code in due course]. 

 
 

                                            
52

 Section 19(2) of the Act. 
53

 Section 19(3) of the Act. 
54

 Section 19(5) of the Act. 
55

 Section 40(2)(g) of the Act. 

Tudalen 61



50 
 

Local authority duty to keep ALP under review 
 
231. Section 45(1) of the Act confirms that a local authority must keep under review 

the arrangements made both by the authority, and by the governing bodies of 
the maintained schools in its area, for children and young people who have 
ALN.  

 
232. As part of their review, local authorities must consider the extent to which these 

arrangements are sufficient to meet the ALN of the children and young people 
for whom it is responsible. In doing so, it must also have regard to the ALP that 
may reasonably be arranged by others (such as heath bodies)56.  

 
233. In undertaking this review, the local authority must consult the persons/bodies 

it considers appropriate57. 
 
234. The review is not intended as a method for measuring or monitoring the quality 

of individual ALP. Instead, the review should enable local authorities to 
establish whether or not the overall ALP delivered in their area meets the 
overall need.  

 
235. The review will also enable local authorities to assess likely future need, plan 

for future provision requirements, consider commissioning plans in advance 
and provide maintained schools with an opportunity to have a say in how 
provision is planned. Reviews should support strategic decision making within 
the local authority on whether or not the authority has the correct type and 
capacity of provision to meet the needs of their population with ALN.  A review 
such as this might equip a local authority with information about, for example, 
the take up of specialist dyslexia services in their area and how well the current 
arrangements work, allowing the authority to consider whether there is a more 
efficient way of meeting those needs in the future. 

 

Local authority right of access to premises 
 

236. Section 50 of the Act gives local authorities a right of access to the premises of 
certain schools and other education institutions in specific circumstances.  

 
237. The right of access applies in relation to the following types of institutions: 

 

 an independent school in Wales or England; 

 a maintained school in the area of another local authority in Wales or 
England; 

 an institution within the FE sector in Wales or England; 

 an Academy; 

 a non-maintained special school; and 

 an Independent Special Post-16 Institution included in the list of such 
institutions maintained by the Welsh Government. 

 

                                            
56

 Section 45(2) of the Act. 
57

 Section 45(3) of the Act. 

Tudalen 62



51 
 

238. The following conditions apply: 
 

 the local authority must be maintaining an IDP for a child or young person 
registered / enrolled at the institution; 

 access is only permitted where it is necessary for the purpose of exercising 
the local authority’s functions under the Act (such as monitoring the delivery 
of provision set out in the IDP); 

 only persons authorised by the local authority may have access; and 

 the local authority may only have access at reasonable times.  

Tudalen 63



52 
 

Chapter 10: Mandatory content for IDPs 
 

Summary 
 
239. This Chapter sets out the mandatory content of IDPs, that is, the information 

which all IDPs must contain.  

 

The content of an IDP – general 
 
240. An IDP is intended to be a flexible document. However, it is important that all 

IDPs contain certain key elements. This will ensure broad consistency and 
equality in terms of the way that learners are treated and will underpin the 
cohesion of the ALN system as a whole and the portability of individual plans.  

 
241. Section 8 of the Act defines the term ‘Individual Development Plan’. It confirms 

that an IDP is a document which contains a description of the person’s ALN 
and a description of the ALP that the person’s learning difficulty or disability 
calls for. 

 
242. It is a legal requirement that an IDP must also contain certain other mandatory 

information, as well as the information referred to above. Details of this 
mandatory content are set out below58.  

 
Mandatory IDP content 

 
243. All IDPs must include the information set out below.  
 
244. Furthermore, the sentences in bold and underlined must be used as headings 

within the IDP. 
 
245. Words and expressions used in this Chapter are to be interpreted in line with 

the meaning of the Act59. 
 

246. Responsibility for the IDP 
 

i. The name of the school, FEI or local authority responsible for maintaining 
the IDP; 

ii. The name of an individual to act as a main point of contact at the school, 
FEI or local authority responsible for maintaining the IDP; and 

iii. The name of the school, FEI or local authority which prepared the IDP (if 
different to the body currently maintaining it).  

 

                                            
58

 This content is made mandatory pursuant to sections 8(c) of the Act (which confirms that an IDP 
must also contain any other information required or authorised by or under the Act) and 4(b) of the Act 
(which permits the Code to impose legal requirements in respect of the content of IDPs). 
59

 Section 11 of the Interpretation Act 1978 states: “Where an Act confers power to make subordinate 
legislation, expressions used in that legislation have, unless the contrary intention appears, the 
meaning which they bear in the Act.” 

Tudalen 64



53 
 

247. Basic biographical information 
 

i. The child or young person’s full name;  
ii. The child or young person’s date of birth; 
iii. If the child or young person attends an education setting, the name of that 

setting;  
iv. The child or young person’s home address;  
v. The language spoken at home by the child or young person;  
vi. Where a child is looked after by a local authority60, that fact; 
vii. The name of the local authority with parental responsibility for the child, 

where the child is a looked after by a local authority61;  
viii. Where a child or young person is a person formerly looked after by a local 

authority62, that fact; 
ix. The address(es) of the parent(s) of a child; 
x. The contact telephone number(s) of the parent(s) of a child (where 

available); 
xi. The contact email address(es) of the parent(s) of a child (where 

available); 
xii. The following information, where a young person has consented to its 

inclusion: 
a. The address(es) of the parent(s) of the young person; 
b. The contact telephone number(s) of the parent(s) of the young person 

(where available); and 
c. The contact email address(es) of the parent(s) of the young 

person(where available). 
xiii. The name of the local authority with responsibility for the child or young 

person as defined in the Act63. 
 
248. The views, wishes and feelings of the child or young person 

 
i. A summary of the information about the child or young person’s views, 

wishes and feelings gathered by the school, FEI or local authority when 
preparing the IDP in pursuance of their duties under section 6 of the Act.  

 
249. Record of information used to develop the IDP 

 
i. A record of discussions at meetings held in relation to the development of 

the IDP; 
ii. Any written advice or evidence reviewed by the school, FEI or local 

authority when preparing the IDP; and 
iii. The name, job title, organisation and contact details of anyone who 

contributed to the development of the IDP, and whether their contribution 
was made at a meeting or via a written submission. 
  

250. Description of the child or young person’s ALN 
 

                                            
60

 within the meaning of section 56(3) of the Act. 
61

 within the meaning of section 56(3) of the Act. 
62

 within the meaning of section 56(3) of the Act. 
63

 within the meaning of section 55 of the Act. 

Tudalen 65



54 
 

i. A description of the child or young person’s ALN. 
   
251. Description and delivery of the child or young person’s ALP 

 
i. The following information for each separate element of ALP that is 

recorded: 
 

o a description of the ALP to be provided; 
o the organisation to provide the ALP; 
o the name and job title of a contact at the providing organisation; 
o details of how regularly the ALP is to be provided (which may include, 

for example, confirmation that it will be provided daily, at weekends, 
school days only or once each term);  

o the date from which the ALP will be provided; 
o the date until which the ALP will be provided (where an end date is 

set); and 
o the name of the body that is to be responsible for funding the ALP. 

 
ii. Details of any disapplication of the National Curriculum; 
iii. Any special examination provision required to enable the child or young 

person to have full access to the examination in order to demonstrate their 
attainment; and 

iv. The name of any school named by the local authority for the purpose of 
securing admission to it, pursuant to section 26 of the Act.  

 
252. Intended outcomes 

 
i. A record of the outcomes intended to result from the provision of the ALP 

described in the IDP.  
 

253. Reasons for decisions made  
 
i. The reasons for: 

 
a.  deciding that the child or young person has ALN;  
b. the description of ALN included in the IDP; and  
c. the description of the ALP included in the IDP. 

 
ii. Where a school is named for the purpose of securing admission to it 

pursuant to section 26 of the Act, the reasons for that decision (see 
Chapter 15); and 

iii. Where a school is not named for the purpose of securing admission to it 
pursuant to section 26 of the Act, despite a request from the child or parent 
to do so, the reasons for that decision. 

 
254. Timeline of key events 

 
i. A summary of key events in the child or young person’s life, which are 

important to them or relevant to their ALN. This must include: 
 

Tudalen 66



55 
 

a. the date of the next proposed IDP meeting – the month and year is 
sufficient, but the full date must be included if known; 

b. the date by which the IDP must be reviewed pursuant to section 15 of 
the Act; 

c. a record of the dates and organiser of each previous IDP meeting; and  
d. a record of early years settings/education settings attended since their 

first IDP.  
 

ii. The IDP must be dated and authenticated by the signature of an individual 
authorised to do so on behalf of the school, FEI or local authority that 
prepared the IDP. 

  

Tudalen 67



56 
 

Chapter 11: Guidance on IDP content 
 
255. This Chapter sets out guidance on the content of IDPs. In particular, it gives 

guidance on:  
 

 the mandatory IDP content set out in Chapter 10; and 

 further information which should be routinely incorporated into an IDP. 
 

256. This Chapter gives guidance where needed, but does not repeat the mandatory 
IDP content set out in Chapter 10 in full - practitioners should refer to that 
Chapter directly when preparing an IDP. 

 
257. Relevant persons are required to follow this statutory guidance unless they can 

demonstrate if challenged that they are justified in not doing so. Therefore,  
where this Chapter suggests a particular piece of information ‘should’ be 
included in an IDP, a body or institution preparing one is required to ensure it is 
included, unless they are justified in not doing so.  

 
258. It is open to those drafting IDPs to include any other information in the IDP that 

they deem is relevant and appropriate for inclusion. 
 

The purpose of an IDP 
 
259. The purpose of an IDP is to provide a record of both the ALN, which acts as a 

barrier to a child or young person achieving their educational potential, and the 
ALP, which is necessary to overcome or mitigate that barrier. The IDP also sets 
out what was discussed and agreed throughout the process of creating the IDP 
and also provides a record against which a child or young person’s progress 
can be monitored and reviewed. The school, FEI or local authority responsible 
for maintaining an IDP must ensure that the ALP set out in it is secured (see 
sections 9(6), 10(5) and 12(9) of the Act). Those responsible for maintaining an 
IDP should be mindful that the IDP only has any value if it results in the 
successful implementation of provision that meets the needs of the child or 
young person. 

 
260. The content of an IDP should be: 

 

 created by agencies and professionals working together to identity and 
provide for the child or young person’s ALN; 

 developed on a flexible, person-centred basis that reflects the needs of the 
child or young person; 

 written in a style that reflects that it is the child or young person’s plan and 
not simply part of the administrative process. The style and, whenever 
possible, the language should reflect the age of the child or young person; 

 written in plain Welsh or English, avoiding the use of jargon and explaining 
the relevance of any technical terminology that needs to be included; and 

 reviewed at appropriate intervals, in line with section 15 of the Act and 
Chapter 16 of this Code. 

 

Tudalen 68



57 
 

261. A child or young person with less severe or complex needs is likely to have a 
simpler (and therefore shorter) IDP than a child or young person with more 
severe or complex needs, whose IDP may contain contributions from a wide 
range of agencies and detail a much wider range of interventions. 

 

Basic biographical information 
 
262. The purpose of including biographical information is to ensure that accurate 

and consistent information is available across all agencies involved in 
supporting the child or young person.  

 
263. This information is usually maintained within an education organisation’s 

management information system and it is expected that the biographical 
information for the IDP would be supplied as a report from such systems. 

  
264. In addition to the mandatory requirements, the IDP should also include any 

communication and/or access requirements relevant to the child, young person 
or their families, which may require consideration in order to facilitate their 
attendance or participation at any IDP meetings. A summary of how to 
communicate more generally with the child or young person and engage them 
in decision-making might also be useful. 

 
265. Where of use, the IDP should also include the child or young person’s Unique 

Learner Number (ULN) if allocated. Practitioners will wish to note that the ULN 
is not the same as the Unique Pupil Number.  

 
266. Paragraph 247 requires the name of the local authority with responsibility for 

the child or young person to be included in an IDP as part of the basic 
biographical information recorded.  See paragraphs 205-206 of Chapter 9 for 
more information about local authority responsibility (which is largely dependant 
on the ordinary residence of the child or young person). 

 
Views, wishes and feelings of the child or young person 
 
267. The IDP must include a summary of the information about child or young 

person’s views, wishes and feelings gathered by the school, FEI or local 
authority64.  These could include their aspirations about, for example, education 
and career, independent living and community participation.  

 
268. It might also include details about play, health, independence, the people that 

the child or young person considers important to them (family, friends or paid 
staff), friendships, or anything else the child or young person considers 
important. 

 
269. If written in the first person, the plan should make clear whether the child or 

young person is being quoted directly, either from something they have said or 
written. 

 

                                            
64

 Paragraph 248 of Chapter 10. 

Tudalen 69



58 
 

One-Page Profiles 
 
270. One way of having regard to the views, wishes and feelings of the child or 

young person is through the creation of a one-page profile.  
 
271. Such profiles provide key information about a child or young person in a format 

that can be quickly shared and understood.  They describe a child or young 
person’s character, their gifts and talents, what is important to them, and the 
best way to support them. 

 
272. One-page profiles are developed and revised with the active involvement of the 

child or young person to ensure that their voice is heard. They provide a 
positive rounded picture of their interests and outline what is important both to 
and for the child or young person. For children of compulsory school age, 
parents might be involved in developing one-page profiles and, for very young 
children, parents will provide the information about the child’s interests and 
support needs.  

 
273. A good one-page profile would include what: 

 

 others value, admire and appreciate about the child or young person;  

 is important to the child or young person from their own point of view; and  

 is objectively important for the child or young person. 
 

274. There is no one way to develop and present a one-page profile and the style 
and language should reflect the individuality of the child or young person. 
However, for a profile to operate effectively, it is important that everything 
included within it is accurate, clear and easy to read.  It should focus on the 
positives and be short and specific, yet include enough detail so that anyone 
can use the information straight away. 

 
Record of information used to develop an IDP  
 
275. The IDP must include a record of discussions held in relation to the 

development of the IDP. This need not be a verbatim record; rather a note of 
what was discussed and by whom.  The IDP must also include any written 
advice or evidence reviewed by the school, FEI or local authority when 
preparing the IDP65. This would include reports and assessments undertaken 
by the school, FEI or local authority responsible for the IDP and by other 
agencies or professionals, such as relevant health and social care reports. The 
full report(s) can be provided in an annex.  

 
276. For those IDPs which have been in existence for some time, it would also 

include information arising from the monitoring of the ALP, including analysis of 
whether the ALP detailed has led to the intended outcomes.  

 

                                            
65

 Paragraph 249 of Chapter 10. 

Tudalen 70

http://www.helensandersonassociates.co.uk/media/71301/how%20to%20opp.bmp


59 
 

277. It may be helpful if the information gathered is organised under the headings:  
 

 What is important to the learner; 

 What is important for the learner; 

 What is working and should be built on; 

 What is not working and needs to change; and 

 Priorities.  
 

278. Any information provided by or arising from discussion of any presentation or 
video shown at the IDP meeting, by or on behalf of the child or young person, 
could also be included under these headings. 

 
279. Where professionals, children, children’s parents or young people have 

different opinions, these should be recorded. This should be recorded using 
generic terms such as parents, or teachers. Specific names or titles should be 
used if only if the individual that holds that view wishes it to be recorded as 
such. The ‘Reasons for Decisions Made’ section of the IDP should be used to 
explain in clear language how these different opinions have been taken into 
consideration to arrive at any decisions, for example about the ALP.  

 
280. Where parents have secured advice from professionals directly, this should be 

clearly recorded and can be provided in an annex. 
 
281. The name, job title, organisation and contact details of individuals who were 

invited to attend a meeting and/or contribute to the preparation of an IDP 
should also be recorded. 

 

A description of the child or young person’s ALN  
 
282.  An IDP must contain a description of the child or young person’s ALN66. This 

should be as clear and comprehensive as possible and include the impact of 
the need on the child or young person’s learning in as much detail as possible. 
Where there is a relevant diagnosis this should be included as part of the 
description. Those responsible for drafting the IDP should ensure that they do 
not confuse the description of ALN with the ALP necessary to meet those 
needs. 

 

Description and delivery of the child or young person’s ALP 
 
283. The information required by 251 of Chapter 10 should be written without jargon, 

in plain language so that all who attend the meeting, including the child or 
young person, can understand it.  

 
284. The ALP recorded in accordance with paragraph 251 of Chapter 10 could 

include a range of activities or types of support, for instance: 
 

 a professional providing a strategy or training to deliver the ALP to other 
professionals with a day-to-day role with the child or young person; or  

                                            
66

 Section 8 of the Act, and paragraph 250 of Chapter 10. 

Tudalen 71



60 
 

 guidance or support provided by the education setting or others, for the 
child, child’s parent or young person themselves. 

 
285. The ALP which best meets the ALN of the child or young person may be 

different depending on the type of institution they attend. For instance, the 
provision that a special school provides might be different to that which a 
mainstream school provides because of the different way that a special school 
is organised. 

 
286. The information recorded in relation to ALP will be more useful the clearer it is. 

This clarity might result from describing the specific tasks or actions that will be 
undertaken; it could also detail the training or qualifications any staff will 
require. Simply stating that support will be provided will not meet the need for 
clarity; describing the tasks  any learning support workers will undertake or 
facilitate, what they will be responsible for, and, if necessary, what qualifications 
or training they will require, is more useful. Where specialist equipment is 
needed, consideration should be given to any ongoing maintenance or 
updates, which might helpfully be recorded.    

 
287. The detailed ALP information included in the IDP pursuant to paragraph 251 of 

Chapter 10 will have been agreed by those responsible for its delivery and 
funding before it is included.  The detail included should reflect the agreement 
reached. For example, where a child or young person requires speech and 
language therapy, details such as ‘x numbers of sessions of speech and 
language therapy will be provided’ should only be included with the agreement 
of the service provider.  

 
288. In order to determine the progress towards achieving the intended outcome(s), 

it may be necessary to set interim targets and to monitor the impact of the ALP 
on the child or young person’s progress. This could include a continual process 
of tracking and, where necessary, set out details of any assessment that will 
take place in the educational setting on a regular basis. Any concerns raised as 
a result of this monitoring might lead to a review of the IDP as a whole (see 
Chapter 16).  

 
289. Schools, FEIs and local authorities must not require a child, parent or young 

person to pay for any provision that they are required to secure for the child or 
young person under the Act67.  

 
Intended outcomes 
 
290. The IDP must include a record of the outcomes intended to result from the 

provision of the ALP described in the IDP68. 
 
291. These should have a strong focus on the aspirations of the child and their 

parents or the young person.     
 

                                            
67

 Section 27 of the Act. 
68

 Paragraph 252of Chapter 10. 

Tudalen 72



61 
 

292. A good outcome would include: 
 

 building on something that is working well; or 

 changing something that does not work well; and 

 moving the learner towards their future aspirations. 
 

293. The intended outcomes should focus on enabling children and young people to 
move towards long-term aspirations, be they employment or further or higher 
education, independent living and/or community participation. IDPs can also 
include outcomes with a wider focus, such as positive social relationships and 
emotional resilience and stability.  

 
294. For some children and young people, an intended outcome can be about 

minimising the impact of impairment on their learning. 
 
295. When agreeing intended outcomes, it is essential to consider what is important 

to the child or young person and what they want to achieve. What is important 
for them as judged by others with the child or young person’s best interests in 
mind and relevant experience and/or qualifications should also be considered.  

 
296. All intended outcomes detailed in the IDP should be drafted in such a way that 

it is possible to measure whether they have been successfully achieved, as well 
as being realistic and challenging. This should be done by making outcomes 
“SMART” (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Time-bound).   

 
297. Intended outcomes should be set to challenge.  A suitable outcome for the child 

or young person will depend on their current level and their potential within a 
given time. The table below gives some examples of what to aim for and what 
to avoid when developing outcomes: 

 
 
 
 

What to aim for What to avoid and why 

To be able to write my name so 
that I can write my own 
Christmas cards this year. 

To be able to form letters correctly. 

 

This has no meaning for a child and is also 
not specific enough or measurable.  Being 
able to write your name gives focus and 
meaning and the link to Christmas cards 
provides interest and a timescale. 

To learn the skills to get a paid 
job working with cars, working 
at least 16hrs per week. 

Go to college to do a car mechanics 
course.  

 

This is an example of provision, not an 

Tudalen 73



62 
 

outcome.  The purpose of going to college is 
to get paid work; it is not an end in itself. 

To feel confident to catch the 
bus to school with my friend, 
and know how to get support if 
I need to, before the summer 
holiday. 

 

 

To develop independent living skills. 

 

This is too broad, making it hard to 
measure.  It does not reflect the kind of 
person the young person is or wants to be, 
which is to be confident. It also does not set 
the context of the goal, which is travelling to 
school with a friend.  

 
Timeline of key events  
 
298. The IDP must include a summary of key events in the child or young person’s 

life69. 
 
299. Where a child or young person’s support is being provided solely by their 

education setting, this summary may only consist of actual and proposed dates 
of IDP meetings, and dates relating to arriving at or leaving education settings. 
The key is to ensure that the timeline includes all events that are significant and 
relevant to understanding the child or young person’s ALN and planning the 
necessary ALP.  

 
300. Examples of such events include: 
 

 a referral for assessment/examination by a professional, for example a 
referral to a Speech and Language service; 

 a screening test that resulted in identifying the child or young person was or 
was not dyslexic;  

 a test/observation by an Educational Psychologist or any other 
professional; 

 a diagnosis of a condition such as Autistic Spectrum Disorder;  

 an illness; or  

 a bereavement. 
 

301. The events do not need to be recorded in detail, but the following information 
should be noted: 

 

 an indicator of what happened or the nature of the event; 

 the organisation/service/individual responsible for the event, such as a 
diagnosis or undertaking a screening or test, where appropriate; and 

 the date of event. 
 

                                            
69

 Paragraph 254 of Chapter 10. 

Tudalen 74



63 
 

302. Events that occurred prior to the development of the first IDP should also be 
included where they relate to the child or young person’s ALN and required 
ALP.   

 
303. The summary should be continued from one IDP to another, even if IDPs are 

discontinued for a time.  There should be no need to start from scratch each 
time the IDP is reviewed. A copy or snapshot of the summary, as it exists when 
each IDP is agreed, should be kept as part of each new IDP. 
  

Tudalen 75



64 
 

Chapter 12: Preparing an IDP 
 

Summary 
 
304. This Chapter outlines the process in respect of preparing an IDP. The Chapter 

sets mandatory duties and provides guidance in relation to the parties involved 
in development of an IDP, IDP meetings and timescales and disclosure of 
IDPs. This should be read in conjunction with Chapters 10 and 11, which deal 
with the content of IDPs.  

 

Preparing an IDP – considerations in all cases 
 
Involving children, young people and parents in preparing an IDP  
 
305. Chapter 4 describes the duty to involve children, their parents and young 

people in decisions that affect them, which is provided for in section 6 of the 
Act, by having regard to their views, wishes and feelings and by providing them 
with the information and support necessary to enable participation in those 
decisions. 

 
306. Putting the child or young person at the heart of the process that identifies their 

ALN and determines their ALP is fundamental to the system of legislative 
support set out in the Act.  The child, child parents or young person must be 
invited to participate in the IDP process and any meetings where the child or 
young person’s ALN or IDP is being discussed. 

 
307. To ensure the child or young person is actively involved in planning the support 

for their ALN, the school, FEI or local authority responsible for preparing an IDP 
should: 

 

 take a person-centred approach to the gathering and presentation of 
information; and  

 both develop and revise an IDP at an IDP meeting run using a person-
centred approach.  

 
[Subject to engagement with stakeholders, it is expected that more detail and best 
practice examples in relation to person-centred practice will be inserted into the 
Code.] 

 
308. The Welsh Government has published a range of resources to support 

practitioners in using person-centred practice approaches, which are available 
on the Learning Wales website. 

 
Developing as a Person-centred Organisation: a self-assessment tool & 
practical steps for progress  
(http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/developing-as-a-person-
centred-organisation/?lang=en) 
 

Tudalen 76

http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/developing-as-a-person-centred-organisation/?lang=en
http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/developing-as-a-person-centred-organisation/?lang=en


65 
 

Person-centred Reviews toolkit: a guide for early years, schools and colleges in 
Wales  
(http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/person-centred-reviews-
toolkit/?lang=en) 

 
Further guidance entitled Person-centred Practice in Education: a guide for 
early years, schools and colleges in Wales, is expected to be published in the 
Resource library of the Learning Wales website in the near future. 
  

Participating in the meeting to prepare the IDP  
 
309. Not everyone who works with the child or young person needs to be at the 

meeting where the IDP is prepared; what is crucial is that all those able to 
contribute relevant information to inform the IDP’s preparation do so. 
Contributions to the meeting should cover all the aspects of the child or young 
person’s ALN, whether made in person at the meeting or in writing prior to the 
meeting.  

 
310. As outlined in Chapter 11, it is useful if the information is organised under the 

headings of: 
 

 what is important to the learner; 

 what is important for the learner; 

 what is working and should be built on; 

 what is not working and requires change; and 

 priorities. 
 
311. For some children or young people the IDP planning meeting could be very 

small. For example, for a child under 16, it might include only the ALNCo, the 
child and their parent(s). A meeting for a young person over 16 might include 
just the ALNCo and the young person if they do not wish their parent(s) to 
attend.  

 
312. A larger number of professionals would only need to attend the meeting where 

contributions are required from a wide range of agencies (see below for 
information regarding the preparation of more complex IDPs).   

 
313. Agencies and professionals should be invited to meetings and reviews as soon 

as possible to ensure they have sufficient notice to make themselves available 
to provide advice in good time or to attend meetings.  

 
314. Advice should be provided to professionals on the format of the IDP meeting 

and on how they will be able to contribute, either by attending the meeting or 
providing a written contribution.  This information should be provided with any 
request for participation.   

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 77

http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/person-centred-reviews-toolkit/?lang=en
http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/person-centred-reviews-toolkit/?lang=en


66 
 

Timescales 
 
Timescales for preparing an IDP 
 

[Subject to engagement with stakeholders, further detail on the timescales for 
preparing an IDP, which is a complicated and technical matter, will be inserted in the 
Code. The following information, therefore, sets out our initial assumptions as 
regarding timescales.] 

 
315. When a school or FEI considers that a child or young person has ALN and 

requires an IDP, an initial IDP must be prepared within 7 weeks. An initial 
meeting with the child, child’s parent or young person should be established 
quickly, as this is included within the 7 week timeframe. It should be borne in 
mind that the IDP is a working document and the child or young person’s 
needs and progress will be constantly evaluated.  An action point of the 
meeting might be to request the input of other agencies and professionals, 
including the local authority, where it is felt to be necessary.  

 
316. If it is not possible to meet the child or child’s parent within the 7 weeks and it is 

still considered that the child or young person has ALN then, to prevent 
unnecessary delay in putting in place the support the learner needs, an IDP 
must be established within the time limits and a meeting organised to discuss 
with the child and the child’s parent as soon as possible thereafter.  

 
317. In the context of a young person, an IDP cannot be established until their 

consent has been sought and obtained to allow a decision to be made about 
whether they have ALN70.  

 
318. Where a school or FEI decides that the matter needs to be referred to the local 

authority – either to make a determination as to whether or not the child or 
young person has ALN, or because it is felt that the child or young person is 
likely to have ALN that calls for ALP it would not be reasonable for the 
governing body to secure – the local authority must respond within 1 week to 
acknowledge the request.  

 
319. Following this request, the local authority has 10 weeks to: 
 

 determine if the child or young person has ALN and prepare and maintain 
an IDP for that child or young person; 

 determine if the child or young person has ALN and, where the child or 
young person attends a maintained school, prepare an IDP and direct the 
school to maintain the plan; 

 determine if the child or young person has ALN and, where the child or 
young person attends a maintained school, direct the school to prepare and 
maintain the plan; or 

 determine if the child or young person does not have ALN. 
 

                                            
70

 See section 11 of the Act – circumstances in which section 9 and 10 duties do not apply. 

Tudalen 78



67 
 

320. At the end of the 10 week period there may be some outstanding reports, 
where these have been requested.  This must not stop the local authority from 
determining if the child or young person has ALN and preparing and 
maintaining an IDP or, if the child or young person attends a mainstream 
school, directing the maintained school to prepare or prepare and maintain an 
IDP. The IDP will need to be reviewed once any outstanding reports have been 
finalised.  [This proposed aspect of the process requires further consideration, 
which will be developed with stakeholders and inserted into the Code in due 
course.]  

 
321. Where staff at a non-maintained setting consider that a child or young person 

may have ALN, it is open to them to contact the local authority to determine 
whether the child has ALN (though staff should usually discuss any concerns 
with the parents first) (see Chapter 7).  The local authority must respond within 
1 week to acknowledge the referral. The local authority has 10 weeks to 
determine whether the child or young person has ALN and, if so, to put in place 
an IDP.  If the local authority requires input from other agencies, this should be 
requested as soon as possible, but must not prevent an IDP from being put in 
place within the 10 week timeframe. The IDP can then be updated following 
receipt of any subsequent evidence. 

 
Children under compulsory school age 
 
322. A local authority may be made aware that a child under compulsory school age, 

who does not attend an education setting of any kind, has, or probably has, 
ALN via a number of possible routes, for example, a referral from a health 
professional, social worker or parent.  In these instances, the local authority 
must respond within 1 week to acknowledge the referral. The local authority 
then has 7 weeks to determine whether the child has ALN and, if so, to put in 
place an initial IDP. If the local authority requires input from other agencies, this 
should be requested as soon as possible but must not prevent an interim IDP 
from being put in place within the 7 week timeframe. The IDP can then be 
updated following receipt of any subsequent evidence. 

 
Finalising an IDP 
 
Duty to provide a final copy of an IDP to parties 
 
323. After preparing an IDP the school, FEI or local authority must send the IDP to 

the child, child’s parent or the young person, and anyone else who attended the 
IDP preparation meeting.  Where the local authority has reconsidered and 
revised the IDP, it must send the revised IDP on to the child, child parent or 
young person, along with the school or FEI the child or young person attends.71 

 
324. This provides an opportunity to comment on the IDP and check that it 

accurately reflects the meeting. If anyone believes that the IDP is not an 
accurate reflection of what was discussed or agreed at the meeting, they 
should inform the organisation responsible for preparing the IDP as early as 

                                            
71

 Sections 9(5), 10(4), 12(8), 18(8) of the Act. 

Tudalen 79



68 
 

possible. If any comments are made, the school, FEI or local authority 
responsible for preparing the IDP must consider the comments and, if it 
believes it necessary, the IDP must be updated as quickly as possible in order 
to meet the prescribed timescales, and shared as required. If the school, FEI or 
local authority does not consider the IDP should be updated, it should provide 
reasons for that decision. 

 
325. When changes are suggested by the child, child’s parents or young person to 

the proposed IDP and agreed by the school, FEI or local authority responsible 
for preparing it, every effort should be made to ensure that the child, child’s 
parent or the young person, and the relevant professionals, understand the 
significance of any such changes and the nature of the ALP that is proposed.  

 
326. The school, FEI or local authority responsible for preparing the IDP must send 

the child, child’s parent or young person notification of the local authority’s 
information, advice, independent advocacy, avoidance of disagreements and 
disagreement resolution services. 

 

Disclosure of an IDP 
 

[Section 52 of the Act allows for regulations to be made about the disclosure and use 
of information gathered during the course of preparing an IDP. Following 
engagement with stakeholders and work to develop those regulations, further 
information will be inserted into the Code.] 
 
  

Tudalen 80



69 
 

Chapter 13: Preparing an IDP – multi-agency working 
 

Summary 
 
327. This Chapter sets mandatory duties and provides guidance in relation to multi-

agency working in the context of preparing an IDP and is particularly relevant in 
more severe and complex cases. This should be read in conjunction with 
Chapters 10 and 11, which deal with the content of IDPs.  

 

Multi-agency working 
 

328. A key principle of this Code is that all those involved in providing support to 
children and young people with ALN should work together in the best interests 
of the child or young person (see Chapter 2).  All professionals involved in 
supporting the needs of the child or young person should support the principles 
of person-centred practice.  

 
329. Some children or young people with ALN will only need the support provided or 

managed by their education setting. When this is the case, there is no 
requirement to include other professionals or the local authority in the 
development of the IDP, or its day-to-day operation.    

 
330. In other, more complex, cases, ensuring the needs of a child or young person 

are met might require the input and support of different agencies coming 
together to provide a comprehensive package of support.  External support 
services can help education providers by providing: 

 

 advice on IDPs and targets;  

 more specialist assessments; 

 advice on the use of new or specialist strategies or materials; and  

 in some cases, support for particular activities.  
 

331. If there is an identified lack of expertise amongst the staff in a mainstream 
school or FEI, then the school or FEI should consider seeking external advice. 

 
332. After deciding that a child or young person may have ALN, the body 

responsible for preparing an IDP (see Chapter 7 and Chapter 9)  must consider 
whether input from external agencies or other suitably qualified professionals is 
required. The level of engagement and advice needed from different agencies 
and professionals will vary, depending on the nature of the child or young 
person’s needs and circumstances. It might include, for example: 

 

 educational advice and information from the head teacher or principal of an 
early years setting, school, post-16 setting or other institution attended by 
the child or young person;  

 consultation with a person who is qualified to teach children or young 
people with specific impairments, for example, with a vision and/or hearing 
impairment;  

Tudalen 81



70 
 

 medical advice and information from health care professionals with a role in 
relation to the child or young person’s health;  

 psychological advice and information from an educational psychologist, 
who should  normally be provided by the local authority where a child 
attends a maintained school, and who should consult any other 
psychologists known to be involved with the child or young person;  

 social care advice and information from or on behalf of a local authority, if 
they are involved with the child or young person; 

 in the case of a looked after child – the authority that looks after the child,  
LACE Co-ordinator, designated member of staff, and, if appropriate, 
designated health professional;  

 specialist careers advice to assist the child or young person in preparation 
for further learning, adulthood and independent living; 

 advice from a youth offending team, where the child or young person is 
detained in a Young Offender Institution, or where the young person is 
serving their sentence in the community (Chapter 22); and  

 in the case of children of members of the Armed Forces, advice should be 
sought from the Children’s Education Advisory Service where appropriate 
(Chapter 22). 

 
333. The body responsible for preparing an IDP should check with the child, child’s 

parents or young person to find out if there are any professionals already 
working with the child or young person, or whether there are any other 
professionals or persons that they believe should be consulted. This 
consultation should be undertaken as soon as possible to allow sufficient notice 
and time for their input. 

 
334. Any agency which deals with a child or young person with ALN (or which forms 

the opinion that they may have ALN) should be invited to contribute to 
developing and updating an IDP.  

 
335. When professionals from external agencies are included, they should be 

suitably qualified and, whenever possible, authorised to make decisions and be 
accountable for those decisions. 

 
336. If the organisation responsible for leading the preparation of the IDP considers 

it necessary to involve other agencies, the school, FEI or local authority must 
inform the child, child’s parents or young person that advice has been sought 
from external agencies, and as part of the process of putting together all the 
relevant advice, the child or young person may be called for an examination or 
assessment. If their child is to be examined or assessed, parents must be 
informed of their right to be present with their child at any interview, test, 
medical or other assessment that is being conducted and must  be told of the 
time, place and purpose of appointments.  Parents should be advised that, 
whilst it is their right to be present, in certain circumstances it may be unhelpful 
and potentially a hindrance to the process.  For instance, where a classroom 
observation is carried out as part of the assessment, a child will behave 
differently if their parents are present, which would negate the purpose of the 
observation.   

 

Tudalen 82



71 
 

337. External support services, provided by both the local authority and outside 
agencies, will see the child or young person in their education setting if 
appropriate and practicable. External support services can provide advice in 
preparing IDPs, undertake more specialist assessments that can inform 
planning and the measurement of a learner’s progress, setting targets and 
accompanying strategies, advise on the use of new or specialist strategies or 
materials, and in some cases, provide support for particular activities. The kinds 
of advice and support available to institutions will vary according to local 
policies. 

 

Statutory requests by local authorities for help or for information 
from other public bodies 
 
338. Section 49 of the Act provides that a local authority in Wales may request 

information or help from other bodies, which it requires for the purpose of 
exercising its functions under the Act. 

 
339. These bodies/persons are: 

 

 another local authority; 

 a local authority in England; 

 the governing body of a maintained school in Wales or England; 

 the governing body of an institution in the FE sector in Wales or England; 

 an Academy; 

 a youth offending team for an area in Wales or England; 

 the person in charge of any relevant youth accommodation in Wales or 
England; 

 a Health Board; 

 a NHS Trust; 

 the National Health Service Commissioning Board; 

 a clinical commissioning group; and 

 a NHS Foundation Trust. 
   
340. These bodies must comply with the requests unless doing so would be 

incompatible with the bodies other duties or would have an adverse effect on 
the exercise of their functions. 

 
341. If the body decides not to comply with the request from the local authority for 

information or help because it believes it would be incompatible with their other 
duties or would have an adverse effect on the exercise of their functions, the 
Act provides that they must write to the local authority providing reasons for 
their decision. 

 
342. Where a school or FEI is preparing the IDP, but is not able to obtain the help or 

information they require from relevant public bodies, they should notify the local 
authority.  The local authority may need to take over responsibility for the 
preparation of the IDP and then seek information from the relevant public body 
using its statutory powers. 

 

Tudalen 83



72 
 

ALP to be secured by Health Boards and NHS Trusts 
 
343. Where the school, FEI or local authority preparing an IDP believes that the child 

or young person requires the input of a health professional, under section 14 of 
the Act, they must seek it, following the relevant referral processes. 

 
344. If a HB or NHS Trust in Wales agrees, an IDP maintained by a school, FEI or 

local authority for a child or young person may specify that ALP described in 
the plan is to be secured by that HB or NHS Trust. 

 
345. The IDP must clearly specify the ALP to be secured by the HB or NHS Trust.  

The HB or NHS Trust must then secure the ALP specified in the IDP, which it 
has agreed to secure. Where the HB or NHS Trust is securing ALP, the school, 
FEI or local authority will no longer be under a duty to secure that provision. 

 
346. Any ALP that is specified as provision the HB or NHS Trust has agreed to 

secure can only be removed when the HB or NHS Trust:  
 

 agree to the removal or change of the ALP; 

 requests a change in the description of the ALP it has agreed to secure; or  

 requests the removal from the IDP of ALP that it has agreed to secure.  
 

The school, FEI or local authority must comply with the request and at this 
point the IDP must be reviewed. 
 

347. Where the Tribunal orders the revision of an IDP in relation to ALP specified in 
the IDP as provision a HB or NHS Trust has agreed to secure, a HB or NHS 
Trust is only required to secure the revised ALP where they agree to do so.  

 
Information sharing between agencies 
 

Section 52 of the Act provides a regulation making power in relation to information 
sharing. Further guidance will be developed alongside these regulations in due 
course. 

 

Coordinating IDP preparation, review and revision with other plans 
 
348. A school, FEI or local authority may prepare, review or revise an IDP at the 

same time as it, or another body, is preparing, reviewing or revising another 
document in the case of the person concerned72.  Consideration should also be 
given to integrating or closely aligning the plans where the relevant legislative 
frameworks allow. 

 
349. To ensure efficiency and effectiveness, there should be as much synergy as 

possible with any other planning or review processes that are required to take 
place in relation to a child or young person. This could mean having one 
meeting where the child or young person’s ALN is discussed at the same time 

                                            
72

 Section 16 of the Act. 

Tudalen 84



73 
 

as any other needs or requirements. This will allow solutions to be found in an 
integrated manner and facilitate holistic solutions to different problems.  

 
350. This approach will ensure the child, child’s parent or young person is not 

required to attend unnecessarily a series of similar meetings. It will reduce the 
need for the child, child’s parent or young person to repeat the same 
information lots of times for different people or purposes. It should also assist 
professionals by reducing the number of meetings they are required to attend 
and, therefore, deliver improved value for money.  

 
351. The management of the relevant school, FEI or local authority should 

endeavour to send the same person where there are different meetings, so that 
they have a rounded and comprehensive understanding of the child or young 
person’s needs.  For instance, it may be appropriate for the ALNCo to attend 
safeguarding meetings about a child with ALN as well as the child’s IDP 
meeting. 

 
 
 

  

Tudalen 85



74 
 

Chapter 14: Preparing an IDP – transport  
 

Summary 
 
352. This Chapter signposts transport considerations in the context of preparing an 

IDP. This should be read in conjunction with Chapters 10 and 11, which deal 
with the content of IDPs.  

 
[Further guidance and good practice examples will be inserted in future in the light of 

stakeholder input.]  
 

Transport 
 
353. The Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 (“Measure”) and associated 

subordinate legislation sets out the legal framework specifically related to travel 
and transport provisions for learners travelling from home to school in Wales.  
 

 
354. The Learner Travel Statutory Provision and Operational Guidance73 dated June 

2014 provides guidance on the current law. It is issued under section 15 of the 
Measure. 

 
355. Some of the local authority duties under the Measure and described in the 

guidance above are to: 
 

 assess the travel needs of learners in their authority area’  

 

 provide free home to school transport for learners of compulsory school 
age attending primary school who live 2 miles or further from their nearest 
suitable school; and 

 

 provide free home to school transport for learners of compulsory school 
age attending secondary school who live 3 miles or further from their 
nearest suitable school.  

 
 
356. The local authority is required to have regard to the needs of disabled learners, 

and learners with learning difficulties74. 
 

 
357. Further specific guidance on SEN, disabilities and learning difficulties is 

currently provided at paragraph 183 onwards of the above guidance. 
  

 

                                            
73

 http://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/140616-ltog-en.pdf 
 
74

 Section 24(1) of the Measure 

Tudalen 86

http://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/140616-ltog-en.pdf


75 
 

358. .As part of the process of creating an IDP, home to education institution travel 
arrangements, including the availability of suitable transport, should be 
discussed fully with the child, child’s parent or young person where relevant.  
 

 
359. Those preparing IDPs for young people should consider the local authority’s 

transport policy for those aged between 16-19 and, if it has one, the local 
authority’s transport policy for those aged between 19-25. In particular, they 
should consider what concessionary schemes are available and what support, 
including financial assistance, is available. If, in preparing the IDP, it is 
considered that specific transport arrangements are required, relevant transport 
officers from the local authority should be invited to discuss the options 
available. 
 

 
360. Where learners are able to travel independently to their educational 

establishment, it might be appropriate for the local authority to provide Blue 
Badges, concessionary bus passes or community transport. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Tudalen 87



76 
 

Chapter 15: Considerations for local authorities when 
preparing IDPs 
 

Summary  
 
361. Local authorities are likely to be responsible for the preparation of IDPs for 

children and young people with more severe or complex ALN – cases which 
have been referred on from schools and FEIs in particular. When doing so, 
local authorities should always prepare the IDP with reference to the child or 
young person’s individual needs and circumstances. However, there are some 
further specific considerations – underpinned by provisions in the Act – which 
they will need to bear in mind, particularly in relation to the education setting the 
individual is to attend. This Chapter sets out further information on some of 
these issues.  

 

Duty to favour the education of children at mainstream maintained 
schools 
 
362. Section 29 of the Act sets out a duty on local authorities to favour educating 

children at mainstream maintained schools, that is, maintained schools that are 
not special schools or pupil referral units75. 

 
363. This duty underpins the inclusive approach to education that local authorities 

should adopt at all times and is based on evidence that the presence and 
participation of all learners in the school/classroom community enhances the 
quality of the educational experience, both for the individual and for the 
school/classroom community as a whole. In taking this approach, local 
authorities should be mindful that inclusivity goes beyond the mere physical 
presence of the child in the mainstream classroom or school. The emphasis 
should be on ensuring that the child is as fully engaged as possible in all the 
usual, everyday lessons and activities.  

 
364. Section 29, therefore, requires that, when exercising functions under the Act in 

relation to a child of compulsory school age with ALN who should be educated 
in a school, a local authority must ensure that the child is educated in a 
mainstream maintained school. 

 
365.  There are two exceptions to this: 

 

 where such mainstream education is incompatible with the wishes of the 
parent76, or; 

 where such mainstream education would be incompatible with the provision 
of efficient education for other children77.  

 

                                            
75

 As defined at section 68 of the Act. 
76

 Section 29(1)(a) of the Act. 
77

 Section 29(1)(b) of the Act. 

Tudalen 88



77 
 

366. In order to strengthen the duty further, the second exception referred to above 
may only be relied on by a local authority where there are no reasonable steps 
it could take to prevent the incompatibility78. Therefore, if there are reasonable 
steps which a local authority could take to ensure that a placement in a 
mainstream school was not incompatible with the efficient education of other 
children, the local authority will be required to take those steps, rather than 
place a child at a non-mainstream school. 

 
367. What constitutes a reasonable step will depend on all the circumstances in the 

individual case, but the following are some of the factors that may be taken into 
account: 

  

 whether taking the step would be effective in removing the incompatibility;  

 the extent to which it is practical for the local authority to take the step;  

 the extent to which steps have already been taken in relation to a particular 
child or young person and their effectiveness;  

 the financial and other resource implications of taking the step, in particular 
whether the step would result in a disproportionate shift in resources 
towards meeting the needs of one learner such that the education of other 
children is potentially compromised;  

 the extent of any disruption that taking the step would cause; and 

 the extent to which the step is compatible with the needs of the child – for 
example, in the case of some children with ALN,  the provision of full time 
one to one support may facilitate their presence in a mainstream school or 
classroom, but would reinforce dependency and hinder the acquisition of 
independence. 

 
368. There will inevitably be circumstances in which there are no reasonable steps 

available that could prevent placement at a mainstream setting being 
incompatible with the provision of efficient education for other children (for 
example, where the child or young person’s behaviour systematically, 
persistently or significantly threatens the safety and/or impedes the learning of 
others).  

 
369. However, a decision not to educate a child or young person in a mainstream 

setting should not be taken lightly in any circumstances, especially if the child 
or their parent would prefer mainstream schooling. It is important that all 
decisions are taken on the basis of the circumstances of each case and taking 
into account the views of the child or child’s parents. The views of educational 
psychologists and other specialist professionals may also be relevant to the 
particular case. 

 
370. It is important to note that section 29 does not prevent a child being educated in 

an independent school, or a school approved under section 342 of the 
Education Act 1996 (i.e., a non-maintained special school), where the cost is 
met other than by a local authority79.  

 

                                            
78

 Section 29(2) of the Act. 
79

 Section 29(3) of the Act. 

Tudalen 89



78 
 

Naming a maintained school for the purpose of securing admission 
 
371. In most cases, children with ALN will be able to receive the ALP they need in 

any maintained school. However, the needs of some children will be such that a 
place at a specific maintained school should be secured for them. In recognition 
of this, local authorities may name a maintained school in Wales in an IDP for 
the purposes of securing admission of a child to that school. This is referred to 
below as ‘naming a school’. Of course, schools or other educational institutions 
at which the child or young person will receive their ALP will be referenced in 
the IDP for a variety of other purposes, so it is essential that, where a local 
authority names a school for the purposes of securing admission, this fact is 
made clear in the IDP. 

 
The Test to Consider 

 
372. Section 26 of the Act sets out the circumstances in which a local authority may 

name a maintained school for the purposes of admission. There are two tests 
which must be met: 

 

 Firstly, the local authority must be satisfied that the child’s interest requires 
the ALP identified in their IDP to be made at that school (section 26(4)(a)). 
Local authorities should consider what the benefits are of delivering the 
specific ALP required at that particular institution.  

 

 Secondly, it must be appropriate for the child to be provided with education 
or training at that school (section 26(4)(b)). This goes beyond just the ALP 
available – the more general education and training provided by the school 
must also be appropriate for the child. 

 
373. When considering the issue, local authorities might consider whether: 
 

 the school specialises in low incidence provision, such as visual or hearing 
impairment; 

 the school has members of staff with specialist expertise or training; 

 it would be unreasonable for a more local school to provide the child’s ALP; 
and 

 specific characteristics of the school make it especially good at making the 
required ALP – this might include a variety of different matters including the 
school’s physical characteristics. 

 
374. If the tests set out at section 26(4) are not met, the local authority must not 

name the school. 
 
375. Where a local authority names a school, it must set out its reasons for doing so 

in the IDP (see Chapters 10 and 11).  
 
376. Where a child or their parent has requested that a school be named but the 

local authority decides not to do so, it must set out its reasons for not doing so 
in the IDP (see Chapters 10 and 11).  

 

Tudalen 90



79 
 

Consultation with and Duties of the School and Local Authorities 
 
377. If the local authority proposes to name a maintained school, it must consult the 

school (and the local authority for the area in which the school is located, if that 
is the admission authority) before doing so80. Where the school is located in 
another local authority’s area, but the governing body is the admission authority 
for the school, the other local authority should be notified by the home local 
authority preparing the IDP that it is considering naming the school in any 
event.  

 
378. The local authority should carefully consider any representations from the 

governing body and other local authority. In particular, it should carefully assess 
whether the admission of the child would take the year group at the school 
above the school’s admission number and any prejudice to the provision of 
efficient education or the efficient use of resources that this might cause81. 

 
379. Where a maintained school in Wales is named, the governing body of the 

school must admit the child82 regardless of the governing body’s duty in 
relation to the statutory infant class size limits83. However, this does not affect 
any power of the governing body to exclude a learner from a school84. 

 
Placements at independent schools 
 
380. Occasionally, a child or young person’s needs may be such that it would not be 

possible for them to be met in a maintained school. The local authority might 
then consider it appropriate for the individual to attend an independent school.  

 
381. Section 32 of the Act sets out the circumstances in which a local authority may 

fund a placement at an independent school or independent educational 
institution for a child with ALN.  

 
382. There are two key questions local authorities should ask themselves: 
 

 Firstly, is the school included in the register of independent schools in 
Wales? (section 32(1)(a))85.  

 

 Secondly, can the school make additional learning provision which 
corresponds to the ALN of the child or young person in question, as 
identified in their IDP? (section 32(1)(b)). 

                                            
80

 Section 26(3) of the Act. 
81

 Section 86(5) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 and Chapter 3 of the School 
Admissions Code (Statutory Code document no: 005/2013) provides more detail on ‘admission 
numbers’. 
82

 Section 26(2) of the Act. 
83

 Section 26(5) of the Act. 
84

 Section 26(6) of the Act. 
85

 The Act makes amendments to the Education Act 2002 to require Welsh Ministers to publish a list 
of the schools included in the register of independent schools in Wales – this is the document to 
which local authorities should refer. The list will specify the type or types of ALP made by a school for 
learners with ALN (if any) where this information has been provided by the proprietor of the school. 

Tudalen 91



80 
 

 
383. If the tests in Section 32(1) are met, the local authority may decide that the 

placement is appropriate – the placement details will then form part of the 
additional learning provision described in the IDP. The local authority must 
secure the ALP described in the IDP, along with any related board and 
lodging86 and must not charge the individual or parents for it87. 

 
384. A similar test applies in relation to placements at independent educational 

institutions in England – see section 32(2) of the Act.  
 
385. Where a parent or child would prefer an independent school but the local 

authority is satisfied that the child’s needs can be met within a maintained 
education setting, the local authority is not required to fund the learner’s place 
at the independent school. However, where this situation arises, the local 
authority should ensure that they give the parent and child a full outline of the 
how the learner’s needs could be met without recourse to an independent 
placement, for example by funding transport to and from the maintained 
education setting. 

 
Placements at independent special post-16 institutions 
 
386. Whilst the ALP necessary to meet the reasonable needs for education and 

training of most young people with ALN can be met within a mainstream FEI, 
some young people will require a place at an independent special post-16 
institution to ensure their reasonable needs are met. 

 
387. Section 33(6) of the Act defines an ‘independent special post-16 institution’. 
 
388. These are institutions which provide education or training for persons over 

compulsory school age, and which are specially organised to provide education 
and/or training for individuals with ALN.  

 
389. The following are not independent special post-16 institutions: 
 

 an institution in the FE sector ; 

 an independent school entered on the registered of independent schools in 
Wales; 

 an independent educational institution entered on the register of 
independent educational institutions in England; and 

 a 16-19 Academy.  
 

390. Local authorities must not secure education or training for a young person at 
an independent special post-16 institution in Wales or England unless it is 
entered on the list of such institutions published by the Welsh Ministers88. 

 

                                            
86

 Section 12(9) of the Act. 
87

 Section 27 of the Act. 
88

 Section 33(3) of the Act. 

Tudalen 92



81 
 

391. Where a local authority decides that a placement at an independent post-16 
institution is appropriate, the placement details will then form part of the 
additional learning provision described in the IDP. The local authority must 
secure the ALP described in the IDP, along with any related board and 
lodging89 and must not charge the individual or parents for it90.  Such 
placements may particularly benefit those young people with more severe and 
complex needs. 

 
392. The local authority will need to consider the suitability and sustainability of a 

funded placement at an independent special post-16 institution over the 
duration of the programme of study, prior to its commencement. Consideration 
should be given to the benefits of the programme of study to the young person 
from an educational perspective.  Once a programme of learning has 
commenced, the local authority should continue to fund the placement for the 
duration of the programme. Failure to do so can lead to wasted resources and 
distress and confusion for the young person. 

 
393. In many instances, placements at independent special post-16 institutions will 

be residential. In these cases, the requirements and guidance set out on 
residential placements below will apply.  

 

Residential placements 
 
394. The needs of some children and young people are such that they might require 

a residential placement at a school or other institution. A decision that this is 
appropriate will involve consideration of all of the circumstances, and, bearing 
in mind that it may require the child or young person to be resident away from 
their family, the duty to involve and support children, their parents and young 
people explained at Chapter 4 will have particular importance.     

 
395. Where the local authority is satisfied that, having considered all relevant 

circumstances of the particular case, the reasonable needs of a child or young 
person for ALP can only be met if it also secures the provision of board and 
lodging, it must include a description of this in the IDP91. 

 
396. In determining whether board and lodging is required, local authorities should 

take account of the following factors: 
 

 whether the child or young person’s reasonable needs for ALP cannot be 
met in local day provision; and 

 whether the child or young person requires a consistent programme both 
during and after school hours that cannot be provided by parents and 
mainstream schooling when combined with support from other agencies. 

                                            
89

 Section 12(9) of the Act. 
90

 Section 27 of the Act. 
91

 Section 12(5) and (6) of the Act. Where this duty applies, the local authority must not direct a 
school to prepare and/or maintain an IDP – see section 12(7). 

Tudalen 93



82 
 

397. Where a residential placement is to be secured, support arrangements should 
also be put in place, such as in relation to the child or young person’s contact 
with their family.  

 
398. Any additional services required alongside education, ALP, board and lodging 

should also be co-ordinated from the outset. This might include: 

 health care; 

 personal care; 

 social care; and 

 transport (see Chapter 14). 
 

399. This is an area in which multi-agency and cross-departmental working will be 
extremely important. In particular, local authorities and Health Boards should 
consider appropriate joint funding arrangements, and local authorities should 
ensure that they apply a co-ordinated approach internally to the funding of the 
education and social care elements of the placement92. 

 
400. Where a child or young person’s residential placement is at a school or 

institution outside of the local authority’s area, the local authority should 
consider what information local service providers operating in that other area 
might need to be provided with.     

 

Additional learning provision otherwise than in schools 
 
401. Local authorities may arrange for the ALP, or any part of the ALP, identified in a 

child’s IDP to be made otherwise than at school93. However, the emphasis 
should always be on inclusive education and such arrangements should not be 
commonplace (except in relation to those children who have not yet started 
school). Local authorities must not arrange for ALP to be made otherwise than 
in a school unless they are satisfied that it would be inappropriate for the ALP 
to be made in a school94. 

 

Additional learning provision outside Wales and England 
 
402. Very rarely, it may be appropriate for a child or young person requiring 

specialist ALP to be placed at an institution outside of Wales and England. 
However, a local authority must not make arrangements for a child or young 
person to attend such an institution unless it is organised to make ALP that 
corresponds to the ALN described in the child or young person’s IDP95. 

  

                                            
92

 The Social Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014 and developing subordinate legislation under 
the Act provide the basis on which social care provision is to be made. 
93

 Section 30(1) of the Act. 
94

 Section 30(2) of the Act. 
95

 Section 36 of the Act. 

Tudalen 94



83 
 

Chapter 16: Review and revision of IDPs  
 

Summary 
 
403. This Chapter sets out mandatory requirements and guidance about the review 

and revision of IDPs, including when an IDP must and should be reviewed.  
 

Review of an IDP 
 
Circumstances when the IDP must be reviewed 
 
404. Section 15 of the Act sets out the circumstances in which an IDP must be 

reviewed. These are set out below96. The provisions of the Act ensure that, in 
most cases, an IDP is reviewed every year; however, practitioners should refer 
to the detailed review provisions in section 15 of the Act. 

 
405. A school, FEI or local authority required to maintain an IDP must review it 

within: 
 

 the 12 month period starting with the date on which the IDP was first given 
to the child, child’s parent or young person; and 

 each subsequent period of 12 months. 
 

or, if the IDP has been reconsidered by the local authority (see Chapter 9), 
within: 

 

 the 12 month period starting with the date on which a decision not to revise 
the IDP was notified to the child, their parent, or the young person by the 
local authority, or a revised plan was given to them; and 

 each subsequent period of 12 months starting with the date on which the 
decision is notified or the revised plan is given. 

 
406. A school, FEI or local authority must review an IDP it is required to maintain if 

the plan includes ALP that a Health Board or NHS Trust has agreed to secure 
and the Health Board or NHS Trust requests it to review the IDP97. 

 
407. A school, FEI or local authority required to maintain an IDP for a child or young 

person must also review the IDP if a request is made to it by the child, the 
child’s parent or young person, unless it considers a review to be 
unnecessary98. 

 
408. The circumstances in which a review would be considered unnecessary might 

include where: 
 

 a recent review has taken place; and  

                                            
96

 Section 15 of the Act should be referred to in full for the detailed legislative obligations. 
97

 Section 15(4) of the Act. 
98

 Section 15(6) of the Act. 

Tudalen 95



84 
 

 there is no evidence of a material change in the child or young person’s 
circumstances or no new, significant information has come to light. 

 
Guidance on other situations when the IDP should be reviewed 
 
409. In order to be responsive to the needs of the child or young person it will often 

be appropriate to review the IDP, or part of the IDP, within a shorter time period 
than the mandatory requirements. To facilitate this, the Act gives schools, FEIs 
and local authorities the power to review the plan at any time; and revise the 
plan following a review. 

 
410. A review should be carried out within a time period that reflects: 
 

 the intended outcomes, or any particular outcome, set out in the IDP and 
the target date for the achievement of these, or milestones towards their 
achievement; 

 the timescales for the delivery of any activities or provision in the IDP; 

 anticipated significant changes that are likely to impact on the child or 
young person’s ALN; 

 whether there are proposed assessments or tests whose results would 
impact on the intended outcomes, planned activity or provision within a 
shorter time period; and 

 the child or young person’s age and likely rate of development - for 
example, for very young children, three to six months should be considered 
the maximum amount of time, to ensure the ALP continues to be 
appropriate.  

 
411. The timing of a review should also take account of the circumstances of the 

child or young person and any action that might flow from the review. Schools 
and FEIs will want to consider the impact on staff resources when planning 
review and may want to arrange them so they do not all take place at the same 
time or in close proximity to one another. 

 
412. A proposed review date may be changed to an earlier or later date (providing 

this later date falls within the 12 month mandatory timeframe). 
 
413. An earlier, unscheduled review will often be appropriate where there has been 

a significant change in circumstances or new information has come to light. An 
earlier review may also be warranted where an intended outcome has been 
achieved, it becomes obvious that an intended outcome will not be achieved or 
because it is no longer felt that a child or young person has ALN and, therefore, 
no longer requires an IDP. Continual tracking and monitoring of learner 
progress will be critical to identifying sudden changes. Changing a review to a 
later date (still within the 12 month period) might be appropriate, for example, 
when additional time is considered necessary to examine the impact of a 
particular intervention or when the results of a medical test or examination 
relevant to the review are pending. 

 
414. Where a child or young person has ALN, the school or FEI will need to talk to 

the child, child’s parent or young person regularly, monitor progress with them, 

Tudalen 96



85 
 

and discuss the activities that will support the child or young person to achieve 
their potential. These discussions can act as a form of on-going monitoring; the 
evidence gathered from these discussions could be used to inform the review.  
They can also build confidence in the actions being taken by the education 
institution and can strengthen the impact of any ALP by increasing the child, 
child’s parent or young person’s engagement in the approaches and strategies 
that are being used. The child, child’s parent or young person can also provide 
essential information on the impact of ALP outside the education setting and 
any changes in the child or young person’s ALN. This ongoing dialogue will 
form an important element in determining when an early review might be 
appropriate. 

 

IDP review meetings 
 
Before the meeting 
 
415. Where a local authority is responsible for maintaining an IDP, they must 

provide a list of all the children and young people who will require a review of 
their IDP in the forthcoming term to head teachers and principals of any 
relevant educational institutions attended by a child or young person with an 
IDP, at least two weeks before the start of each term. 

 
416. The school, FEI or local authority responsible for maintaining the IDP must 

invite to the review meeting all those agencies and professionals they consider 
necessary to conduct an effective review. This will always include the child, 
child’s parent or young person.  It may not always include all those who were 
involved in the original preparation of the IDP. Agencies or professionals need 
only be invited if their continued involvement is likely to be useful in identifying 
or delivering future ALP for the child or young person, or if their advice is likely 
to change over time. Normally, this will have already been determined in the 
IDP. Agencies or professionals already engaged in the delivery of provision 
within the IDP must be invited to the meeting.  

 
417. The school, FEI or local authority responsible for maintaining the IDP should 

inform other agencies and professionals who will be invited to be involved in the 
IDP review at least two weeks before the start of each term.  For meetings at 
the start of a new term, notification should be provided earlier than two weeks 
before where possible. They should also indicate if the review will have a focus 
on transition and/or preparation for adulthood (see Chapter 19). Where it is 
decided, at any time, that additional professionals should be invited to the 
review, they should inform the professionals of the details as soon as possible. 

 
418. Those agencies and professionals invited to the meetings should make every 

effort to attend. However, it might be that not all relevant professionals will be 
able to attend every review meeting. It may, therefore, be helpful when inviting 
them, to indicate the priority attached to their attendance. Liaison between the 
respective parties, over time and well in advance of the meeting, will help 
professionals decide whether it is appropriate to attend and also give them 
adequate prior notice. Where agencies or professionals cannot attend they 

Tudalen 97



86 
 

should provide in writing, in advance of the meeting, any necessary advice and 
evidence required to inform the meeting.  

 
419. Any contribution to a review meeting, whether in person or in writing, should 

consider: 
 

 the child or young person’s progress towards achieving the intended 
outcomes; 

 whether the child or young person still has ALN and, if so, whether their 
needs have changed; 

 the continued appropriateness of the IDP; 

 the continued appropriateness of the ALP; and 

 the continued suitability of the intended outcomes and, if appropriate, new 
or revised outcomes that ought to be discussed at the meeting.  

 
420. Written contributions might be usefully provided using the Person-Centred 

Practice headings (Chapter 11). 
 
421. Before a review meeting, the school, FEI or local authority responsible for 

maintaining an IDP should provide a report to the child, child’s parent or young 
person on their progress, possibly through the use of Impact Monitoring 
information. They should also invite feedback and views from the child, child’s 
parent or young person two weeks before the meeting. However, the child, 
child’s parent or young person may wish to wait and make their feelings known 
at the meeting.  

 
422. Where professionals have supplied advice in advance of the meeting, this 

should also be sent to the child, child’s parent or young person. The school, FEI 
or local authority responsible for maintaining an IDP should explain to the child, 
child’s parent or young person that professionals may not always be able to 
attend all review meetings and that, if beyond the review meeting, the child, 
child’s parent or young person wish to discuss matters of concern in the 
professionals' reports, they should first approach the school, FEI or local 
authority responsible for maintaining the IDP.  

 
423. When a child has been excluded from school, the views of the most appropriate 

former teacher and any other professionals who know the child should be 
sought. Children that have been excluded from school, and their parents, may 
need sensitive and positive encouragement to contribute to all stages of the 
review. 

 
The location of review meetings 
 
424. In most cases, the most suitable setting for the review meeting will be at the 

school, FEI or early years setting which the child or young person attends. 
Sometimes, it will be more appropriate for the meetings to take place in a 
hospital, the parent’s home or the local authority’s offices. It is usually 
appropriate that someone who works with the child or young person regularly, 
in most cases a person from the school or FEI, leads the review. This would 
ideally be the ALNCo, but may also be the learner’s head of year, form tutor or 

Tudalen 98



87 
 

teacher or lecturer who is closely involved in supporting the child or young 
person. They will know the child or young person well, will have the closest 
contact with them and will have the clearest information about progress and 
next steps.  

 
425. Reviews led by the school or FEI will engender the greatest confidence 

amongst the child, child’s parent and young person. The discussion being led 
by a member of staff with good knowledge and understanding of the child or 
young person, who is aware of their ALN, will further strengthen this 
confidence.   

 
The format of reviews 
 
426. The format for the IDP review meeting will be the same as that for developing 

an IDP. This includes having regard to the views, wishes and feelings of the 
child, child’s parent or young person. Although the professionals invited to 
attend the meeting will depend on the child or young person’s needs, the 
conduct of the meeting should always follow a similar format.  

 
427. The principal difference of a review meeting compared with the original IDP 

preparation meeting is that it will require those contributing to the review to 
consider whether the additional learning provision has been delivered and the 
outcomes achieved. There should be no need to repeat or reconsider 
background information or evidence unless a change has occurred, in which 
case it can simply be annotated on the IDP. Children, their parents or young 
people are likely to become disengaged if reviews are repetitious. 

 
428. The review meetings must: 
 

 gather and analyse any new information or evidence that has come to light 
in relation to the child or young person’s ALN; 

 consider if the description of ALN set out in the IDP is still correct in the 
light of any new information or evidence;  

 explore whether the outcomes set out in the IDP are still suitable and 
whether new outcomes and/or interim targets would be appropriate, and 
update the IDP to reflect this; 

 consider  the continuing suitability of the ALP in the IDP in the light of the 
child or young person’s progress towards the outcomes and any interim 
targets set around those outcomes; 

 assess whether any additional ALP is required; and  

 seek advice from all relevant professionals. 
 
429. To aid in the evaluation and assessment of the child or young person’s ALP, 

impact monitoring is a useful tool. The shorter term targets can indicate which 
ALP is meeting the needs of the child or young person, that which is no longer 
required and/or not having its desired effect.   

 
430. At the end of the review meeting a date should be agreed, at least in principle, 

of when the next review will take place. This must be within 12 months of the 
review.  

Tudalen 99



88 
 

 
431. Also at the end of the meeting, any action that will be taken to help meet the 

needs of the child or young person should be clearly explained to the child, 
their parent, or young person and any one else involved in the review.  

 
432. If the conclusion of the review is that a child or young person no longer has 

ALN and no longer requires an IDP, this should be explained. See Chapter 17 
for ceasing an IDP. 

 
433. If a school, FEI or a local authority revises an IDP, it must give a copy of the 

revised plan to99: 
 

 the child or young person; and 

 if the plan applies to a child, the child’s parent. 
 

  

                                            
99

 Section 15(7) of the Act. 

Tudalen 100



89 
 

Chapter 17: Ceasing to maintain an IDP 
 

Summary 
 
434. This Chapter sets out further detail on the circumstances in which it may be 

appropriate to ‘cease to maintain’ an IDP. That is, the circumstances in which 
an education setting or local authority may decide that an individual no longer 
requires an IDP. It also sets out the practical steps to be taken before and after 
such a decision is made, and the individual’s options for appealing the issue. It 
should be read alongside sections 20 – 24 of the Act. 

 
The circumstances in which an IDP might cease to be maintained 
 
435. Section 20 of the Act confirms that a school, FEI or local authority may cease to 

maintain an IDP for a child or young person only if it is no longer necessary to 
maintain it. There are a few scenarios in which this might occur.  

 
436. The Act places duties on schools and FEIs to prepare and maintain IDPs in 

relation to registered pupils / enrolled students at those settings – see sections 
9 and 10 of the Act. Once a child or young person ceases to be a pupil or 
student (i.e., leaves the school or FEI, either to move to another education 
setting or with the intention of leaving education more generally), the duties of 
the school or FEI will cease and it will no longer be necessary for them to 
maintain an IDP. 

 
437. In some cases, a local authority will maintain an IDP. The Act gives duties to 

local authorities to prepare and maintain IDPs in relation to children and young 
people for whom that local authority is responsible – see section 12 of the Act. 
Local authority responsibility is defined by section 55 of the Act, and broadly 
equates to the geographical residence of the child or young person. Where a 
local authority ceases to be responsible for an individual within the meaning of 
the Act, the duties of the local authority will cease and it will no longer be 
necessary for it to maintain an IDP. 

 
438. In some situations, the school, FEI or local authority may determine, usually as 

an outcome of a review, that the child or young person no longer has ALN and, 
therefore, no longer requires an IDP. There should be no presumption that 
because a child or young person has been given an IDP they will continue to 
need one until they leave education or training. In considering this issue, 
practitioners should refer back to the basic definition of ALN at section 2 of the 
Act (and the further guidance in Chapter 6 of this Code) and consider whether 
that test is still met. 

 

Notification of a decision 
 
439. Children, their parents and young people may find a proposal to remove an IDP 

and ALP alarming. They should be reassured that appropriate, ongoing, 
support through differentiated teaching, and other relevant strategies and 
practice, can and will be delivered, and that if ALN re-emerges an IDP can be 

Tudalen 101



90 
 

reinstated at short notice. If it is decided at a review meeting that the child or 
young person no longer has ALN, these matters would normally be discussed 
at that time. 

 
440. Before a school, FEI or local authority decides to cease to maintain a plan for a 

child or young person, section 20 of the Act states that they must notify the 
child, child’s parent or young person that it proposes to make such a 
decision100. It should then allow sufficient time and opportunity for 
representations to be made in relation to the decision. In most cases, this 
process of notification and representation making can occur through the normal 
review process. 

 
441. After the school, FEI or local authority has considered the representations and 

made its decision, it must notify the child or young person and, in the case of a 
child, the child’s parent of the decision, and the reasons for the decision – even 
if the decision is ultimately to continue to maintain the IDP101.  

 
442. A maintained school must also notify the child and their parent, or the young 

person, of their right to request a reconsideration of the matter from the local 
authority (see below)102. 

 
Reconsideration of a maintained school’s decision to cease to 
maintain an IDP 
 
443. Children and their parents, and young people, are able to request a 

reconsideration of a decision to maintain, or not to maintain, an IDP made by a 
maintained school under section 20 of the Act. The steps which must be taken 
in these cases are detailed at section 21 of the Act. 

 
[Section 21 of the Act includes a power to make regulations to prescribe a time 
period within which such a request must be made.  Further guidance will be 
developed alongside the regulations and inserted into the Code in due course]  

 
Limitation on ceasing to maintain an IDP, to allow reconsideration 
or appeal 

444. Section 22 of the Act confirms the circumstances in which a maintained school, 
FEI and local authority may cease to maintain an IDP.  The section ensures 
that, before a school, FEI or local authority is able to cease an IDP, a child, 
child’s parent or young person is given the opportunity to challenge that 
decision, either through a reconsideration request to a local authority (where a 
decision to cease the IDP has been made by a maintained school – see 
above), and / or via an appeal to the Education Tribunal (where a decision has 
been made by an FEI or local authority).  
 
 

                                            
100

 Section 20(2) of the Act. 
101

 Section 20(3) of the Act. 
102

 Section 20(4) of the Act. 

Tudalen 102



91 
 

IDPs after a young person’s 25th birthday 
 
445. There is no requirement to maintain an IDP following a person’s 25th 

birthday103. However, section 24 of the Act confirms that an FEI or a local 
authority may continue to maintain an IDP for a young person until the end of 
the ‘academic year’ during which the young person reaches 25 years of age104. 
This might be appropriate in order to enable an individual to complete a course 
of study.  

 
446. An “academic year” is defined by section 24(2) of the Act as:  

 

 in relation to a young person who attends an FEI, a period of 12 months 
ending on 31 July; and 

 in relation to any other young person, a period of 12 months ending on the 
day the young person’s course of education or training ends or the day 
before the young person attains the age of 26 (whichever is earlier). 

 

  

                                            
103

 The duties in the Act apply in relation to children and young people. Section 68 of the Act Bill 
confirms that ‘young people’ are those over compulsory school age, but under 25. 
104

 Section 24 of the Act. 

Tudalen 103



92 
 

Chapter 18: Transferring an IDP 
 

Summary 
 
447. This Chapter set out requirements and guidance in relation to the transfer of 

IDPs between one maintained school, FEI or local authority to another. 
 

[Section 23 of the draft Bill provides that regulations may be made in relation to the 
transfer of IDPs between institutions and local authorities.  

 
Section 52 of the draft Bill provides that regulations may be made in relation to the 
disclosure and use of information in relation to Additional Learning Needs, and, in 
particular, in relation to the disclosure of IDPs between institutions and local 
authorities. 

 
The content of this Chapter will be developed alongside these regulations in due 
course. Both the Chapter, and the regulations, will be informed by input from 
practitioners, who are well placed to advise on good practice in relation to effective 
transition.]  
 
 

 
 

  

Tudalen 104



93 
 

Chapter 19: Transition and preparing for adulthood 
 

Summary 
 
[Section 23 of the draft Bill provides that regulations may be made in relation to the 
transfer of IDPs between institutions and local authorities.  

 
Section 52 of the draft Bill provides that regulations may be made in relation to the 
disclosure and use of information in relation to Additional Learning Needs, and, in 
particular, in relation to the disclosure of IDPs between institutions and local 
authorities. 

 
The content of this Chapter will be developed alongside these regulations in due 
course. Both the Chapter, and the regulations, will be informed by input from 
practitioners, who are well placed to advise on good practice in relation to effective 
transition. The below paragraphs represent the Welsh Government’s initial view on 
the sorts of issues which will ultimately be covered by this Chapter.] 

 
448. Children and young people with ALN need to be supported to make a smooth 

transition between different settings or schools. To ensure this happens, 
planning and preparation for transition will need to occur well in advance of any 
move taking place. Preparation for transition will be a key topic for IDP review 
meetings (see Chapter 16).  

 
449. Furthermore, young people with ALN will need particular support when they are 

preparing to leave school or further education. 
 
450. This Chapter sets out the arrangements that should be put in place to ensure 

smooth and effective transitions for children and young people with ALN 
between the various phases of education, including the use of IDP reviews to 
support a smooth transition. 

 

Transition types 
 
451. Key transitions within a child or young person’s education  might include: 
 

 home to a pre-school setting or school; 

 pre-school setting to reception year;  

 infant school to junior school; 

 primary school to secondary school;  

 secondary school to a FEI or independent special post-16 institutions; and 

 from education to adult provision, for example to support the young person 
into employment. 

 

 
 
 

Tudalen 105



94 
 

General principles 
 

[This section will be expected to provide general guidance on the principles that 
that should underpin effective planning and preparation for transitions.]  
 

Transitions between specific settings 
 
[This section will provide guidance on the specific issues which might need to be 
addressed when a child or young person is due to transfer between different 
educational settings. This would include the means by which the IDP review process 
should be used to support different sorts of transition and the use of particular forms 
of expertise – for example, specialist careers advice for young people going on to 
further education.] 
 

Young people leaving school/further education 
 
[This section will provide guidance on the transition support that young people with 
ALN will require when they prepare to leave school or further education and will no 
longer be entitled to an IDP. This will include those leaving to take up employment, 
enter higher education or take up work-based learning or some other form of 
training.]    
 

  

Tudalen 106



95 
 

Chapter 20: Avoiding and resolving disagreements  
 

Summary 
 
452. This Chapter relates to the requirement on local authorities to make 

arrangements with a view to both avoiding and resolving disagreements under 
section 37 of the Act. 

 
453. From time to time, disagreements may arise about ALN or ALP. As far as 

possible they should be avoided or resolved through dialogue at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 

Avoiding disagreements 
 
454. The inclusive process of developing an IDP and the requirement to take into 

account the views, wishes and feelings of the child, child’s parent or young 
person (see Chapter 4), is intended to help to overcome concerns and avoid  
disagreement.  Local authorities’ focus should be on providing the parties with 
the opportunity to raise concerns or questions at every stage of the process 
and prevent problems from escalating. 

 
455. Local authorities should consider how they can avoid disagreements, for 

example, by: 
 

 reassuring children, their parents and young people that discussions and 
decision-making will be centred on the best interests of the child or young 
person; 

 improving communication and relationships between parties and the local 
authority to create an environment where the concerns of children, their 
parents and young people can be addressed through open and 
constructive dialogue; 

 ensuring decisions are properly explained in a way that is understandable 
to the child, child’s parent or young person; and 

 providing reassurance that the child or young person will receive the level 
of support that they need.  

 

Putting in place arrangements to avoid disagreements 
 
[Further versions of the Code will provide examples of good practice for avoiding and 
resolving disagreements.] 
 
456. Section 37 of the Act provides that the local authority must make arrangements 

for avoiding disagreements between a maintained school, FEI, local authority 
and proprietor of a relevant institution105, for example an independent school, 
and a child, child’s parent or young person106.    

 

                                            
105

 See section 37(8) of the Act for the definition of relevant institution. 
106

 Section 37(1)(2) of the Act. 

Tudalen 107



96 
 

 
457. Section 37(4) of the Act provides that local authorities must take steps it 

considers appropriate for making the arrangements known to: 
 

 children and young people for whom it is responsible; 

 parents of children for whom it is responsible; 

 head teachers and governing bodies of the schools it maintains; and 

 other persons it considers appropriate, e.g. case friends, Local Health 
Boards, early years education settings, FEIs etc. 

 
Promoting Arrangements 
 
458. The local authority must promote the use of such arrangements107, for example 

by providing details of the arrangements to children, their parents and young 
people when they receive a notice of a decision by the school, FEI or local 
authority.  This should include contact details for accessing the arrangements. 
Chapter 8 outlines what the notification of the decision not to prepare a plan 
should contain. Local authorities should ensure that the information is in a 
suitable format to enable children, their parents and young people to 
understand what the arrangements are, for example, by using plain language. 

 

Resolving disagreements 
 
459. Where it has not proven possible to prevent disagreements arising, the focus 

will necessarily shift to resolving them as quickly and efficiently as possible. 
Early resolution of disagreements significantly benefits the child, child’s parent 
or young person and can avoid unnecessary stress and expense. 

 
460. In the first instance the child, child’s parent or young person should raise their 

concerns at the most suitable local level. In many instances this will be with the 
education setting that the child or young person attends, e.g. the preschool 
setting, school or FEI. 

 
461. Furthermore, as set out in Chapter 9, where a maintained school has made a 

decision that a child or young person has ALN, or has refused to make a 
decision, the child, child’s parent or young person has an opportunity to request 
that the local authority reconsiders the matter.108 Similarly, if a school maintains 
an IDP for a child or young person and the child, child’s parent or young person 
considers the IDP does not meet the needs of the child or young person, then 
the local authority can be asked to reconsider and revise the plan.109  

 
Disagreement Resolution Arrangements  
 
462. Section 37(1) and (2) of the Act provide that the local authority must make 

arrangements for resolving disagreements between a maintained school, FEI, 

                                            
107

 Section 37(5) of the Act. 
108

 Section 17(1) of the Act. 
109

 Section 18 of the Act. 

Tudalen 108



97 
 

local authority and proprietor of a relevant institution, and a child, child’s parent 
or young person110.    

 
463. Local authorities must take steps they consider appropriate for making the 

arrangements known to: 
 

 children and young people for whom it is responsible; 

 parents of children for whom it is responsible; 

 head teachers and governing bodies of the schools it maintains; and 

 other persons it considers appropriate. 
 
464. The local authority must promote the use of such arrangements.111 In 

particular, the local authority should inform parties about the arrangements at 
relevant points within the process so that they can receive help to deal with 
potential disagreements as and when they arise.  

 
465. As set out above, one such example is providing details of the arrangements to 

children, their parents and young people when they receive a notice of a 
decision by the school, FEI or local authority.   

 
466. The local authority’s disagreement resolution arrangements should deal with 

any questions from the child, child’s parent or young person. It should be 
explained that the arrangements are informal and accessible, and provide a 
simple process designed to bring two parties together to clarify the issues and 
reach a resolution.  

 
467. If initial discussions with the school, local authority or FEI have not resulted in 

the resolution of disagreements, children, their parents and young people 
should be able to access the disagreement resolution arrangements at any 
reasonable time in respect of disagreements about the exercise by education 
bodies of their functions under the Act and the ALP made for children and/or 
young people. 

 
468.  Using the disagreement resolution arrangements will allow concerns and 

issues to be raised. The aim is that this will generally reduce the need to take a 
dispute to the tribunal. It should lead to a quicker resolution of any 
disagreements, save significant time and money, and minimise disruption to the 
child or young person’s learning.   

 
469. Disagreement resolution arrangements should be: 
 

 practical; 

 accessible; 

 help to bring together the relevant parties; 

 support the needs of the child and young person; 

  help to achieve early and informal resolution of disagreements through 
discussion and agreement; 

                                            
110

 Section 37(1)(2) of the Act. 
111

 Section 37(5) of the Act. 

Tudalen 109



98 
 

 discuss the full range of options;  

 ensure the minimum disruption to the child or young person’s education. 
 
470. All participants, including the child, child’s parent or young person, need to feel 

confident that their views, wishes and feelings will be listened to. The purpose 
of disagreement resolution is not to apportion blame, but to seek to resolve 
disagreements by achieving a solution to a difference of views in the best 
interests of the child or young person. The arrangements should be suited to 
the participants. 

 
471. When a child, child’s parent or young person decides to use the disagreement 

resolution arrangements, the parties should arrange to meet at a time suited to 
all and an open communication channel should be kept with prompt responses 
to any requests. This should be arranged at the earliest possible opportunity to 
enable a prompt resolution. The child, child’s parent or young person should be 
supported to make their views known. 

 

Interrelationship with the Tribunal 
 
472. Using disagreement resolution arrangements, or deciding not to use them, 

does not affect rights to appeal to the Tribunal. No inference will be drawn by 
the Tribunal if the child, child’s parent or young person to the disagreement has 
not used the disagreement resolution arrangement. 

 
473.  Disagreement resolution meetings are confidential and without prejudice to the 

Tribunal process. The Tribunal may cover similar ground to that explored 
through the disagreement resolution arrangement but will reach its own 
independent findings and conclusions. Partial agreement achieved by using 
such arrangements can help to focus on the remaining areas of disagreement 
in any subsequent appeal to the Tribunal. 

 
474. As part of the disagreement resolution arrangements, the local authority must 

include provision for parties to the disagreement to access help in resolving that 
disagreement from persons who are independent of the parties.112 

 

Independence of persons helping to resolve disagreements 
 
475. Independent person(s) helping to resolve disagreements   will need a range of 

experience, knowledge and qualifications, including for example:  
 

 training and experience in disagreement resolution, e.g. mediation; 

 counselling and negotiating skills; 

 the ability to establish and maintain effective communications; 

 knowledge of ALN legislation, associated regulations, this Code and other 
relevant educational issues; and 

 the capacity to maintain confidentiality and have no vested interest. 
 

                                            
112

 Section 37(3) of the Act. 

Tudalen 110



99 
 

Standards 
 
476. The local authority is responsible for ensuring that the arrangements for 

disagreement resolution are appropriate and of suitable quality. For example, in 
arranging effective disagreement resolution, the local authority should: 

 

 take responsibility for the overall standard of the  disagreement resolution 
arrangements, including having a development plan with clear targets 
which are reviewed regularly; 

 ensure there are appropriate management structures for the arrangements, 
including overseeing, regularly monitoring and reviewing the arrangements, 
taking account of local or national best practice;  

 actively seek feedback about the arrangements from those using them to 
inform the development and continuous improvement of the arrangements; 

 have clear funding and budgeting plans for the arrangements; 

 ensure there is adequate resources and staffing to meet the needs of 
children, their parents and young people in their area; and 

 ensure that staff providing the disagreement resolution arrangements 
receive appropriate training and development to undertake their role 
effectively. 

 
477. This list is not exhaustive. 
 

Independent advocacy services 
 
[Future versions of the Code will be updated to reflect any changes to the way in 
which advocacy services are delivered generally across Wales].  

478. A child, or young person can access independent advocacy services to support 
the avoidance and resolution of disagreements, including in relation to matters 
that proceed to the Tribunal. 

 
479. Advocacy services can help the child and young person to express and to 

represent their views, wishes and feelings.   
 
480. Section 38 of the Act provides that a local authority must: 
 

 make arrangements for the provision of independent advocacy services for 
the children and young people for whom it is responsible; 

 refer any child or young person for whom it is responsible who requests 
independent advocacy services to an independent advocacy service 
provider; and 

 refer any person who is a case friend for a child or young person for whom 
it is responsible and who requests independent advocacy services to an 
independent advocacy service provider. 113 

 

                                            
113

 Section 38(1) of the Act. 

Tudalen 111



100 
 

481. Section 38(2) of the Act provides that independent advocacy services provide 
advice and assistance, by way of representation or otherwise, to a child,  young 
person or case friend, should the child or young person: 

 

 make, or intend to make, an appeal to the Tribunal; 

 consider whether to appeal to the Tribunal; or 

 take part, or intend to take part, in arrangements for avoiding or resolving 
disagreement114. 

 
482. The local authority must have regard to the principle that any services provided 

under the arrangements must be independent of any person who is: 
 

 the subject of an appeal to the Tribunal; or 

 involved in investigating or adjudicating on such an appeal.115 
 
483. Local authorities must take reasonable steps to make the services known to116: 
 

 children and young people for whom it is responsible; 

 parents of such children; 

 head teachers and governing bodies of the schools it maintains; 

 case friends for children and young people for whom it is responsible; and 

 any other persons it considers appropriate. 
 

484. When a child, child’s parent or young person receives notification of a decision 
by the school, FEI or local authority on whether a child or young person has 
ALN, or when they receive the finalised IDP, the school, FEI or local authority 
should provide details of the local authority’s arrangements for independent 
advocacy services. This should include contact details for accessing the 
service. 

 
485. If a child or young person is considering using an independent advocacy 

service, the information the service provides should be factual and unbiased.  It 
should clearly outline that engaging with the service is a voluntary process.  

 
486. The advice provided to parties who choose to use independent advocacy 

services is confidential. Parties can use the services to help them to take cases 
to the Tribunal.  

 

Case friends 
 

487. Section 39 of the Act allows regulations to provide for a child or young person 
to have a person support them, known as a “case friend”117.   

 
488. The regulations may allow the case friend to do anything the child or young 

person may or must do, on behalf of the child or young person. 

                                            
114

 Section 38(2) of the Act. 
115

 Section 38(3) of the Act. 
116

 Section 38(5) of the Act. 
117

 Section 39 of the Act. 

Tudalen 112



101 
 

 
[Further versions of the Code will provide guidance in the light of the regulations that 
are made.] 
 
489. The regulations may allow case friends to make representations on behalf of 

the child or young person, with a view to avoiding and resolving disagreements. 
Specifically, disagreements about the exercise of functions performed under 
the Act by maintained schools, FEIs, or local authorities in Wales. 

 
490. The Act provides that a case friend must: 
 

 act fairly and competently; 

 have no interest adverse to that of the child or young person; 

 ensure that all steps and decisions taken by the case friend are for the 
benefit of the child or young person; and  

 take account of the child’s or the young person’s views. 
 

  

Tudalen 113



102 
 

Chapter 21: Appeals to Tribunal 
 
[Sections 40-42 of the Act provide that regulations can be made in relation to 
appeals and tribunal procedures. Final guidance is subject to the content of the 
regulations.]  
 

Introduction 

491. The Education Tribunal for Wales (“the Tribunal”) hears and decides appeals 
about children and young people with ALN. Specifically, it hears and decides 
appeals about the decisions of the governing body of a FEI or a local authority 
in Wales. The Tribunal is independent of government and local authorities and 
its decisions are legally binding. 

 

Matters about which appeals can be made   
 
492. Section 40 of the Act sets out the matters in relation to which a child, child’s 

parent or young person may appeal to the Tribunal: 
 

 a decision by a FEI or local authority as to whether the child or young 
person has ALN; 

 in the case of a young person, a decision by a local authority as to whether 
it is necessary to prepare and maintain an IDP; 

 the description of a person’s ALN in an IDP;  

 the ALP in an IDP, or the fact that ALP is not in an IDP;  

 the school named in an IDP for the purpose of admitting a child to a named 
institution (section 26 of the Act – see Chapter 15; 

 if no school is named in an IDP for the purpose of admission; 

 a decision by the local authority not to take over responsibility for an IDP, 
which is maintained by a school, where it is requested to do so (see 
Chapter 9;  

 a decision to not revise an IDP where the local authority has been asked to 
reconsider the IDP maintained by a maintained school; and 

 a decision to cease to maintain an IDP. 
 

Decisions the Education Tribunal can make 
 
493. Section 40(3) of the Act provides that the Tribunal  may: 
 

 dismiss the appeal; 

 order that a person has, or does not have, ALN of a kind specified in the 
order; 

 order a governing body, FEI or local authority to revise an IDP as specified 
in the order; 

 order a governing body, FEI or local authority to maintain an IDP (with or 
without revisions); 

 order a local authority to take over responsibility for maintaining an IDP; 
and 

Tudalen 114



103 
 

 remit the case to the governing body or local authority responsible for the 
matter for it to reconsider whether, having regard to any observations made 
by the Tribunal, it is necessary for a different decision to be made or 
different action to be taken. 

 

The appeal process 
 
494. Section 41 of the Act provides that regulations may make provision about the 

initiation of an appeal and the proceedings of the Tribunal. [Further guidance 
will be considered in the light of the regulations]. The Tribunal provides advice 
and guidance on registering an appeal and on the procedure.  

 
495. Appeals are heard throughout Wales. The Tribunal will notify the relevant 

parties when and where the hearing will take place. Appeals are heard by a 
group of Tribunal members, who constitute the Tribunal Panel. The Panel has 
specialist knowledge and experience in order to assess the case. 118 

 
496. Once an appeal has been lodged and the Tribunal has registered the appeal 

they will notify the relevant parties and request relevant information and 
evidence.  

 
497. When an appeal has been heard by the Tribunal they will notify the parties to 

the case of their decision. 
 

Compliance with orders 
 
498. Section 42 of the Act provides that if the Tribunal makes an order, the 

governing body or local authority concerned must comply with it before the end 
of the prescribed period beginning with the date it is made.119 

 

Appealing against the decision of the Tribunal  
 
499. A party to any proceedings before the Tribunal may appeal to the Upper 

Tribunal on any point of law arising from a decision made by the Tribunal. An 
appeal to the Upper Tribunal may be brought forward only if the Tribunal or the 
Upper Tribunal has given its permission for the appeal to be brought.  

 
500. This means that if a child, child’s parent or young person considers the decision 

of the Tribunal is wrong in law they can appeal to the Administrative Appeals 
Chamber of the Upper Tribunal.  The Upper Tribunal will only consider matters 
of law. They will not consider the merits of the case, nor will they hear any 
disagreements arising from the case, except for on points of law.  An appeal 
can not be made if there is disagreement with the Tribunal’s decision.  

 

  

                                            
118

 Section 41 of the Act. 
119

 Section 42 of the Act. 

Tudalen 115



104 
 

Chapter 22: Children and young people in specific 
circumstances 
 

Summary 
 
501. This Chapter outlines the arrangements that should be made to support 

children and young people where their specific circumstances require additional 
consideration by those who work with them and support them. 

 
502. These groups include: 
 

 looked after children; 

 persons formerly looked after; 

 children and young people in alternative educational provision; 

 children and young people educated at home; 

 children of service personnel; and  

 children and young people in the youth justice system. 
  

Looked after children 
 
[Section 56 of the Act provides that regulations may make provision for those 
children who are looked after120 and persons formerly looked after121.  
 
The current intention is to provide for a single educational plan for looked after 
children that integrates the existing Personal Educational Plan (“PEP”) with the IDP.  
It was not possible to place detailed provisions on the face of the draft Bill ahead of 
its publication that enable this to happen because  linked elements of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 have yet to be implemented.  Once this 
legislation is complete it will be possible to finalise and include these details 
provisions on the face of the Bill.  Further detail will, therefore, be inserted into the 
Code in due course.] 
 

Other children and young people with care and support plans 
 
503. It should be noted that the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

defines a child as a person who is aged under 18 and an adult as a person who 
is aged 18 or over.122 Therefore, a person defined as a young person for the 
purpose of the Act could be a child or an adult in the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014 depending on their age. 

 
504. The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 sets out who is eligible 

for a care and support plan. This includes where a local authority must meet: 

                                            
120

 i.e. children looked after by the local authority for the purposes of Part 6 of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. 
121

 i.e. persons who were, but are no longer, children looked after by a local authority for the purposes 
of Part 3 of the Children Act 1989 before the coming into force of Part 6 of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. 
122

 Section 3 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. 

Tudalen 116



105 
 

 

 a child’s needs for care and support123; 

 an adult’s needs for care and support124;  

 the needs for support of a carer who is a child125; and 

 the needs for support of a carer who is an adult126. 
 
505. Where a child or young person has a care and support plan or a pathway plan 

and also has ALN, consideration should be given to holding the IDP review and 
the care and support plan / pathway plan meeting at the same time (see 
Chapter 13).  Their care and support needs and ALN should be considered 
simultaneously, as they may inform what support and ALP is most suitable to 
meet their needs in a holistic way. 

 

Education otherwise than at schools (EOTAS) 
 
506. Children and young people may receive education outside the school setting 

(EOTAS).  This refers to any type of education outside the school, where local 
authorities have a duty to provide suitable education for learners of compulsory 
school age who might not otherwise receive any education.  Children and 
young people are educated outside mainstream schools for a number of 
reasons.  They may be ill or injured, have been excluded or have emotional and 
behavioural difficulties. The EOTAS provision can include Pupil Referral Units 
(PRUs), schools established in hospitals, FEIs, and individual tuition (but not 
elective home education).  

 
507. A local authority may arrange for the ALP identified in an IDP it maintains for a 

child, or any part of that provision, to be made otherwise than in a school, but 
the local authority may only do so if it is satisfied that it would be inappropriate 
for the ALP to be made in a school127. 

 
508. Where a child is educated otherwise than at school and it is brought to the 

attention of the local authority that the child may have ALN, and an IDP is not 
being maintained for that child, the local authority must decide whether the 
child has ALN, unless the exceptions apply (see Chapter 9). 

 
509. Local authorities are required to ensure that a child of compulsory school age 

receives suitable education. Suitable education means efficient education, 
suitable to a child’s ability and aptitude and to any ALN they may have. This 
education must be full-time, unless the local authority determines that, for 
reasons relating to the physical or mental health of the child, a reduced level of 
education would be in the child’s best interests128. 

 
510. Where a child has an IDP and it is arranged that the child will be educated 

otherwise than at school, it would often be appropriate for the local authority to 

                                            
123

 Section 37 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  
124

 Section 35 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  
125

 Section 42 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  
126

 Section 40 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  
127

 Section 30 of the Act. 
128

 Section 7 of the Education Act 1996. 

Tudalen 117



106 
 

become responsible for maintaining an IDP, where it was not previously, and 
reviewing the IDP in consideration of the new setting the child will be attending.  

 
511. Where an alternative provider has concerns that the child’s needs are not being 

met, or they have, or may have ALN, they should raise their concerns with the 
responsible local authority.  

 
512. Where a child is educated otherwise than at school, the general timetable and 

arrangements for the local authority to put in place an IDP, where it determines 
that the child requires one, and reviews of IDPs remain the same (see Chapter 
12-15). 

 
513. In the case of a child educated otherwise than at school, the range of 

professionals involved in the IDP process may be wider and, in some respects, 
different from those professionals involved where a child does attend a school. 
The IDP meeting, or the review meeting, should take place in the most 
appropriate location, such as in the local authority’s offices, a hospital or the 
parent’s home. 

 
Children and young people in alternative provision because of health needs 
 
514. The DMO or DCO will have a strategic role in ensuring appropriate support is in 

place for children and young people with ALN being educated otherwise than at 
a school because of major difficulties relating to health. The DMO or DCO must 
work with staff within the relevant local authority to ensure support is in place to 
support this group of learners achieve their potential. 

 
515. Children and young people who are in hospital or placed in other forms of 

alternative provision because of their health needs, should have access to 
education that is on a par with that of mainstream provision (where that is 
suitable), including appropriate support to meet the needs of those with ALN. 
The education they receive should be good quality and prevent them from 
slipping behind their peers. It should involve suitably qualified staff who can 
help learners progress and enable them to successfully reintegrate back into 
school as soon as possible. 

 
516. Local authorities and health professionals should work together to minimise the 

disruption to a child or young person’s education. Ideally, the local authority will 
be notified before any hospital placement in order to arrange education and 
provide any ALP. 

 
517. Where a child or young person with an IDP is admitted to hospital for a 

sustained period of time, the IDP must be reviewed to ensure it remains 
relevant and that the child or young person’s ALN continues to be met. 

 
518. Where a child or young person with health needs is returning to mainstream 

education, the local authority should work with the child, child’s parent or young 
person and the school or FEI to support a smooth reintegration.  

 
 

Tudalen 118



107 
 

Pupil Referral Units 
 
519. Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) are a form of EOTAS provision. There is a high 

correlation between those children and young people who attend a PRU and 
who have ALN. 

 
520. Where it is brought to the attention, or otherwise appears that a child or young 

person attending a PRU may have ALN , and an IDP is not being maintained 
for them, the local authority is responsible for deciding whether they have ALN 
under section 12 of the Act (unless section 13 of the Act applies). 

 
521. If the local authority decides that the child or young person does not have ALN 

it must notify the child or young person and in the case of a child the child’s 
parent in accordance with section 12(2) of the Act. 

 
522. If the local authority decides that the child or young person has ALN the local 

authority must prepare and maintain an IDP in accordance with section 12 of 
the Act  

 

Children and young people with ALN receiving elective home 
education 
 
523. Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 (as amended) places a duty on the parents 

of every child of compulsory school age to ensure their child receives efficient, 
full-time education suitable to their age, ability, aptitude, and to any ALN that 
they may have, either by regular attendance at school or otherwise129.  

 
524. Local authorities should work in partnership and support parents to help them 

meet the ALN of children receiving elective home education.  Local authorities 
do not have a right of entry to the family home to check that the provision being 
made by parents is appropriate, and may only enter the home if the families 
consent to it.  Parents should be encouraged to see this process as part of the 
local authority’s overall approach to home education of learners with ALN, who 
can provide additional support and expertise rather than an attempt to 
undermine the parents’ decision to home educate.  

 
525. Local authorities should not assume that because the provision being made by 

parents is different from that which was being made or would have been made 
in school, that the provision is necessarily unsuitable. Local authorities should 
also consider helping parents make suitable provision. 

 
526. Parents who choose to educate their child at home and believe the child or 

young person has ALN, have the right to ask the local authority to determine 
the matter130.  Where the local authority decides not to put in place an IDP, the 
child and the child’s parents have the same right to appeal as everyone else.  

                                            
129

 It is our intention that section 7 of the Education Act 1996 will be amended to replace the words 
‘special educational needs’ in this section with ‘additional learning needs’.  
130

 Section 12 of the Act. 

Tudalen 119



108 
 

Equally, the child and the child’s parents have the same right to appeal about 
the ALP in the IDP or the fact that ALP is not in a plan 

 
527. Further information on the responsibilities of schools and parents where a 

registered pupil is receiving education otherwise than at school and the local 
authorities’ responsibility for ensuring the child’s needs are being met can be 
found within the Welsh Government’s Inclusion and Pupil Support Guidance131. 

   

Children of service personnel  
 
528. The Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS) within the Ministry of 

Defence (MoD) provides advice and guidance to Service parents, educational 
establishments and local authorities on educational issues relating to Service 
children, including issues relating to ALN. Service Children’s Education (SCE) 
provides mainstream education for service children in some overseas locations. 
As the resources available overseas are different from the UK, MoD services 
complete an MoD Assessment of Supportability Overseas (MASO) for all 
Service children with complex needs before an overseas posting is agreed.  

 
529. Children whose parent(s) are Service Personnel may face difficulties that are 

unique to the nature of their parent’s employment. These needs may arise 
from:  

 

 service induced mobility – Service Personnel may relocate more often than 
the rest of the population and, sometimes, at short notice. Such transitions 
should be well managed to avoid Service children with ALN experiencing 
delays in having their needs assessed and met; or 

   

 the deployment of serving parents to operational arenas – while not 
constituting ALN in itself, may result in a Service child experiencing anxiety, 
dips in educational performance and/or emotional difficulties. Children may 
also be affected similarly by siblings’ deployment.  

 
530. Educational institutions should aspire to meet the aspirations of the Armed 

Forces Covenant, which attempts to eliminate or mitigate some of the potential 
disadvantages faced by Service families. All those with statutory responsibilities 
towards Service children with ALN should ensure that the impact of their 
policies, administrative processes and patterns of provision do not 
disadvantage such children because of their Service-related lifestyle. 

 
531. Local authorities should take account of the particular needs of any Service 

communities within their boundaries when providing or planning ALP for 
Service children with ALN.  

 
532. In respect of Service children, the school, FEI or local authority responsible for 

preparing and/or maintaining the IDP should: 
 

                                            
131

 http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/circulars/2463797/?lang=en 

Tudalen 120

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/circulars/2463797/?lang=en


109 
 

 ensure that all reviews for Service children with ALN consider those 
Service-related issues (e.g. service induced mobility) relevant to the 
outcomes of those reviews;  

 

 ensure that access to appropriate assessments, interventions and provision 
is determined solely on the nature, severity and complexity of the needs 
presented by Service children with ALN and is not related to the amount of 
time they have left in a particular school;  

 

 consider the likely impact on the Service child’s needs and the provision 
made to meet those needs of any relevant Service-related issue, and when 
determining whether or not a Service child has ALN it may be appropriate 
to seek advice from the CEAS; and 

 

 use all relevant evidence – including EHC plans in England, statements in 
Northern Ireland, Co-ordinate Support Plans in Scotland and the Service 
Children’s Assessment of Need (SCAN) completed for them by the SCE – 
when assessing appropriate provision for Service children with ALN. 

 
Education Tribunal for Wales 
 
533. In reaching decisions about appeals from Service parents, the Tribunal should 

consider, on the basis of the evidence available to them, the extent to which 
Service-induced mobility has had, is having,  and will have an impact on the 
appropriateness and effectiveness of the ALP in an IDP and that requested by 
a parent.  

 

Children and young people with ALN in the youth justice system 
 
534. Section 57 – 62 of the Act outlines roles and responsibilities in relation to 

children and young people who are sentenced or remanded by the Courts to 
relevant youth accommodation in England and Wales.  

 
535. This section does not apply to a detained person serving their sentence in the 

community or in detention accommodation for adults. 
 
536. Relevant youth accommodation in this section refers to young offender 

institutions, secure training centres or secure children’s homes. The term 
‘detained person’ will be used in this section to refer to these children and 
young people.  

 
537. ‘The person in charge of relevant youth accommodation’ includes the Governor, 

Director or Principal in charge of the accommodation. 
 
538. ‘Home authority’ is the local authority where the young person is ordinarily 

resident (excluding any period when the person is subject to a detention order) 
or, in relation to a child who is or was looked after by an authority under the 
Children Act 1989, the local authority that is or was most recently looking after 
the person. 

 

Tudalen 121

https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/enhRunRemoteLink.do?A=0.9426154973325026&service=citation&langcountry=GB&backKey=20_T22605903770&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23num%251989_41a_Title%25&ersKey=23_T22605903767


110 
 

Help and sharing of information  
 

539.  Section 39A of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides that a youth 
offending team (“YOT”) must notify the home authority when a child or young 
person aged 18 and under is detained. 

 
540.  All children and young people entering the youth justice system are assessed 

by the YOT, using the approved Youth Justice Board (YJB) assessment tool. 
As part of the assessment process, YOTs will seek information from a number 
of sources, including local authorities, schools and/or FEIs and the education 
provider in the custodial establishment. If a local authority, school or FEI 
receives such a request they should respond to it as soon as possible.  

 
541. Chapter 13 provides further information regarding instances where a home 

authority requires help and information from other bodies, including YOT’s and 
the person in charge of relevant youth accommodation. 

 

Education within the youth justice system 
 
542. Section 562B of the Education Act 1996 provides that the home authority must 

monitor the education or training of a detained person and take such steps as 
the home authority consider appropriate to promote the fulfilment of the 
detained person’s learning potential during custody and following their release, 
whether they have an IDP or not. It is, therefore, important that the home 
authority monitors the education and training of a detained person and 
continues to engage with them whilst they are in custody.  

 
543. The detained person’s YOT will be the key point of contact between the person 

in charge of the relevant youth accommodation and the home authority. 
However, the home authority may also need to discuss the provision directly 
with the person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation and the 
education provider. 

 

Preparing an IDP for a detained person  
 
544. Sections 57–59 of the Act relate to the preparation of an IDP for a detained 

person where they have entered relevant youth accommodation without an 
IDP. 

 
545. Where it is brought to the attention of, or otherwise appears to, a home 

authority in Wales, for example by notification from the YOT, that a detained 
person may have ALN and an IDP is not being kept for them under section 60 
of the Act, the home authority must: 

 

 decide whether or not the detained person has ALN; and  

 if it decides that the detained person has ALN, it must decide, in 
accordance with regulations, whether it may be necessary for an IDP to be 

Tudalen 122



111 
 

maintained for the detained person when they are released from 
detention132. 

 
546. A home authority is not required to make this decision where: 
 

 the detained person is a young person who does not consent to the 
decision being made; or 

 the home authority has previously decided whether the detained person 
has ALN and is satisfied that the detained person’s needs have not 
changed substantially since the decision was made, and there is no new 
information that materially affects the decision133. 

 
547. Where the home authority is required to make the decision it must, before 

doing so, invite the person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation to 
participate in the decision, and, if appropriate, in the preparation of the IDP134. 

 
548. In coming to this decision, the home authority should consider any relevant 

information, for instance from YOTs, the YJB assessment tool and relevant 
youth accommodation as well as from schools and FEIs. Carers, health and 
social care professionals and youth workers can also support the identification 
of ALN. 

 
549. If the home authority decides that a detained person has ALN and that it may 

be necessary for an IDP to be maintained for the detained person when they 
are released from detention, the home  authority must135: 

 

 prepare an IDP for the detained person; and  

 give a copy of the plan to the detained person, the parent of a detained 
person who is a child, and the person in charge of the relevant youth 
accommodation. 

 
550. Where the local authority decides that the detained person does not have ALN, 

or that it would not be necessary for an IDP to be maintained for the detained 
person when they are released from detention, it must notify the detained 
person, the parent of the detained person who is a child, and the person in 
charge of the relevant youth accommodation of the decision and the reason for 
the decision136.  

 
551. A home authority must also provide notification of the home authority’s 

information and advice services, the availability of independent advocacy, 
avoidance of disagreements and disagreement resolution services (see 
Chapter 20) and their rights of appeal to the Education Tribunal for Wales 
(Chapter 21). 

 
 

                                            
132

 Section 58 of the Act. 
133

 Section 59 of the Act. 
134

 Section 58(3) of the Act. 
135

 Section 58(5) of the Act. 
136

 Section 58(4) of the Act. 

Tudalen 123



112 
 

Duty to keep an IDP for detained persons and arrange appropriate 
learning provision 
 
552. Section 60 of the Act provides that where a detained person had an IDP 

maintained for them immediately before the beginning of their detention by a 
school, FEI, or local authority, or a home authority has prepared an IDP during 
detention under section 58 of the Act, the home local authority must keep the 
IDP whilst the person is detained.  

 
553. Where an IDP was being maintained by a school or FEI prior to detention, the 

duty to keep an IDP only applies where it is brought to the attention of the home 
authority. 

 
554. The home authority must inform the detained person, the parent of a detained 

person who is a child, and the person in charge of the relevant youth 
accommodation in writing that it is keeping an IDP while the person is being 
detained. 

 
555. Where the home authority keeps an IDP, it must arrange for appropriate 

learning provision to be provided to the detained person while they are being 
detained. 

 
556. Appropriate learning provision is defined in section 60(8) of the Act as: 
 

 ALP specified in the IDP; or 

 if it appears to the local authority that it is not practical for the ALP specified 
in the IDP to be provided, then educational provision corresponding as 
closely as possible to that ALP, or if it appears to the local authority that the 
ALP specified in the IDP is no longer appropriate for the detained person, 
then ALP which the home authority considers appropriate. 

 
557. It might not always be practicable to deliver the exact provision in the IDP. 

Where the provision is not currently available within the relevant youth 
accommodation it does not necessarily mean that it is impracticable for it to be 
arranged. Where it is not practicable to arrange specified provision in the IDP, 
the home authority must arrange educational provision corresponding as 
closely as possible to it and should work with the person in charge of the 
relevant youth accommodation and the education provider to identify how to do 
so. 

 
558. If it appears to the home authority that the additional learning provision 

specified in the IDP is no longer appropriate, e.g. the detained person’s needs 
have changed since their last review or they have previously unidentified 
needs, the home authority must arrange additional learning provision that the 
home authority considers appropriate. 

   
559. Failure to meet the needs of the child or young person might lead to a higher 

chance of reoffending. Therefore, home authorities should work closely with the 
person in charge of relevant youth accommodation and the YOT who must co-

Tudalen 124



113 
 

operate with the local authority in order to enable them to fulfil this duty137, 
unless they consider that doing so would be incompatible with their own duties 
or otherwise have an adverse effect on the exercise of their functions.  

 
560. In practice, educational provision in relevant youth accommodation, including 

any additional support that a detained person may require as part of an IDP, 
will be delivered by an education provider under contractual arrangements with 
the YJB or the custodial operator and is commissioned and funded centrally. 

 
561. A home authority should work closely with the providers to arrange provision. 

The home authority should seek to do this as soon as they become aware of 
the detained person entering custody, using the custodial establishment’s and 
YOT’s existing planning procedures wherever possible. 

 
562. Whilst the detained person is in custody the home authority must not amend 

the IDP, carry out a review or cease to maintain the IDP. 
 
563. Custodial sentences for detained persons are often short. As such, it is 

important for decisions to be made as soon as possible to enable the provision 
to be put in place without delay.  

 

IDP’s for children and young people on release from relevant youth 
accommodation 

 
564. Section 39A of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides that where a YOT 

becomes aware that a detained person has been released from custody, the 
YOT must, as soon as practicable, notify the following of this fact: the home 
authority, the local authority where the detained person was in custody and any 
other local authority where it is expected that the detained person will live on 
release. This assists the resettlement process. 

 
565. From the date the detained person is released, if a local authority in Wales 

becomes responsible for that person due to the detained person residing in 
their local authority area on release, the local authority must maintain the plan 
under section 12 of the Act.  

 
566. The local authority must review the IDP as soon as it is reasonably practical. 

The authority should take into account any evidence provided by the custodial 
establishment, education provider and YOT to ensure the IDP is informed by 
any previous assessments undertaken. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
137

 See Chapter 13 regarding the provision of help and assistance to a local authority and also section 
49 of the Act. 

Tudalen 125



114 
 

Cross-border issues 
 

567. In some instances a Welsh-resident child or young person will be detained in 
relevant youth accommodation in England and English-resident child or young 
person detained in Wales. 

 
568. Where a Welsh-resident child or young person is detained in youth custody in 

England, the home Welsh local authority may have to prepare an IDP, or keep 
an IDP in accordance with sections 57–60 of the Act. Where it does so, it 
should work closely with the YOT, the person in charge of relevant youth 
accommodation and the education provider.   

 
569. For those detained in Wales who are not Welsh-resident children or young 

people, it is the responsibility of the English home authority to abide by any 
duties they are under by virtue of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
section 562 of the Education Act 1996. A Welsh home authority does not have 
any responsibility for an English resident detained person in relevant youth 
accommodation in Wales. 

 
Appeal to the Education Tribunal for Wales 

 
570. Section 62(2) of the Act provides that a  detained person, or the parent of a 

detained person who is a child, may appeal to the Tribunal against the following 
matters: 

 

 a decision of the home local authority to prepare or not to prepare an IDP 
for a detained person when they are released from detention; 

 the ALP in an IDP, or the fact that ALP is not included in the plan (this will 
be the ALP applicable on release from detention); 

 the school named in an IDP for the purpose of admission on release from 
detention; or 

 if no school is named in an IDP for the purpose of admission on release 
from detention. 

 
571. Section 62(3) of the Act provides that on appeal, the Tribunal may: 

 dismiss the appeal; 

 order that a person has ALN of a kind specified in the order; 

 order the local authority to revise an IDP as specified in the order; or 

 remit the case to the home local authority responsible for the matter for it to 
reconsider whether, having regard to any observations made by the 
Tribunal, it is necessary for a different decision to be made or different 
action to be taken  

 
572.  Please refer to Chapter 21 for further guidance on appeals to the Education 

Tribunal for Wales 
 

Tudalen 126



Draft Additional Learning Needs Code 
 

SYLWADAU 
 

I’w ddarllen wrth gyfeirio at y Ddogfen Cod ei hun, sef Draft Additional Learning Needs Code (9.15) 
 

Tudalen paragraff Sylwadau 

7 1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3 

Mae’r ddogfen yn deud i ddechrau bod Awdurdodau ‘must have regard ‘ i’r 
cod newydd, sydd yr un statws â’r cod presennol, ond, gweler paragraff 3 
wedyn: 
Mae rhaid i’r Awdurdod allu rhoi gwybodaeth a chyngor, (yn ogystal â 
gwasanaethau) a chynrychiolaeth annibynnol (advocacy). 
Mae gan yr Awdurdod (ac ysgolion a cholegau addysg bellach) gyfrifoldeb 
am  y paratoi, cynnwys, adolygu ac ail-ymweld â Cynlluniau Datblygu Unigol - 
CDU (Individual Development Plans - IDP) ac i ddod â’r CDU i ben 
Mae’n deud bod rhaid i’r ysgol/coleg/Awdurdod gydymffurfio ( must 
comply)efo cynnwys y cod ac mae hyn yn gryfach statws na’r cod presennol. 

9 
 

14 Nifer o egwyddorion, yn cynnwys y dylid gwneud trefniadau ar y cyfle 
cynharaf (earliest opportunities), cadw’r plentyn yn ganolog yn y broses, a 
gwneud trefniadau ar gyfer Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol – ADY (Additional 
Learning Needs - ALN) fel rhan o bolisi ysgol gyfan.  Ni ellir anghytuno â hyn. 

13 32 
 
34 

Bydd bob ysgol yn penodi Cydlynydd Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol – 
Cydlynydd ADY (Additional Learning Needs Co-ordinator - ALNCO) 
Mae’n ddyletswydd ar bob athro (teaching practitioner - yn cynnwys 
cymorthyddion?) i gael hyfforddiant mewn anghenion dysgu ychwanegol. 

14 41 
43 

Bydd y Cydlynydd ADY yn rhan o uwch dim rheoli’r ysgol. 
Bydd y Cydlynydd ADY yn gyfrifol am reoli staff ADY, a threfnu adnoddau 
eraill. 

15 46 Bydd y Cydlynydd ADY yn uwchathro (senior teacher), gyda chymwysterau 
priodol. 

17 49 Mae dyletswydd ar y Bwrdd Iechyd i adnabod Swyddog Meddygol 
Dynodedig (Designated Medical Officer, sef yn feddyg) neu Swyddog Clinigol 
Dynodedig (Designated Clinical Officer, sef yn  nyrs) i gydlynu gwaith y 
Bwrdd Iechyd ynglŷn ag anghenion dysgu ychwanegol.  Gall y person hwn 
fod felly yn nyrs neu’n ddoctor, ac ni fydd unrhyw wahaniaeth yn y 
dyletswyddau.  

19 56 Mae pwyslais ar sicrhau bod rhieni, plant (sef rhai sydd o oed statudol ysgol) 
a phobl ifanc (16-25 oed) yn cymryd rhan lawn yn y trafodaethau a’r 
trefniadau. 

23 79 
 
81 

Mae’n rhaid i’r Awdurdod Lleol wneud trefniadau i ddarparu gwybodaeth a 
chyngor, i fod ar gael i’r canlynol: 
Plant a phobl ifanc, rhieni’r plant, penaethiaid ac unrhyw un perthnasol arall. 

24 
 

87 
88 

Mae’r wybodaeth yn cynnwys manylion gweinyddol a threfniadol. 
Yn cynnwys hefyd  - ‘materion yn ymwneud ag ADY’ 

26 94 
 
96 
 
97 

Mae’r Awdurdod yn gorfod penderfynu (determine) a oes gan yr unigolyn 
ADY. 
Diffiniad ADY yw anawsterau sydd yn galw am Ddarpariaeth Ddysgu 
Ychwanegol - DDY (Additional Learning Provision -  ALP). 
Mae ADY hefyd ’a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority 
of others of the same age’. 

 

Tudalen 127



27 101 Diffiniad DDY yw darpariaeth sydd yn ‘additional to, or different from, that 
made generally for others of the same age’. 

28 108 Nid yw trefniadau i wahaniaethu gwaith yn cyfrif fel DDY. 

29 113 Ni fydd pob plentyn efo anabledd yn angenrheidiol yn blentyn ag ADY. 

30 119 Nid yw plant galluog a thalentog yn cyfrif fel plant ag ADY. 

31 125 Maent yn rhoi rhestr o arbenigwyr sydd yn gallu cynorthwyo yn y broses o 
adnabod plant ag ADY. 

33 129 Mae’r Bwrdd Iechyd yn gallu hysbysu (notify) bod plentyn efallai ag ADY. 

35 141 
 
 
 
 
143 

Mae rhaid i’r ysgol benderfynu (determine) a oes gan blentyn ADY, neu, 
Cyfeirio’r mater i’r Awdurdod Lleol i benderfynu hyn, os ydynt yn meddwl  
Bod y mater tu hwnt i’w medrusrwydd (capability) neu  
Fod ADY y plentyn yn galw am DDY na fyddai’n rhesymol i’r ysgol yna ei 
darparu. 
Mae dyletswydd ar bob ysgol sydd yn cael ei chynnal asesu lefel cyrhaeddiad 
plentyn dros amser, 

38 156 Os yw’r ysgol wedi penderfynu bod plentyn ag ADY, mae’n rhaid i’r ysgol 
ddarparu Cynllun Datblygu Unigol - CDU (Individual Development Plan - IDP) 

39 164 
 
166 

Mae myfyrwyr mewn colegau addysg bellach sydd efo ADY yn gorfod datgan 
hun eu hunain, bod nhw o’r farn efallai eu bod ag ADY. 
Nid yw trefniadau i wahaniaethu gwaith yn cyfrif fel DDY mewn coleg addysg 
bellach chwaith. 

40 169 Os yw’r ysgol yn penderfynu nad oes gan blentyn neu berson ifanc ADY bydd 
rhaid hysbysu’r rhieni a’r plentyn o hyn. 

42 184 Mae’r Awdurdodau i fod i sefydlu grwpiau i drafod a chysoni i’w gilydd ar 
draws ardaloedd. 

44 196 
 
 
199 

Bydd rhaid i’r Awdurdod benderfynu (determine) a oes gan blentyn ADY  a 
darparu DDY ‘where the child or young person’s needs are more severe or 
complex’. 
Fedr hyn ddigwydd os, 
Oes gan y plentyn gyflwr sydd yn digwydd ond yn anaml, neu, 
Mae’n golygu eu bod angen cyngor a chynhaliaeth reolaidd gan asiantaethau 
allanol, neu, 
Mae angen cyfarpar sydd tu hwnt i adnoddau rhesymol yr ysgol, neu, 
Mae angen ‘very intensive daily support which cannot be reasonably funded 
or secured by the school or college budget’. 

45 203 Os yw achos wedi ei amlygu i’r Awdurdod Lleol (‘brought to the attention 
of’) sydd efallai ag ADY ac nad oes CDU ar gyfer y person hwnnw, mae’n 
rhaid i’r Awdurdod benderfynu (determine) a oes ganddo ADY. 

46 205 
 
207 
 
 
208 

Mae rhaid i Awdurdod benderfynu a oes gan blentyn ADY os ydynt yn byw 
yn yr ardal. 
Fedr Awdurdod beidio penderfynu ar (‘determine’) a oes gan blentyn neu 
berson ifanc ADY mewn rhai amgylchiadau, yn cynnwys os yw’r ysgol neu 
goleg ei hun yn gwneud hynny. 
Ond, os oes apêl, gan y plentyn, person ifanc, neu’r rhiant, yna bydd rhaid 
iddynt wneud y penderfyniad llawn. 

47 211 Os yw Awdurdod wedi penderfynu bod gan blentyn ADY, mae’n rhaid iddynt 
un ai, 
Paratoi  a Chynnal CDU, neu, 
Paratoi CDU a chyfarwyddo’r ysgol i’w gynnal, neu, 
Gyfarwyddo’r ysgol i wneud y ddau, sef paratoi a chynnal y CDU. 

 

Tudalen 128



48 217 Os yw plentyn neu’i rieni’n herio cynnwys CDU, bydd rhaid i’r Awdurdod ail-
ystyried (‘reconsider’) y CDU. 

49 226 Bydd rhaid i Awdurdod Lleol ystyried cais gan riant neu blentyn neu berson 
ifanc i gymryd dros y cyfrifoldeb am CDU. 

50 231 
236 

Mae rhaid i Awdurdod Lleol gadw bob DDY dan arolygiaeth. 
Mae gan yr Awdurdod hawl i fynd ar dir ysgolion a cholegau mewn rhai 
amgylchiadau. 

52 240 
241 

Rhaid i’r CDU gynnwys rhai pethau, yn cynnwys: 
Disgrifiad o’r ADY a’r DDY. 

53 247 Hefyd, rhaid cynnwys gwybodaeth fywgraffiadol. 

54 252 A chynnwys yr allbynnau y bwriedir eu gweld (‘intended outcomes’  - 
targedau). 

56 259 
 
260 

Rhaid i CDU hefyd gynnwys ’what was discussed and agreed throughout the 
process of creating the DDY’. 
Mae cynnwys y DDY yn cael ei greu gan asiantaethau a phobl broffesiynol yn 
gweithio gyda’i gilydd, wedi ei ddatblygu mewn ffordd hyblyg, wedi ei ganoli 
ar yr unigolyn.  Mae’n hawdd i’w ddarllen, a does dim jargon. 

58 270 
 
275 

Mae hefyd yn cynnwys Proffil un Dudalen, yn rhoi’r wybodaeth mewn ffordd 
gryno a hawdd i’w hamgyffred. 
Rhaid cynnwys cyfraniadau gan bobl broffesiynol, yn cynnwys asiantaethau 
allanol megis Iechyd, Gwaith Cymdeithasol. 

59 278 Mae pwyslais ar yr ‘IDP meeting’.  H.y. mae angen cyfarfod i ffurfio’r CDU. 

60 287 
 
 
290 

Rhaid i unrhyw wybodaeth ynglŷn ag, er enghraifft, faint o gymorth 
Therapydd Lleferydd mae rhywun yn ei gael bob wythnos, fod wedi ei 
gytuno efo’r asiantaethau eu hunain o’r dechrau. 
Hefyd, rhaid gosod yr ‘intended outcomes’. 

61 296 Rhaid i’r allbynnau fod yn SMART, sef: 
Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, Time-bound. 

62 298 
300 

Rhaid i’r CDU gynnwys digwyddiadau allweddol,. 
Mae hyn yn cynnwys profion a nodiadau gan seicolegwyr ac eraill. 

65 309 Mae’n pwysleisio eto bod angen cyfarfod i baratoi’r CDU. 

66 315 
318 
 
319 

Rhaid paratoi CDU cychwynnol o fewn 7 wythnos. 
Os bydd yr ysgol yn cyfeirio’r mater i’r Awdurdod, rhaid penderfynu hyn 
mewn 1 wythnos. 
Os bydd yr Awdurdod yn gorfod penderfynu a oes gan rywun ADY, mae 
ganddynt wedyn 10 wythnos i ddarparu CDU. 

67 323 Mae rhaid i’r Awdurdod anfon CDU drafft i bawb oedd yn y cyfarfod, a’i 
newid o yng ngolwg sylwadau pawb yn cynnwys y rhieni. 

69 332 Mewn achosion cymhleth, bydd  asiantaethau allanol yn cyfrannu at y 
broses, yn cynnwys cyngor addysgol, cyngor meddygol, seicolegol a.y.y.b. fel 
sydd yn digwydd ar hyn o bryd. 

70 335 Bydd rhaid i’r bobl broffesiynol yma fod ag yr awdurdod i wneud 
penderfyniadau a ’be accountable for these decisions’. 

72 345 
 
 

Rhaid i Fwrdd Iechyd neu Ymddiriedolaethau Gwasanaeth Iechyd 
Cenedlaethol sicrhau'r ddarpariaeth sydd wedi ei nodi yn y CDU, ond mae 
hyn yn ddarpariaeth maen nhw eisoes wedi cytuno i ddarparu. 

74 353 Mae’n sôn am gludiant ond nid yw’n rhoi manylion. 

76 362 Mae dyletswydd ar yr Awdurdod Lleol i ‘ffafrio’ addysgu plant mewn 
ysgolion prif-lif. 

78 371 Mae awdurdod yn gallu enwi ysgol i sicrhau bod y plentyn yn cael mynediad 
i’r ysgol honno. 

Tudalen 129



81 396 Bydd angen ystyried darpariaeth breswyl, 
Os nad oes modd cwrdd ag anghenion y plentyn mewn darpariaeth ddyddiol 
leol, neu, 
Os oes angen rhaglen gyson yn ystod oriau ysgol ynghyd â  thu allan i oriau 
ysgol. 

82 399 Bydd angen cyllido rhai pethau ar y cyd efo Byrddau Iechyd mewn rhai 
achosion, fel ar hyn o bryd. 

83 405 Bydd angen adolygu CDU o fewn 12 mis. 

84 410 Ac adolygu o fewn tri neu chwe mis efo plant ‘ifanc iawn’. 

85 418 Mewn cyfarfod adolygu weithiau bydd adroddiad ysgrifenedig gan 
asiantaethau allanol yn ddigonol, os nad oes modd i’r person proffesiynol 
fynychu’r cyfarfod. 

89 438 Weithiau bydd yr Awdurdod neu’r ysgol yn penderfynu dod â Chynllun 
Datblygu Unigol i ben. 

95 452 Mae dyletswydd ar yr Awdurdod Lleol i roi trefniadau mewn lle i ddatrys 
anghydfod ac anghytundeb. 

99 480 Rhaid i’r Awdurdod sicrhau bod Gwasanaeth Advocacy ar gael, sef corff sydd 
yn cymryd rhan y plenty neu berson ifanc, a hyrwyddo ei allu i fynegi’i farn. 

102 492 Mae gan y plentyn, y person ifanc, neu’r rhieni'r hawl i apelio i’r Tribiwnlys 
os nad ydynt yn fodlon efo nifer o gamau yn y broses. 

 

Tudalen 130



 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                             

Uned Gyllid Datblygu 

Cyngor Gwynedd                                                                                                                                                                    Ad20112015 

 

PWYLLGOR   Cyd-Bwyllgor Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig 
 

DYDDIAD   20 Tachwedd 2015 
 

TEITL YR ADRODDIAD Cyllideb 2015/2016 
 

ADRODDIAD GAN  Pennaeth Gwasanaeth Cyllid 
 

 
 

Cyllideb 2015/2016  

 
Mae’r gyllideb yn ymgorffori darpariaeth ar gyfer –  

 +2.2% i seicolegwyr a staff gweinyddol 

 +1% i athrawon 

 incrementau cyflogau  

 addasiad yswiriant gwladol 

 cynnydd blwydd-dal athrawon o 14.1% i 16.48% ym Medi 2015 

 chwyddiant cyffredinol 

 10% toriad Ynys Môn 
 
Lefel sefydliad cyfredol y Cyd-Bwyllgor – 

 8.1 Seicolegwyr 

 7.6 Athrawon Arbenigol 

 6.4 Staff Gweinyddol 
 
Mae 10% o arbedion i’w darganfod yn barhaol gan Ynys Môn o £55,210 (11.9% mewn termau 
real).  Mae swyddogion y Cyd-Bwyllgor a’r ddau Awdurdod Addysg angen cytuno ar y toriadau 
arfaethedig i’w cyflwyno i’r Cyd-Bwyllgor. 
 
Mae canran cyfraniad Gwynedd wedi cynyddu o 61.37% i 64.27% (£752,046) a chyfraniad 
Ynys Môn wedi lleihau o 38.63% i 35.73% (£464,637 i £418,174). 
 
 
 

Argymhelliad 

 
Gofynnir i’r Cyd-Bwyllgor gymeradwyo a mabwysiadu’r gyllideb am 2015/2016 gan ofyn i 
swyddogion gyflwyno toriadau arfaethedig yn y cyfarfod nesaf. 

Tudalen 131

Eitem 5 ar y Rhaglen



   

CYD-BWYLLGOR ANGHENION ADDYSGOL ARBENNIG

CYLLIDEB 2015/2016

Cyllideb 

2014/2015

chwyddiant a 

chostau eraill

Cyllideb 

2015/2016

sefydliad £ £ £

Gwariant staffio

  Gweithwyr Ebrill

       Cyflogau 2014

           -  Seicolegwyr (8.1) 524,240 12,070 536,310

           -  Athrawon Arbenigol (7.6) 382,304 8,096 390,400

            - Gweinyddol (6.4) 191,233 2,147 193,380

       Hyfforddiant 9,520 0 9,520

       Yswiriant Atebolrwydd 3,090 -90 3,000

    Adeilad

       Trethi 4,850 90 4,940

       Rhent a Gwasanaethau 11,290 340 11,630

    Cludiant

      Costau Teithio 50,780 0 50,780

    Cyflenwadau a Gwasanaethau

       Adnoddau / Deunydd Swyddfa 17,480 0 17,480
       Ffôn 8,780 180 8,960

       Post 1,840 40 1,880

       Costau Canolog Ynys Môn 1,630 0 1,630

       Costau Canolog Gwynedd 4,910 50 4,960

       Arbedion i'w darganfod - Ynys Môn 0 -55,210 -55,210

    Cyfanswm Gwariant 1,211,947 -32,287 1,179,660

Incwm

    Incwm Allanol 9,160 280 9,440

    Cyfraniad Cyngor Gwynedd 61.37% 738,150 13,896 752,046 64.27%

    Cyfraniad Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn 38.63% 464,637 -46,463 418,174 35.73%

    Cyfanswm Incwm 1,211,947 -32,287 1,179,660

    Cyfanswm Gwariant Net 0 0 0

cyllideb 2015/2016  20 Tachwedd 2015
Tudalen 132



 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                             

Uned Gyllid Datblygu 

Cyngor Gwynedd                                                                                                                                                          Ad20112015 Adolygiad 

PWYLLGOR   Cydbwyllgor Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig 
 

DYDDIAD   20 Tachwedd 2015 
 

TEITL YR ADRODDIAD Adolygiad Cyfrifon 2015/2016 

 
 

ADRODDIAD GAN  Pennaeth Gwasanaeth Cyllid 
 

 
 

Adolygiad Cyfrifon 2015/2016  
1.0 Mae sefydliad staffio parhaol y Cyd-Bwyllgor yn cyfateb i  - 

 8.1 seicolegwyr   

 7.6 athrawon arbenigol 

 6.4 staff gweinyddol   
Ar sail y sefydliad yma mae cyllideb y Cyd-Bwyllgor wedi’i greu. 
 
2.0 Dyma newidiadau staffio y Cyd-Bwyllgor,hyd yma, yn ystod 2015/16. 

2.1 Seicolegwyr –  

 6.7 parhaol 1.0 dros dros wedi gorffen Awst 2015 a 2 dan hyfforddiant 

 Arbedion oddeutu £60mil gydag eflen wedi’i gynllunio ar gyfer costau hyfforddi 
 

2.2 Tîm Athrawon Arbenigol – 

 Ar gychwyn y flwyddyn ariannol roedd 6.9 athro parhaol a 3.2 o athrawon dros dro yn cael eu 
cyflogi 

 Yn Awst 2015 daeth cyflogaeth 1.2 o’r athrawon dros dro i ben 

 Yn Rhagfyr 2015 bydd cyflogaeth athrawes parhaol 0.9 yn dod i ben 

 Rhagwelir y sefyllfa yn Ionawr 2016 yn 6.0 athrawon parhaol a 2.0 dros dro 

 Cyflogwyd cymorthyddion i atgyfnerthu’r tîm athrawon – 1.6 parhaol a 0.6 dros dro 

 Yn Awst 2015 daeth cyflogaeth y cymorthyddion dros dro i ben 

 Gorwariant oddeutu £121mil 
 

2.3 Staff Gweinyddol – 

 5.9 o staff ar gychwyn y flwyddyn  

 0.5 swydd gwag am flwyddyn gyfan 

 Swydd yr Uwch Swyddog Gweinyddol wedi bod yn wag am bron i 4 mis 

 0.4 swydd gwag o Ionawr 2016 ymlaen 

 Arbedion oddeutu £25mil 
 
2.4 Gorwariant net ar gostau staff yn 2015/16 felly yn £36mil yn erbyn y gyllideb. 
 

3.0 Cyfwerth a £9mil o gostau hyfforddiant yn rhan o’r strategaeth i sicrhau cyflenwad o staff cymwysedig 
Cymraeg i’r dyfodol – yn cael ei gyllido o arbedion cyflogi seicolegwyr. 
 

4.0 Mae Swyddfeydd y Cyd-Bwyllgor bellach yn adeilad Penrallt yng Nghaernarfon.  Bron i £17mil o 
gynnydd yn y costau rhent yn bennaf oherwydd gofod mwy.  Mae angen darganfod arbedion parhaol i 

gyllido hyn.  Mae bron i £4mil o gostau ad-leoli unwaith ac am byth yn 2015/16 (carped a bleindiau). 
 
5.0 Mae’r Cyd-Bwyllgor wedi tynhau gwariant ar adnoddau yn ystod y flwyddyn, oherwydd gorwariant - 

arbediad net oddeutu £11mil mewn cyfanswm. 
 
6.0 Bellach nid yw’r targed incwm yn realistig, yn bennaf oherwydd y sefyllfa staffio a diffyg capasiti i 

gynnal unrhyw hyfforddiant fel sydd wedi digwydd yn y gorffennol. Diffyg denu incwm oddeutu £8mil eleni 
ac angen darganfod arbedion parhaol i lenwi’r bwlch. 
 

Tudalen 133

Eitem 6 ar y Rhaglen



 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                             

Uned Gyllid Datblygu 

Cyngor Gwynedd                                                                                                                                                          Ad20112015 Adolygiad 

 

7.0 Mae’r uchod yn arwain at gorwariant o £65mil yn 2015/16. 
 
8.0 Ar ddiwedd y flwyddyn ariannaol 2014/15 roedd balansau y Cyd-Bwyllgor AAA (Gwynedd ac Ynys Môn 

ar y cyd) yn £150mil. 
 

9.0 Bydd defnyddio £65mil o’r balansau i gysoni gorwariant 2015/16 yn gadael oddeutu £85mil o falansau 
ar 31 Mawrth 2016. 

 

10.0 Mae toriad 10% Ynys Môn wedi’i weithredu ac yn gadael bwlch o £55mil mewn termau real i’r Cyd-
Bwyllgor ddarganfod yn barhaol.  Mae angen adnabod cyfundrefn gwahaniaethol rhwng Gwynedd ac Ynys 
Môn i ddygymod â’r toriad. 

 

 

Argymhelliad 
1. Gofynnir i’r Cyd-Bwyllgor dderbyn yr adroddiad a chytuno i ddefnyddio o £65mil o 

balansau ar y cyd i gyllido’r gorwariant. 
 

2. Gofyn i swyddogion symud ar frys i adnabod y lleihad yn y gwasanaethau ddarperir ar 
gyfer Ynys Môn er mwyn darganfod arbedion cyfwerth â £55mil. 

 
3. Rhagweld beth fydd y sefyllfa gyllidol yn 2016/17 yn fuan a chymryd camau i ddatrus 

unrhyw broblem cyllidol. 
 

4. Gofyn i gynghorau Gwynedd ac Ynys Môn am arweiniad ar gyfer cyllideb 2016/17. 
 

Tudalen 134



   

CYD-BWYLLGOR ANGHENION ADDYSGOL ARBENNIG

ADOLYGIAD CYLLIDEB 2015/2016

Cyllideb 

2015/2016

amcan 

cynnydd / 

lleihad(-)

Adolygiad 

Cyfrifon 

2015/2016

sefydliad £ £ £

Gwariant staffio

  Gweithwyr Ebrill

       Cyflogau 2014

           -  Seicolegwyr (8.1) 536,310 -60,430 475,880

           -  Athrawon Arbenigol (7.6) 390,400 121,420 511,820

            - Gweinyddol (6.4) 193,380 -25,180 168,200

       Hyfforddiant 9,520 12,520 22,040

       Yswiriant Atebolrwydd 3,000 0 3,000

    Adeilad

       Trethi 4,940 270 5,210

       Rhent a Gwasanaethau 11,630 16,670 28,300

       Costau ad-leoli swyddfa 0 3,830 3,830

    Cludiant

      Costau Teithio 50,780 0 50,780

    Cyflenwadau a Gwasanaethau

       Adnoddau / Deunydd Swyddfa 17,480 -7,440 10,040

       Hysbysebu Cyfrifon Terfynol 0 1,080 1,080

       Ffi Archwilio 0 1,000 1,000
       Ffôn 8,960 -5,960 3,000

       Post 1,880 100 1,980

       Costau Canolog Ynys Môn 1,630 0 1,630

       Costau Canolog Gwynedd 4,960 0 4,960

       Arbedion i'w darganfod - Ynys Môn -55,210 55,210 0

    Cyfanswm Gwariant 1,179,660 113,090 1,292,750

Incwm

    Incwm Allanol 9,440 -8,240 1,200

    Llôg ar balansau 0 400 400

    Cyfraniad Cyngor Gwynedd 64.27% 752,046 0 752,046

    Cyfraniad Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn 35.73% 418,174 0 418,174

    Cyfanswm Incwm 1,179,660 -7,840 1,171,820

    Cyfanswm Gwariant Net 0 120,930 120,930

    Balansau ar y cyd Gwynedd ac 

Ynys Môn 31 Mawrth 2015
£150,530

cyllideb 2015/2016  20 Tachwedd 2015
Tudalen 135



This page is intentionally left blank


	Rhaglen
	2 Cofnodion Cyfarfod 26 Mehefin, 2015
	3 Yr Uned Ddarparu AAA
	4 Côd Drafft Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol
	Sylwadau ar y Côd ADY

	5 Cyllideb y Cyd-Bwyllgor AAA 2015/16
	Cyllideb 15.16
	Atodiad Cyllideb

	6 Adolygu Cyfrifon y Cyd-Bwyllgor  2015/16
	Adolygiad Cyfrifon 15.16
	Atodiad Adolygiad Cyfrifon


